
Council Meeting Agenda 
August 7, 2023 

6:00PM 

1. Call to Order ............................................................................................... Mayor Ed Hooks 

2. Invocation ........................................ Pastor Stu Johnston, Grace Reformed Baptist Church 

3. Public Comments ....................................................................................................... Mayor 

4. Consent Agenda ......................................................................................................... Mayor 

a. Approval of Minutes- July 10, 2023 Regular Meeting
b. Petition for Voluntary Contiguous Annexation- Hawfields Presbyterian Church, LLC
c. FY22-23 Asset Disposals January 1, 2023 to June 30, 2023

5. Public Hearings- 

a. Rezoning- Terry Hedgspeth-
600 E. Brown Street- R-12 to B-3 Neighborhood 
Business District (CD) ....................................... Ashley Ownbey, Development Director 

b. Ordinance to Extend the Corporate Limits-
Voluntary Contiguous Annexation-
Elizabeth S. Woody- Montclair Subdivision ..................... Lawson Brown, City Attorney 

c. Ordinance to Extend the Corporate Limits-
Voluntary Contiguous Annexation-
Keystone- Mebane Towne Center, Ph. A2, A3 and A4 .................................. Mr. Brown 

d. Rezoning- Mebane Housing LLC and Evolve Mebane Oaks LLC- 
Mebane Oaks Road, Broadwood Acres Road, and Longleaf Pine Place-
R-20 and B-2 to R-8 (CD) to allow for a Planned Unit Development
featuring 95 single-family residences and 294 mixed-use apartments
with +/- 13,000 square feet of commercial space ..................................... Ms. Ownbey 

e. Condemnation of 608 Giles Street ................................................................ Mr. Brown 
Cliff Ayscue, Chief Building Inspector 

6. Fund Balance Policy Revision ....................................... Daphna Schwartz, Finance Director 

7. Resolution- FY24 Rolling Stock Financing Approval ........................................ Ms. Schwartz 

8. Resolution Supporting an Application to the Local Government
Commission and Selection of a Lending Institution for Revenue
Bonds for the Elevated Water Storage Tank ................................................... Ms. Schwartz 

  Ted Cole, Senior VP Davenport & Company, LLC 
a. Adoption of Resolution
b. Approval of Financing

9. Annexation Agreement- 319 Tate Avenue ....................................................... Ms. Ownbey 

10. Resolution- New HOME Program Consortium ................................................. Ms. Ownbey 

11. Adjournment .............................................................................................................. Mayor 



 

City Council Meeting 
Mebane Municipal Building 

Monday, July 10, 2023 

The Mebane City Council met for its regular monthly meeting at 6:00 p.m., Monday, 
July 10, 2023 in the Council Chambers of the Glendel Stephenson Municipal Building located at 
106 E. Washington Street.  

Councilmembers Present: Also Present:  
Mayor Ed Hooks  Chris Rollins, City Manager 
Mayor Pro-Tem Tim Bradley Preston Mitchell, Assistant City Manager      
Councilmember Katie Burkholder Lawson Brown, City Attorney 
Councilmember Sean Ewing Stephanie Shaw, City Clerk 
Councilmember Montrena Hadley Ashley Ownbey, Development Director 
Councilmember Jonathan White                             Beatrice Hunter, HR Director and REAC Liaison 
                                                                                      Kyle Smith, Utilities Director 
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              

Mayor Hooks called the meeting to order and called for a moment of silence. 

Mayor Hooks began the Council’s formal recognition of retiring Police Chief Terrence Caldwell with 
the adoption of a Resolution Awarding his Badge and Service Sidearm. Mr. Bradley made a motion 
seconded by Mr. White, to adopt the resolution as presented. The motion carried unanimously. 
Mayor Hooks then read aloud a Resolution Honoring Police Chief Terrence Caldwell on the 
Occasion of His Retirement and presented the framed resolution to Chief Caldwell.  

RESOLUTION AWARDING BADGE AND SERVICE SIDEARM  
TO RETIRING POLICE CHIEF 

WHEREAS, Terrence E. Caldwell, Police Chief will retire from the City of Mebane Police Department on July 
14, 2023; and 

WHEREAS, in accordance with N. C. G. S. 20-187.2, Terrence E. Caldwell has requested his badge; and 

WHEREAS, in accordance with N. C. G. S. 20-187.2, Terrence E. Caldwell has requested his service sidearm, 
a Glock 19 9mm, Serial Number BLEW365. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Mebane that the service sidearm, is 
hereby declared surplus to the City and the City Manager or his designee is authorized to present said 
badge, and service sidearm to Terrence E. Caldwell. 

Adopted this the 10th day of July, 2023. 

ATTEST: ________________________                                                    __________________________ 
              Stephanie W. Shaw, City Clerk                                                 Ed Hooks, Mayor 

 
RESOLUTION HONORING POLICE CHIEF TERRENCE E. CALDWELL  

ON THE OCCASION OF HIS RETIREMENT 

WHEREAS, the City of Mebane is proud to recognize the life, legacy, and accolades of Terrence E. Caldwell, 
Chief of the Mebane Police Department, on the occasion of his retirement; and  

WHEREAS, Chief Terrence Caldwell’s background includes having served four years in the Army's Military 
Police Corps. During his enlistment, Chief Caldwell specialized in Special Weapons and Tactics (SWAT) 
operations. Additionally, Chief Caldwell completed the Army’s Non-Commission Officer’s Leadership 
Program at Fort Campbell, Kentucky. After active service, he served an additional two years in the Army 
Reserves; and  

WHEREAS, Chief Terrence Caldwell began his career with the Mebane Police Department in July of 1993 
moving up through the ranks of the police department and being sworn in as Police Chief in September of 
2006; and  

WHEREAS, Chief Terrence Caldwell, is a graduate of numerous leadership and management courses 
including the Law Enforcement Executive Program at North Carolina State University and earned his 
Associates Degree from Alamance Community College in Criminal Justice before going on to Western 



 

Carolina University to pursue his Bachelor’s Degree in the same field; and  

WHEREAS, Chief Terrence Caldwell has been a recipient of numerous recognitions, yet has always remained 
a humble public servant, who not only had the respect of the citizens, but the respect of the men and 
women who served under him and with him. 

WHEREAS, Chief Terrence Caldwell’s retirement from the Mebane Police Department will be effective July 
14, 2023; and  

WHEREAS, Police Chief Terrence Caldwell has served his community with pride, and upon the occasion of 
his retirement, is deserving of recognition and the highest commendation.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council of the City of Mebane, hereby honor and take 
pride in bringing special public attention to Police Chief Terrence Caldwell, for his 30 years of exemplary 
service. His service and dedication have positively impacted many lives throughout his career. We offer our 
best wishes for a long, happy, and healthy retirement. 

Adopted this 10th day of July in the year 2023. 
 

ATTEST: _________________________                                                     ______________________ 
              Stephanie W. Shaw, City Clerk        Ed Hooks, Mayor  
   

Mayor Hooks then introduced Mayor Pro-Tem Bradley and requested that he make an additional 
presentation. Mr. Bradley came forward to present Chief Caldwell with the prestigious Order of 
the Long Leaf Pine, the highest award for state service granted by the Office of the Governor. Chief 
Caldwell received a standing ovation.  

The Mayor, each Council Member, and Mr. Rollins all took a moment to share their sentiments 
with Chief Caldwell, expressing admiration, gratitude, and best wishes. Mayor Hooks presented 
Chief Caldwell with a final gift, a Mebane Logo brick sculpture; hand sculpted by NC artist Brad 
Spencer.  Chief Caldwell then took a few moments to speak about his 30-year law enforcement 
career, sharing that his desire and commitment to serve began when he was a young boy and 
remained strong throughout his career. He acknowledged his family, friends, Council, City 
Management, co-workers, and “Team Mebane” (Mebane Police Department), thanking them all 
for their support and the opportunity to serve and requested that “Team Mebane” continue the 
support and good work for the incoming Police Chief.  

Mayor Hooks recognized Eastern Alamance’s Women’s Soccer Team for winning the 2023 NCHSAA 
3A State Championship. He read aloud the following resolution honoring the team and coaches. 

2023 NCHSAA 3A Women’s Soccer State Champions 

WHEREAS, on June 3, 2023, the Eastern Alamance High School Lady Eagles soccer team won the NCHSAA 
3A Women’s Soccer Championship with a 4-0 victory over South Point; and 

WHEREAS, the championship victory completed a storybook 20-0-1 season for the Lady Eagles, which 
included 14 shutouts, conference and regional titles, and a 20-match winning streak; and 

WHEREAS, the members of this team exhibited exceptional dedication, soccer skills, athleticism, teamwork, 
and sportsmanship required to win a championship; and 

WHEREAS, Head Coach Bob Webber and his assistant coaches provided outstanding leadership for the Lady 
Eagles; and 

WHEREAS, the 2023 roster included the following players and coaches:        

 



 

WHEREAS, these young athletes and their coaches represented Eastern Alamance High School, Alamance 
County, and the City of Mebane with great character and class: and  
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT, RESOLVED, City of Mebane City Council hereby recognizes and commends the 
Eastern Alamance High School Lady Eagles Soccer Team for winning the 2023 NCHSAA 3A Women’s Soccer 
State Championship. 
 
Adopted this day 10th of July, 2023. 
                             _______________________________ 
        Ed Hooks, Mayor   
 
                                                 
Mayor Hooks read aloud a Resolution designating July 2023 as Recreation and Parks Month. 

 

Designation of July as Park and Recreation Month 

WHEREAS, Parks and Recreation is an integral part of communities throughout this country, including the 
City of Mebane; and  

WHEREAS, Parks and Recreation promotes health and wellness, improving the physical and mental health 
of people who live near parks; and  

WHEREAS, Parks and Recreation promotes time spent in nature, which positively impacts mental health by 
increasing cognitive performance and well-being, and alleviating illnesses such as depression, attention 
deficit disorders, and Alzheimers; and  

WHEREAS, Parks and Recreation encourages physical activities by providing space for popular sports, hiking 
trails, swimming pools and many other activities designed to promote active lifestyles; and  

WHEREAS, Parks and Recreation is a leading provider of healthy meals, nutrition services and education; 
and  

WHEREAS, Parks and Recreation programming and educational activities, such as out-of-school time 
programming, youth sports and environmental education, are critical to childhood development; and  

WHEREAS, Parks and Recreation increases a community’s economic prosperity through increased property 
values, expansion of the local tax base, increased tourism, the attraction and retention of businesses, and 
crime reduction; and  

WHEREAS, Parks and Recreation is fundamental to the environmental well-being of our community; and  

WHEREAS, Parks and Recreation is essential and adaptable infrastructure that makes our communities 
resilient in the face of natural disasters and climate change; and  

WHEREAS, our parks and natural recreation areas ensure the ecological beauty of our community and 
provide a place for children and adults to connect with nature and recreate outdoors; and  

WHEREAS, the U.S. House of Representatives has designated July as Parks and Recreation Month; and  

WHEREAS, the City of Mebane recognizes the benefits derived from Parks and Recreation resources.  

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY the Mebane City Council that July is recognized as Parks and 
Recreation Month in the City of Mebane. 

 
Signed, sealed and delivered this 10th day of July, 2023.                               __________________________ 
                                                                                                                                  Ed Hooks, Mayor 

 

During the Public Comment Period, Ed Priola, 747 S. Eighth Street, Mebane, shared his concerns 
with an item on the agenda in which the Council will be considering the Racial Equity Advisory 
Committee’s (REAC) proposal to have the City become a member of the Government Alliance on 
Race & Equity (GARE).  He questioned what metrics the Council will use to demonstrate and 



 

validate that paying the $1,000 annual GARE membership fees is an ethical use of Mebane 
taxpayers’ money. 

Peter Huff, 134 Edinborough Drive, Mebane, continued the Public Comment Period, stating that 
he agrees with the previous speaker and questioned why the City would fund the GARE 
organization and what impact would it have on the town. He said his concern is that we are 
steering away from determining a person’s value based on something other than the content of 
their character. 

Concluding the Public Comment Period, Brenda Pattison, 716 Buena Vista Road, Mebane. She 
stated that she also saw the item on the agenda for the REAC’s presentation and she wanted to 
speak out against using any public funds towards dividing people, whether by sex or color of skin.  
She stated that there are two amendments to the Constitution that addresses those issues.   

Barbara Hollerand, Downtown Mebane Development Corporation (DMDC) Executive Director, 
shared that the DMDC received its Mebane Main Street Designation letter, making Mebane the 
70th “Main Street” community in NC.  She expressed their excitement as the City has been 
working towards this designation for several years.  

Mayor Hooks read aloud the following Proclamation. 

MEBANE MAIN STREET DAY- July 31, 2023 

WHEREAS, Main Street America has been helping to revitalize older and historic commercial 
districts for more than 40 years; and  

WHEREAS, today, Main Street America is a network of more than 1,200 neighborhoods and 
communities who share both a commitment to place and to building stronger communities 
through preservation-based economic development; and  

WHEREAS, Main Street America is a mark of distinction, a seal recognizing that participating 
programs, organizations and communities are part of a national movement with a proven track 
record for celebrating community character, preserving local history and generating impressive 
economic returns; and  

WHEREAS, the City of Mebane, in embracing the Main Street model, applied for participation in 
the North Carolina Main Street program and was named a Downtown Associate Community in 
2019; and  

WHEREAS, the nonprofit Downtown Mebane Development Corporation was formed and then 
incorporated in 2022 as the managing body of the future Mebane Main Street program; and  

WHEREAS, the City has committed to provide funding and other program support for the 
Mebane Main Street program; and 

WHEREAS, the Downtown Mebane Development Corporation’s volunteer board of directors has 
adopted an annual budget and program of work and has satisfied all other requirements of the 
North Carolina Main Street program necessary for full program designation in July 2023;  

NOW THEREFORE, I, Ed Hooks, Mayor of the City of Mebane, North Carolina, do hereby proclaim 
July 31, 2023 as Mebane Main Street Day, and invite all citizens and supporters of Downtown 
Mebane to celebrate this milestone achievement at a community celebration on July 31 at 5:30 
p.m. in Downtown Mebane. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and caused the seal of the City of Mebane, 
North Carolina to be affixed this 10th day of July, 2023. 

Signed, Sealed and Delivered this day of 10th day of July, 2023.  
       
         ____________________________ 
          Ed Hooks, Mayor 
 



 

Ms. Hollerand then presented the DMDC’s quarterly report for April- June 2023.  

 

Mayor Hooks gave an overview of the Consent Agenda as follows: 

a. Approval of Minutes- June 5, 2023- Regular Meeting 
b. Petition for Voluntary Contiguous Annexation- Mebane Towne Center- Phases 

A2, A3 and A4 
c. Petition for Voluntary Contiguous Annexation- Elizabeth S. Woody- Montclair 
d. Final Plat Reapproval- Magnolia Glen Estates, Ph. 3 

 
Mr. Bradley made a motion, seconded by Mr. Ewing, to approve the Consent Agenda as presented.  
The motion carried unanimously.  

Item b. 

RESOLUTION FIXING DATE OF PUBLIC HEARING ON 
QUESTION OF ANNEXATION PURSUANT TO G.S. 160A-31 

 
     WHEREAS, a petition requesting annexation of the area described herein has been received; and 
 
     WHEREAS, certification by the City Clerk as to the sufficiency of the petition has been made; 
 
     NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Mebane, North Carolina that: 
 
     Section 1. A public hearing on the question of annexation of the area described herein will be held at 
the Glendel Stephenson Municipal Building at 6:00 p.m. on August 7, 2023. 
 
     Section 2. The area proposed for annexation is described as follows: 
 
Being a portion of Keystone Group Inc, described in Deed Book 3831, Page 473, and Deed Book 3831, Page 
476 of the Alamance County Registry (ACR), lying in the City of Mebane, Melville Township, Alamance 
County, North Carolina. 

BEGINNING at a point running with the right-of-way of Cameron Lane, the following 16 calls: 

Thence on a curve to the left having a radius of 20.00, a length of 31.99 feet and a chord of S13°08’04”E, 
28.69 feet to a point, thence on a curve to the left having a radius of 360.00, a length of 227.57 feet and a 
chord of S77°04’06”E, 223.80 feet to a point, thence N84°49’19”E, 104.01 feet to a point, thence on a curve 
to the left having a radius of 460.00, a length of 172.76 feet and a chord of N74°03’45”E, 171.75 feet to a 
point, thence on a curve to the left having a radius of 50.00, a length of 92.52 feet and a chord of 
N10°17’34”E, 79.87 feet to a point, thence N44°56’40”E, 45.04 feet to a point, thence S42°43’02”E, 16.52 
feet to a point, thence on a curve to the left having a radius of 50.00, a length of 33.67 feet and a chord of 
S62°00’24”E, 33.03 feet to a point, thence on a curve to the left having a radius of 50.00, a length of 48.76 
feet and a chord of N70°45’57”E, 46.85 feet to a point, thence on a curve to the left having a radius of 
460.00, a length of 60.85 feet and a chord of N39°02’17”E, 60.80 feet to a point, thence N35°14’55”E, 10.59 
feet to a point, thence on a curve to the right having a radius of 540.00, a length of 188.37 feet and a chord 
of N45°14’31”E, 187.42 feet to a point, thence on a curve to the right having a radius of 540.00, a length of 
172.17 feet and a chord of N64°22’09”E, 171.44 feet to a point, thence N73°30’11”E, 186.18 feet to an 
existing iron rod, thence N73°30’11”E, 236.14 feet to a point, thence S16°30’29”E, 4.24 feet to an existing 
iron rod also on the western line of Keystone at Mebane Oaks recorded in Book 3326, Page 670, 

Thence S27°38’18”W, 98.60 feet to an existing iron rod, thence S27°38’18”W, 151.34 feet to an existing 
iron rod, thence S24°38’18”W, 223.38 feet to an existing iron pipe, thence S19°25’08”W, 196.59 feet to a 
point, thence S29°41’37”E, 83.13 feet to a point, thence S28°44’35”E, 86.87 feet to a point, thence 
S60°18’23”W, 19.50 feet to a point, thence S29°41’37”E, 36.94 feet to an existing iron pipe, thence 
S29°41’37”E, 224.95 feet to an existing iron pipe, thence S71°54’52”W, 251.05 feet to a point, thence on a 
curve to the right having a radius of 3819.72, a length of 687.07 feet and a chord of S76°40’56”W, 686.17 
feet to a point, thence N48°08’45”W, 3.75 feet to a point, thence N46°31’46”W, 301.91 feet to a point, 
thence N46°32’51”W, 444.56 feet to a point, thence N32°41’24”E, 194.85 feet to a point, thence 
N32°41’24”E, 115.04 feet to a point and the place of BEGINNING and being approximately 22.340 +/- acres 
according to a survey prepared by Jeffery Caison, PLS. 



 

 
      Section 3. Notice of the public hearing shall be published once in the Mebane Enterprise, a newspaper 
having general circulation in the City of Mebane, at least ten (10) days prior to the date of the public 
hearing. 
 
    
  Ed Hooks, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
  
Stephanie W. Shaw, City Clerk 
 
Item c. 

RESOLUTION FIXING DATE OF PUBLIC HEARING ON 
QUESTION OF ANNEXATION PURSUANT TO G.S. 160A-31 

 
     WHEREAS, a petition requesting annexation of the area described herein has been received; and 
 
     WHEREAS, certification by the City Clerk as to the sufficiency of the petition has been made; 
 
     NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Mebane, North Carolina that: 
 
     Section 1. A public hearing on the question of annexation of the area described herein will be held at 
the Glendel Stephenson Municipal Building at 6:00 p.m. on August 7, 2023. 
 
     Section 2. The area proposed for annexation is described as follows: 
 
COMMENCING AT A NORTH CAROLINA GRID CONTINUOUSLY OPERATING REFERENCE STATION (CORS) 
NAMED “NCBU”; THENCE, S88°34'58”E, 52,793.66 FEET TO A ¾” IRON STAKE found AT THE INTERSECTION 
THE WESTERN MARGIN OF THE SOUTH ELEVENTH STREET RIGHT-OF-WAY AND THE NORTHEASTERN 
MARGIN OF THE OAKWOOD STREET RIGHT-OF-WAY, BEING ALSO THE WESTERN MARGIN OF THE CITY OF 
MEBANE CORPORATE LIMITS AND THE EASTERN MARGIN OF THE PROPOSED ANNEXATION TRACT, BEING 
ALSO THE SOUTHERN CORNER OF THE ELIZABETH S. WOODY TRACT, WITH A PIN OF 9825.31.5555 AND A 
nc GRID COORDINATE OF NORTHING 851204.16 AND EASTING 1923744.26, being also the PLACE AND 
POINT OF BEGINNING: 
 
THENCE, ALONG SAID WESTERN MARGIN OF THE CITY OF MEBANE CORPORATE LIMITS, S01°28'16”E, 
115.65 FEET TO THE SOUTHWESTERLY MARGIN OF SAID OAKWOOD STREET RIGHT-OF-WAY; THENCE, 
ALONG SAID SOUTHWESTERLY MARGIN OF OAKWOOD STREET AND THE SOUTHWESTERLY LINE OF SAID 
PROPOSED ANNEXATION TRACT, N32°41'27”W, 254.74 FEET TO A POINT IN THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID CITY 
OF MEBANE CORPORATE LIMITS; THENCE, N89°26'15”E, 132.06 FEET TO A POINT IN SAID WESTERN 
MARGIN OF THE CITY OF MEBANE CORPORATE LIMITS; THENCE, S01°28'16”E, 100.10 FEET TO THE PLACE 
AND POINT OF BEGINNING, CONTAINING 0.3270 ACRES, MORE OR LESS. 
 
      Section 3. Notice of the public hearing shall be published once in the Mebane Enterprise, a newspaper 
having general circulation in the City of Mebane, at least ten (10) days prior to the date of the public 
hearing. 
    
  Ed Hooks, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
  
Stephanie W. Shaw, City Clerk 
 
A public hearing was held on a request from GD Adams, LLC for approval to rezone the +/- 12,632 
square foot unaddressed parcel located on St. Lukes Church Road from R-12 and HM to R-12 to eliminate 
the split zoning of the property. Ms. Ownbey gave an overview of the request.  She stated that the property 
is currently vacant and in Mebane’s extraterritorial jurisdiction (ETJ) in Alamance County. City utilities are 
not located on St. Lukes Church Road so any development of the property would be served by Orange-
Alamance Water and a septic system. She shared that there was a formal home on the property but has 
been recently demolished. The surrounding zoning in the area includes R-12, Residential District and HM, 
Heavy Manufacturing District. Surrounding land uses include single-family residential, vacant land, and a 
church. The subject property is located in the Secondary Growth Area. The proposed rezoning is consistent 
with the guidance provided within Mebane By Design, the City’s Comprehensive Land Development Plan. 



 

The proposed rezoning will be a continuance of the R-12 zoning and residential uses of surrounding 
properties. 

Jerry Adams, the applicant, stated that when he purchased the property, he did not know that it 
was split-zoned. He said everything around the property is residential.  He shared a few details 
regarding the house he plans to build.  He concluded his comments by sharing that from what he 
has witnessed in this meeting, the Council should be proud of the work they done to make Mebane 
what it is. 

No one from the public spoke concerning the matter.  

Mr. Bradley made a motion, seconded by Mr. White, to close the public hearing. The motion 
carried unanimously.  Mr. White made a motion, seconded by Mr. Bradley, to approve the R-12 
zoning as presented and a motion to find that the application is consistent with the objectives and 
goals in the City’s 2017 Comprehensive Land Development Plan Mebane By Design. Specifically, 
the request Is for a property within the City’s G-4 Secondary Growth Area and is generally 
residential in nature.  The motion carried unanimously. 

Dr. Allison De Marco, PhD, School of Social Work, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill gave 
a PowerPoint presentation about the Government Alliance on Race & Equity (GARE) organization 
and the value of membership.  She shared that the REAC requested her to share information with 
Council about the GARE organization. 

After several questions from the Council and after considerable discussion, Mr. Bradley made a 
motion, seconded by Mr. Ewing, that more information and clarification would be needed before 
Council can take action on whether to join or not join into a membership with GARE.  The motion 
passed with a 4-1 vote. Ayes- Mr. Bradley, Mr. White. Mr. Ewing and Ms. Burkholder. Nays- Ms. 
Hadley. 

Mr. Rollins presented a request for the adoption of Resolution establishing a General Fund Capital 
Reserve Fund. He explained that the budget ordinance adopted by the City Council on June 5, 
2023, includes a transfer equal to two cents of property tax revenue to a capital reserve fund. 
Approval from the Council is required to establish the reserve fund for specific General Fund 
projects.  North Carolina General Statutes 159 -18 and 159-19 give the City Council the authority 
to establish and maintain a capital reserve fund for any purpose for which it may issue bonds. The 
City Council maintains control over the capital reserve fund by establishing it, defining its purpose, 
and authorizing the use of money accumulated through a resolution or ordinance. The resolution 
will establish the fund and its purpose. 

CAPITAL RESERVE FUND RESOLUTION 

WHEREAS, there is a need in the City of Mebane to provide funds for Fire Station Four, a Police 
Facility, and a recreation project(s); and 

WHEREAS, the City of Mebane shall bear the cost of constructing Fire Station Four, a Police Facility, 
and a recreation project(s) at an estimated cost of thirty-five million dollars ($35,000,000). 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MEBANE THAT: 

Section 1. The City Council hereby creates a Capital Reserve Fund for the purpose of funding the 
following capital projects related to the City’s General Fund: 

Fire Station Four – estimated cost of five million dollars ($5,000,000) 

Police Facility – estimated cost of fifteen million dollars ($15,000,000) 

Recreation project(s) – estimated cost of fifteen million dollars ($15,000,000) 

Section 2. This Fund shall remain operational during the life of these projects. 

Section 3. The City Council shall appropriate or transfer an amount of two cents of actual property 
tax collections each fiscal year to this Fund. The budget for FY23-24 is $840,317. 



 

Section 4. This Resolution shall become effective and binding upon its adoption. 

Adopted this 10th day of July 2023. 

Mr. Bradley made a motion, seconded by Ms. Burkholder, to adopt the Resolution as presented. 
The motion carried unanimously. 

Mr. Smith presented an item regarding the AIA Grant for the Study of Existing Water Infrastructure 
as related to the January 2021 Lead and Copper Rule Revision (LCRR). He stated that staff is 
requesting approval of the American Rescue Plan Fund Acceptance Resolution and the Budget 
Ordinance Amendment, along with awarding Alley Williams Carmen & King, Inc. the engineering 
services for Asset Inventory and Assessment in the amount of $300,000. He explained that as part 
of the revised Lead and Copper rules, the City is required to provide the State an inventory by 
January of 2024. In August of 2022, the City received a letter of intent to fund an Asset Inventory 
and Assessment Grant in the amount of $300,000 through the American Rescue Plan. On 
November 28, 2022, the City put out a Request for Qualifications for qualified firms to submit a 
statement of qualifications to provide engineering and surveying services for the below objectives: 

• Grant/Loan Administration  
• GPS or Survey Mapping of Water Infrastructure  
• Review of As-Builts confirming material type and age  
• System Evaluations  
• Lead and Copper Rule Revision Evaluation and Inventory Preparation  

 
Alley Williams Carmen & King, Inc. was the only firm that submitted their statement of 
qualifications by the December 21, 2022, due date. On June 21, 2023 the City received the official 
Offer & Acceptance for American Rescue Plan Funding. 

Mr. Bradley made a motion, seconded by Mr. White to approve the American Rescue Plan Fund 
Acceptance Resolution. The motion carried unanimously.  

Mr. White made a motion, seconded by Mr. Bradley to approve the related Budget Ordinance 
Amendment. The motion carried unanimously.  

Ms. Burkholder made a motion, seconded by Ms. Hadley, to award Alley Williams Carmen & King, 
Inc. the engineering services for Asset Inventory and Assessment in the amount of $300,000. The 
motion carried unanimously.  

AMERICAN RESCUE PLAN  
FUND ACCEPTANCE 

RESOLUTION 
 

WHEREAS, the American Rescue Plan (ARP) funded from the State Fiscal Recovery Fund 
was established in S.L. 2021-180 to assist eligible units of government with meeting 
their water/wastewater infrastructure needs; and 

 
WHEREAS, the North Carolina Department of Environmental Quality has offered 
American Rescue Plan (ARP) funding in the amount of $300,000.00 to perform an Asset 
Inventory and Assessment study detailed in the submitted application; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Mebane intends to perform said project in accordance with the 
agreed scope of work. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MEBANE: 

 
That the City of Mebane does hereby accept the American Rescue Plan (ARP) offer of 
$300,000.00. 
 
That the City of Mebane does hereby give assurance to the North Carolina Department 
of Environmental Quality that any Conditions or Assurances contained in the Award 



 

Offer will be adhered to. 
 
That the City of Mebane, and successors so titled, is hereby authorized and directed to 
furnish such information as the appropriate State agency may request in connection 
with such application or the project; to make the assurances as contained above; and 
to execute such other documents as may be required by the Division of Water 
Infrastructure. 
 
Adopted this 10th day of July 2023. 

Mayor Hooks called forward a woman that wished to speak earlier in the meeting.   

Carolyn Burns, 600 Bunker Drive, Mebane, shared comments regarding her views on the 
previously discussed GARE organization.  She encouraged Council to slow down, stating that 
Mebane can be a leader in equality for all but it requires much more forethought and ingenuity.  

Mayor Hooks commended Public Works Director Chuck Smith and his employees for the great 
work they did on refurbishing some of the City’s old Christmas star decorations and turning them 
into patriotic stars.  

Mayor Hooks concluded the meeting with reading aloud announcements for upcoming City 
events.  

Mr. Bradley commended the Recreation and Parks Department for the great job they did on the 
City’s July 4th Celebration. He also thanked Public Works, Police and Fire. 

There being no further business, the meeting adjourned at 7:57 p.m. 

ATTEST:       __________________________ 
________________________ ___    Ed Hooks, Mayor 
Stephanie W. Shaw, City Clerk 



 

AGENDA ITEM #4B 
Petition for Voluntary Contiguous 
Annexation- Hawfields Presbyterian 
Church, Inc.  

Meeting Date 
August 7, 2023 

Presenter  
Lawson Brown, City Attorney 

Public Hearing 
Yes  No  

Summary 
Staff received a petition requesting voluntary contiguous annexation from Hawfields Presbyterian Church, 
Inc. 

Background 
The applicant is requesting that the described property be annexed into Mebane’s Corporate Limits. This 
is a contiguous annexation containing approximately +/- 22.04 acres located in Alamance County.  

Financial Impact 
N/A. 

Recommendation 
Staff recommends the Council’s acceptance of the petition, the Clerk’s Certificate of Sufficiency, and to 
adopt a Resolution setting a date of public hearing for September 11, 2023. 

Suggested Motion 
I make a motion to accept the petition, the Clerk’s Certificate of Sufficiency, and to adopt a Resolution 
setting a date of public hearing for September 11, 2023. 

Attachments 
1. Petition 
2. Clerk’s Certificate of Sufficiency 
3. Map 
4. Resolution  

 
 

 

 

 

 









RESOLUTION FIXING DATE OF PUBLIC HEARING ON 
QUESTION OF ANNEXATION PURSUANT TO G.S. 160A-31 

 
     WHEREAS, a petition requesting annexation of the area described herein has been 
received; and 
 
     WHEREAS, certification by the City Clerk as to the sufficiency of the petition has been 
made; 
 
     NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Mebane, North 
Carolina that: 
 
     Section 1. A public hearing on the question of annexation of the area described herein 
will be held at the Glendel Stephenson Municipal Building at 6:00 p.m. on September 11, 
2023. 
 
     Section 2. The area proposed for annexation is described as follows: 
 
BEGINNING AT A 1"EIP (EXISTING IRON PIPE)ON THE SOUTHWEST SIDE OF 
TROLINGWOOD-HAWFIELDS ROAD, THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF THE SARAH S. BRADLEY 
PROPERTY; THENCE WITH SAID SARAH S, BRADLEY S55°38'31"W A DISTANCE OF 640.16'TO 
A 1"EIP; THENCE S44°03'48"W A DISTANCE OF 256.96'TO A POINT 1"EIP; THENCE 
S40°48'42"W A DISTANCE OF 499.13'TO A POINT IN THE LINE OF HAWFIELDS 
PRESBYTERIAN CHURCH, INC.; THENCE WITH SAID HAWFIELDS PRESBYTERIAN CHURCH, 
INC. S77°50'12"E A DISTANCE OF 346.72'TO A POINT; THENCE S35°54'58"E A DISTANCE OF 
488.40'TO A POINT; THENCE N58°25'02"E A DISTANCE OF 300.30'TO A POINT; THENCE 
N32°42'58"W A DISTANCE OF 152.80'TO A POINT; THENCE N58°17'40"E A DISTANCE OF 
793.98'TO A POINT IN THE R/W OF SAID TROLLINGWOOD-HAWFIELDS ROAD; THENCE 
WITH SAID R/W N31°44'19"W A DISTANCE OF 83.47'TO A NCDOT R/W DISK; THENCE 
N29°31'37"W A DISTANCE OF 246.45'TO A POINT; THENCE N61°41'15"E A DISTANCE OF 
11.00'TO A POINT; THENCE N31°03'36"W A DISTANCE OF 328.06'TO A POINT; THENCE 
N44°34'58"W A DISTANCE OF 165.00'TO A POINT; WHICH IS THE POINT OF BEGINNING, 
HAVING AN AREA OF 22.04 ACRES, 0.034 SQ. MILES AND BEING ALL OF ALAMANCE 
COUNTY PARCEL ID:160518, PROPERTY OF HAWFIELDS PRESBYTERIAN CHURCH, INC. ALSO 
BEING TOTAL ANNEXATION AREA AS SHOWN ON PLAT OF SURVEY ENTITLED "FINAL PLAT: 
CITY OF MEBANE CORPORATE LIMITS EXTENSION CONTIGUOUS VOLUNTARY 
ANNEXATION" PREPARED BY R.S. JONES & ASSOCIATES, INC. DATED JULY 20, 2023 
 
      Section 3. Notice of the public hearing shall be published once in the Mebane 
Enterprise, a newspaper having general circulation in the City of Mebane, at least ten (10) 
days prior to the date of the public hearing. 
 
    
  Ed Hooks, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
  
Stephanie W. Shaw, City Clerk 



 

AGENDA ITEM #4C 
FY22-23  Asset Disposals 
January 1, 2023 to June 30, 2023 

Meeting Date 
August 7, 2023 

Presenter  
Daphna Schwartz, Finance Director 

Public Hearing 
Yes  No  

Summary 
Per the City Code, the City Council shall receive a bi-annual list of disposed assets for informational 
purposes.  

Background 
Per the City Code (Sec. 2-181 – 2-184) and in compliance with North Carolina General Statute 160A-266(c), 
the City Manager is authorized to dispose of any surplus personal property owned by the city whenever he 
determines, in his discretion, that has a fair market value of less than $30,000, is no longer necessary for 
the conduct of public business, and sound property management principles and financial considerations 
indicate that the interests of the city would best be served by disposing of the property. 

Financial Impact 
All of the disposed assets are fully depreciated. The sale proceeds for all assets were $26,252.67. 

Recommendation 
Accept the asset disposal report. 

Suggested Motion 
Motion to accept the asset disposal report as presented. 

Attachments 
1. Disposed Asset Listing Report for 1/1/23 to 6/30/23 

 



Page 1 of 17/21/2023 12:29:22 PM

Disposed Asset Listing Report
Mebane, NC By Asset ID

Disposed Date:  1/1/2023-6/30/2023

Disposed Assets: 6

Asset ID Description

Primary Location CategoryClass Disposed Date Disposed Amount Disposed Proceeds

Department: 5500 - PUBLIC WORKS

ETNYRE MODEL NS/H STREET FLUS…559 PW HEAVY VEHICLE 06/22/2023 15,751.000.00

Department: 5800 - SANITATION

1993 FORD F800 SAN-42566 GAR PICK-UP VEHICLE 06/22/2023 4,150.000.00

Department: 6200 - PARKS/RECREATION

KUBOTA MOWER B2710HSD W/ DE…125 MACC MOWER EQUIP 06/22/2023 2,001.670.00

Department: 8200 - UTILITY MAINTENANCE

1997 FORD F250 TRUCK ST-3068 PW PICK-UP VEHICLE 06/22/2023 3,250.000.00

PORTABLE ECCO GENERATOR310 PW SEWER SMALL EQUIP 06/22/2023 525.000.00

1997 FORD F-150 SAN-28565 GAR WATER PICK-UP VEHICLE 06/22/2023 575.000.00



 P a g e  | 1 

AGENDA ITEM #5A 
RZ 23-04 
600 E Brown St – Conditional 
Rezoning 

Presenter 
Ashley Ownbey, Development Director 

Applicant 
Terry Hedgspeth 
609 Terry Rd. 
Hillsborough, NC 27278 

Public Hearing 
Yes  No  

 

 

 

 

Zoning Map 

 

Property 
600 E Brown St 

Orange County  

GPIN: 9825342675 

Proposed Zoning 
B-3 (CD) 

Current Zoning 
R-12  

Size 
 +/- 15,246 sq. ft. 

Surrounding Zoning 
R-12 and R-20 

Surrounding Land 
Uses 
Residential, Church 

Utilities 
Available 

Floodplain 
No 

Watershed 
Yes 

City Limits 
Yes 



A g e n d a  I t e m  c o n t i n u e d   P a g e  | 2 

Application Brief 
See Planning Project Report for more details. 

Recommendations 

Technical Review Committee: 
The Technical Review Committee (TRC) has reviewed the request one 
time and the applicant has addressed comments.  

Planning Staff: 
The proposed rezoning is consistent with the guidance provided within 
Mebane By Design, the Mebane Comprehensive Land Development 
Plan.  

Planning Board: 
At their July 17 meeting, the Planning Board voted 6-1 to recommend 
approval of the rezoning request. 

Zoning & Land Use Report 

Jurisdiction: Mebane City Limits 

Proposed Use By-Right (Yes/No): No 

Type of Rezoning Request: Conditional 

Special Use Request (Yes/No): No 

Consistency with Mebane By Design (Yes/No):  Yes 

Utilities Report 

Available Utilities (Yes/No): Yes 

Adequate Stormwater Control (Yes/No): N/A 

Innovative Stormwater Control (Yes/No): N/A 

Consistency with Long-Range Utility Plan (Yes/No): Yes 

Transportation Report 

Traffic Impact Analysis Required (Yes/No): No 

Multi-Modal Improvements (Yes/No): No 

Consistency with Bike/Ped Transportation Plan (Yes/No):  Yes 

 

 

 



A g e n d a  I t e m  c o n t i n u e d   P a g e  | 3 

 

Summary 
Terry Hedgspeth is requesting to conditionally rezone the +/- 15,246 square foot parcel located at 600 E. 
Brown Street (Orange County GPIN 9825342675), from R-12 to B-3 (CD) to operate a retail business in the 
existing structure. The property is located within the Mebane City Limits in Orange County. The current 
structure has a storefront and has historically existed as a neighborhood retail use. The surrounding zoning 
in the area includes R-12, Residential District and R-20, Residential District. Surrounding land uses include 
single-family residential and a church. The applicant is proposing the following conditions to maintain 
harmony with the residential nature of the neighborhood: 

• The survey of existing conditions is to serve as a site-specific plan. Construction of additional 
structures or expansion of existing structures is not allowed without amendment to the conditions 
of the zoning district. 

• Provision of three striped parking stalls, with one stall dedicated as an ADA space. The Mebane 
Unified Development Ordinance requires a minimum of five parking stalls and one bicycle rack for 
any nonresidential use. 

• Any expansion of the existing driveway and/or parking area requires review by the Mebane 
Technical Review Committee (TRC). The property is in the General Watershed Area Overlay District 
and built-upon area restrictions apply.  

• The removal of any existing landscaping requires review by City staff. 
• The following uses will not be allowed in the zoning district: 

o Billiard Parlor, Pool Hall 
o Civic, Social and Fraternal Clubs and Lodges 
o Indoor Recreation 
o Country Club with Golf Course 
o School for the Arts 
o Fortune Tellers, Astrologers 
o Golf Course, Miniature 
o Health Club or Gym 
o Private Club or Recreational Facility, Outdoor 
o Public Park 
o Sports and Recreation Club, Indoor 
o Swim and Tennis Club 
o Advertising, Outdoor Services 
o Laundromat, Coin-Operated 
o Laundry or Dry Cleaning, Retail Facility 
o Bar, Night Club, Tavern, Brewpub 
o Restaurant (drive-in or take out window only) 
o Restaurant (with drive-through) 

The Technical Review Committee (TRC) has reviewed the request one time and the applicant has addressed 
comments. 



A g e n d a  I t e m  c o n t i n u e d   P a g e  | 4 

Financial Impact 
The applicant will be required to make any improvements at their own expense. 

Suggested Motion 
1. Motion to approve the B-3 (CD) zoning as presented.  
 
2. Motion to find that the application is consistent with the objectives and goals in the City’s 2017 

Comprehensive Land Development Plan Mebane By Design. Specifically, the request: 
 Is for a property within the City’s G-4 Secondary Growth Area, which is generally residential 

and commercial in nature (Mebane CLP, p. 66). 
 

OR 
 
3. Motion to deny the B-3 (CD) rezoning as presented due to a lack of 

 
a. Harmony with the surrounding zoning or land use 

OR 
b. Consistency with the objectives and goals in the City’s 2017 Comprehensive Land Development 

Plan Mebane By Design. 

Attachments 
1. Preliminary Presentation Slides 
2. Zoning Amendment Application 
3. Zoning Map 
4. Site Plan 
5. Planning Project Report 



Rezoning Request: R-12 to B-3 (CD)
by Terry Hedgspeth



600 E. Brown St.
Conditional Rezoning Request



600 E. Brown St.
Conditional Rezoning Request



600 E. Brown St.
Conditional Rezoning



600 E. Brown St.
Conditional Rezoning Request



600 E. Brown St.
Conditional Zoning Request







Orange County

July 12, 2023

0 0.02 0.040.01 mi

0 0.03 0.060.015 km

1:1,200

 
 

9825342675PIN:
HEDGSPETH TERRY MONIQUEOWNER 1:
 

290 THOMPSON HEIGHTS P4/56 & P126/113LEGAL DESC:

6799/762DEED REF:
 

BLDG_VALUE:
$17,500LAND VALUE:

$0USE VALUE:
$21,000TOTAL VALUE:

0.35 ASIZE: BUILDING COUNT:

$3,500
OWNER 2:

ADDRESS 1:
ADDRESS 2:

609 TERRY RD
 

CITY: HILLSBOROUGH
STATE, ZIP: NC 27278

RATECODE: 24

DATE SOLD: 10/27/2022
BLDG SQFT:  
YEAR BUILT:  TAX STAMPS: 60

TOWNSHIP CHEEKS

This map contains parcels prepared for the inventory of real property within Orange County, and is compiled from recorded deed, plats, and other public records and data. 
 Users of this map are hereby notified that the aforementioned public primary information sources should be consulted for verification of the information contained on this map.  

The county and its mapping companies assume no legal responsibility for the information on this map.







L A N D   S U R V E Y
RELIANT
P.L.L.C.  P-1735

HEDGSPETH BOUNDARY
SURVEYDONALD B ABELE                       LICENSED SURVEYOR

1320 HAWTHORNE LANE                   BURLINGTON, NC 27215
336-447-8399

1

1

4' Chainlink Fence

House

Shed

ConcreteDriveway(broken)

A
LA

M
A

N
CE

   
CO

U
N

TY

O
R

A
N

G
E 

  C
O

U
N

TY

0.35 Acres

VICINITY MAP



 

PAGE 1 

PLANNING PROJECT REPORT 
DATE 07/11/2023 
PROJECT NUMBER RZ 23-04 
PROJECT NAME 600 East Brown Street – Conditional Rezoning 

APPLICANT 
Terry Hedgspeth 
609 Terry Road 
Hillsborough, NC 27278 

 

CONTENTS 
PROJECT NAME & APPLICANT ........................................................................................... PAGE 1 
ZONING REPORT ............................................................................................................... PAGE 2 
LAND USE REPORT ............................................................................................................ PAGE 4 
UTILITIES REPORT .............................................................................................................. PAGE 6 
STAFF ZONING REQUEST RECOMMENDATION .................................................................. PAGE 6 



 

PAGE 2 

ZONING REPORT 
EXISTING ZONE R-12, Residential 
REQUESTED ACTION B-3 (CD) – Neighborhood Business, Conditional Zoning District 
CONDITIONAL ZONE? YES   NO 
CURRENT LAND USE Vacant Storefront 
PARCEL SIZE  +/- 15,246 square feet 

PROPERTY OWNERS 

Terry Hedgspeth 
609 Terry Road 
Hillsborough, NC 27278 
GPIN: 9825342675 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
Request to rezone a +/- 15,246 square foot parcel located at 600 E. Brown Street 
(GPIN 9825342675), from R-12 to B-3 (CD) by Terry Hedgspeth. 

AREA ZONING & DISTRICTS Surrounding properties are zoned R-12, Residential District.  
SITE HISTORY Historically, the structure was used as a bait and tackle store.  

STAFF ANALYSIS 
CITY LIMITS? YES   NO  
PROPOSED USE BY-RIGHT? YES   NO  
SPECIAL USE? YES   NO 
EXISTING UTILITIES? YES   NO 

POTENTIAL IMPACT OF 
PROPOSED ZONE 

The structure on the property currently has a storefront and was historically used for 
a small retail business.  The proposed use of the property is consistent with the 
historic use of the property. The conditions of the zoning district will limit the impact 
of a neighborhood business on surrounding residential uses. 



 

PAGE 3 

 



 

PAGE 4 

 
LAND USE REPORT 

EXISTING LAND USE Vacant Storefront 

PROPOSED LAND USE & 
REQUESTED ACTION 

The property owner is requesting to conditionally rezone the +/- 15,246 
square foot parcel located at 600 E. Brown Street (Orange County GPIN 
9825342675), from R-12 to B-3 (CD) to operate a small retail business in the 
existing structure.  

PROPOSED ZONING B-3 (CD) Neighborhood Business, Conditional Zoning 
PARCEL SIZE +/- 15,246 square feet 
AREA LAND USE The surrounding uses are primarily single-family residential. 
ONSITE AMENITIES & DEDICATIONS No improvements are proposed. 
CONDITIONAL ZONE? YES NO 

DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSED 
CONDITIONS 
 

1) No new structures or expansions to existing structures is allowed. 
2) The applicant will provide three striped parking stalls, with one stall 

dedicated to ADA parking.  
3) Any expansion of the existing driveway and/or parking area requires 

review by the Mebane Technical Review Committee (TRC). As the 
property is in a protected watershed, built-upon area restrictions apply. 

4) The removal of any existing landscaping requires review by City staff. 
5) As described in the rezoning application, certain uses would be 

prohibited in the zoning district. 

  

CONSISTENCY WITH MEBANE BY DESIGN STRATEGY 
LAND USE GROWTH STRATEGY 
DESIGNATION(S) 

G-4 Secondary 
 

OTHER LAND USE CONSIDERATIONS  

MEBANE BY DESIGN GOALS & 
OBJECTIVES SUPPORTED 

  

MEBANE BY DESIGN GOALS & 
OBJECTIVES NOT SUPPORTED 

 



 

PAGE 5 

 
 



 

PAGE 6 

UTILITIES REPORT 
AVAILABLE UTILITIES YES   NO 
PROPOSED UTILITY NEEDS The structure is already connected to City water and sewer.  
UTILITIES PROVIDED BY APPLICANT N/A  
MUNICIPAL CAPACITY TO ABSORB 
PROJECT  

The City has adequate water & sewer supply to meet the 
domestic and fire flow demands of the project.  

CONSISTENCY WITH MEBANE LONG 
RANGE UTILITY PLAN? 

YES   NO 

ADEQUATE STORMWATER 
CONTROL? 

YES   NO   N/A 

INNOVATIVE STORMWATER 
MANAGEMENT? 

YES   NO   N/A 

TRANSPORTATION NETWORK STATUS 

CURRENT CONDITIONS 

The site includes an existing driveway connection on E. Brown 
Street (SR 1306), which is a two-lane, local road maintained by 
the NCDOT. In 2021, the NCDOT reported an annual average 
daily traffic count of 1,500 vehicles on the section of E. Brown 
Street between Ninth Street and Supper Club Road. 

TRAFFIC IMPACT ANALYSIS 
REQUIRED? 

YES   NO 

DESCRIPTION OF RECOMMENDED 
IMPROVEMENTS 

N/A 

CONSISTENCY WITH THE MEBANE 
BICYCLE AND PEDESTRIAN 
TRANSPORTATION PLAN? 

 
YES   NO  

MULTIMODAL IMPROVEMENTS 
PROVIDED BY APPLICANT? 

YES   NO 

DESCRIPTION OF MULTIMODAL 
IMPROVEMENTS 

N/A 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION  
 APPROVE    DISAPPROVE 

STAFF SPECIAL USE FINDING 
 CONSISTENT    NOT CONSISTENT………………..WITH MEBANE BY 
DESIGN 

RATIONALE 

The proposed development at 600 E. Brown Street is consistent 
with the guidance provided within Mebane By Design, the Mebane 
Comprehensive Land Development Plan. The rezoning will be more 
appropriate for a property historically used for nonresidential 
purposes and is proposed with conditions to limit the impacts to 
residential neighbors.  

 



AGENDA ITEM #5B 
Ordinance to Extend the Corporate Limits-  
Voluntary Contiguous Annexation-  
Elizabeth S. Woody- Montclair 

Meeting Date 
August 7, 2023 

Presenter  
Lawson Brown, City Attorney 

Public Hearing 
Yes   No  

Summary 
The Council will consider the approval of an Ordinance to Extend the Corporate Limits as the next step in 
the annexation process. This is a contiguous annexation of +/- .327 acres located in Orange County on the 
corner of Oakwood Street and S. Eleventh Street.  

Background 
At the July 10, 2023, Council Meeting, Council accepted the petition for annexation and the Clerk’s 
certificate of sufficiency and adopted a Resolution setting a date of Public Hearing for August 7, 2023, to 
consider approval of extending Mebane’s corporate limits. The Public Hearing Notice was properly 
advertised.  

Financial Impact 
The property and improvements will be added to the ad valorem tax base for the City once the property is 
annexed as determined by the state statute. 

Recommendation 
Staff recommends the adoption of an Ordinance to Extend the Corporate Limits of the City of Mebane, 
North Carolina. 

Suggested Motion 
I make a motion to adopt an Ordinance to Extend the Corporate Limits of the City of Mebane, North 
Carolina to include the +/- .327 acres. 

Attachments 
1. Ordinance 
2. Map 

 

 

 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

AN ORDINANCE TO EXTEND THE CORPORATE LIMITS 
 OF THE CITY OF MEBANE, NORTH CAROLINA 

 
Mail after recording to: City of Mebane, Attn: City Clerk, 106 E. Washington Street, Mebane, NC 27302 

 
Ordinance No. 162 

 
     WHEREAS, the City Council has been petitioned under G.S. 160A-31 to annex the area 
described below; and 
 
     WHEREAS, the City Council has by resolution directed the City Clerk to investigate the 
sufficiency of the petition; and 
 
     WHEREAS, the City Clerk has certified the sufficiency of the petition and a public hearing 
on the question of this annexation was held at the Glendel Stephenson Municipal Building 
at 6:00 p.m. on August 7, 2023, after due notice by the Mebane Enterprise on July 26, 
2023; and 
 
     WHEREAS, the City Council finds that the petition meets the requirements of G.S. 160A-
31; 
 
     NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Mebane, North 
Carolina that: 
 
     Section 1.     By virtue of the authority granted by G.S. 160A-31, the following described 
territory is hereby annexed and made part of the City of Mebane as of August 7, 2023: 
 
COMMENCING AT A NORTH CAROLINA GRID CONTINUOUSLY OPERATING REFERENCE STATION 
(CORS) NAMED “NCBU”; THENCE, S88°34'58”E, 52,793.66 FEET TO A ¾” IRON STAKE found AT THE 
INTERSECTION THE WESTERN MARGIN OF THE SOUTH ELEVENTH STREET RIGHT-OF-WAY AND THE 
NORTHEASTERN MARGIN OF THE OAKWOOD STREET RIGHT-OF-WAY, BEING ALSO THE WESTERN 
MARGIN OF THE CITY OF MEBANE CORPORATE LIMITS AND THE EASTERN MARGIN OF THE 
PROPOSED ANNEXATION TRACT, BEING ALSO THE SOUTHERN CORNER OF THE ELIZABETH S. 
WOODY TRACT, WITH A PIN OF 9825.31.5555 AND A nc GRID COORDINATE OF NORTHING 
851204.16 AND EASTING 1923744.26, being also the PLACE AND POINT OF BEGINNING: 
 
THENCE, ALONG SAID WESTERN MARGIN OF THE CITY OF MEBANE CORPORATE LIMITS, 
S01°28'16”E, 115.65 FEET TO THE SOUTHWESTERLY MARGIN OF SAID OAKWOOD STREET RIGHT-
OF-WAY; THENCE, ALONG SAID SOUTHWESTERLY MARGIN OF OAKWOOD STREET AND THE 
SOUTHWESTERLY LINE OF SAID PROPOSED ANNEXATION TRACT, N32°41'27”W, 254.74 FEET TO A 
POINT IN THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID CITY OF MEBANE CORPORATE LIMITS; THENCE, N89°26'15”E, 
132.06 FEET TO A POINT IN SAID WESTERN MARGIN OF THE CITY OF MEBANE CORPORATE LIMITS; 
THENCE, S01°28'16”E, 100.10 FEET TO THE PLACE AND POINT OF BEGINNING, CONTAINING 0.3270 
ACRES, MORE OR LESS. 
 
     Section 2.     Upon and after August 7, 2023 the above-described territory and its citizens 
and property shall be subject to all debts, laws, ordinances and regulations in force in the 
City of Mebane and shall be entitled to the same privileges and benefits as other parts of 
the City of Mebane.  Said territory shall be subject to municipal taxes according to G.S. 
160A-58.10. 



 
     Section 3.     The Mayor of the City of Mebane shall cause to be recorded in the office 
of the Register of Deeds of Orange County and in the office of the Secretary of State at 
Raleigh, North Carolina, an accurate map of the annexed territory, described in Section 1 
above, together with duly certified copy of this ordinance.  Such a map shall also be 
delivered to the Orange County Board of Elections as required by G.S. 163-288.1. 
 
Adopted this 7th day of August, 2023. 
 
       City of Mebane 
 
                                                                                       _____________________________ 

                                                                                      Ed Hooks, Mayor 
ATTEST:                                
                                        
_______________________________                        
Stephanie W. Shaw, City Clerk   
  
                                                                                              Approved as to form: 
 

 ________________________________ 
Lawson Brown, City Attorney 



3/4" IPF
0.1' AG

3/4" IPF
0.1' AG

EXISTING CITY LIMITS

OUTSIDE CITY LIMITS

EXISTING CITY LIMITS
OUTSIDE CITY LIMITS

PROPOSED
ANNEXATION AREA
14,244 SF 0.3270 AC

INO
U

T

INO
U

T
IN

IN

IN IN

IN IN

0 60' 120'

NC GRID
NAD 83 (2011)

MÆ
RS

TA
N,

 P
LL

C
La

nd
 S

ur
ve

yo
rs

24
11 

US
 6

4 B
US

. W
., P

ITT
SB

OR
O,

 N
C 

27
31

2
PH

: 9
19

.54
5-

70
01

    
  N

C 
LIC

: P
-14

08

M
O

 R
E

 In
ve

st
m

en
ts

 L
LC

33
17

 H
A

R
D

E
N

 R
O

A
D

R
A

LE
IG

H
, N

C
 2

76
07

REB

V
O

LU
N

TA
R

Y
 C

O
N

TI
G

U
O

U
S

 E
X

TE
N

S
IO

N
O

R
A

N
G

E
 C

O
U

N
TY

 P
IN

: 9
82

5.
31

.5
55

5
C

H
E

E
K

S
 T

O
W

N
S

H
IP

, C
IT

Y
 O

F 
M

E
B

A
N

E
O

R
A

N
G

E
 C

O
U

N
TY

, N
O

R
TH

 C
A

R
O

LI
N

A

06.26.2023

1 of 1
MO RE

21593

REB

1"=60'

PREL
IM

IN
ARY P

LA
T

NOT 
FO

R R
EC

ORDATI
ON, C

ONVEY
ANCES

 O
R S

ALE
S

70
N

O
R

AN
G

E C
O

U
N

TY
ALAM

AN
C

E  C
O

U
N

TY

AREA TO BE

VICINITY MAP 1"=200'

AREA OUTSIDE
CITY LIMITS ANNEXED

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
M

EB
AN

E 
C

O
R

PO
R

AT
E 

LI
M

IT
S 

EX
TE

N
TI

O
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
NCGS CORS "NCBU" 852509.66 1870966.76

AutoCAD SHX Text
CEDAR COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text
OAKWOOD STREET (60' PUBLIC R/W SR 1300)

AutoCAD SHX Text
S88°34'58"E 52793.65'

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRID TIE

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOW OR FORMERLY ELMWOOD APARTMENTS, LLC. PIN: 9825.31.3312 DEED BOOK 4444 PAGE 418

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOW OR FORMERLY TOLEDO BUILDERS, LLC. PIN: 9825.41.6325 DEED BOOK 6800 PAGE 1108

AutoCAD SHX Text
S ELEVENTH STREET (60' PUBLIC R/W-SEE NOTE #4)

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOW OR FORMERLY ELIZABETH S. WOODY PIN: 9825.31.5555 DEED BOOK 6656 PAGES 1690-93

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPERTY DATA CURRENT OWNER:  NOW OR FORMERLY ELIZABETH S. WOODY PIN: 9825.31.5555 9825.31.5555 DEED BOOK 6656 PAGES 1690-93

AutoCAD SHX Text
GENERAL NOTES 1) THIS PLAT DEPICTS A PROPOSED CONTIGUOUS ANNEXATION FOR THE REMAINING PORTION OF ORANGE COUNTY PIN: 9825-31-5555 INTO THE LIMITS OF THE CITY OF MEBANE, NORTH CAROLINA. 2) PROPERTIES SHOWN HEREON ARE SUBJECT TO EASEMENTS AND RESTRICTIONS OF RECORD THAT WOULD BE REVEALED BY A THOROUGH TITLE SEARCH. THIS PLAT SHOULD NOT BE RELIED UPON AS A COMPLETE RECORD OF ALL EASEMENTS THAT MAY AFFECT THESE PROPERTIES. 3) UNIT OF MEASUREMENT IS U.S. SURVEY FEET (FT) UNLESS SPECIFICALLY NOTED AS METERS (m). UNIT OF MEASUREMENT IS U.S. SURVEY FEET (FT) UNLESS SPECIFICALLY NOTED AS METERS (m). 4) ALL DISTANCES AND COORDINATES SHOWN HEREON ARE LOCALIZED, GROUND INFORMATION, UNLESS SPECIFICALLY NOTED AS "GRID". 5) AREA(S) CALCULATED BY THE COORDINATE METHOD. AREA(S) CALCULATED BY THE COORDINATE METHOD. 6) CITY LIMITS LINES PLOTTED FROM CITY OF MEBANE GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION SYSTEM.CITY LIMITS LINES PLOTTED FROM CITY OF MEBANE GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION SYSTEM.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
SURVEY PREPARED FOR:

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHEET NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
FILE NAME

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJECT NO.:

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED BY:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN BY:

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVISION

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
L-3266

AutoCAD SHX Text
U

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
D 

AutoCAD SHX Text
E 

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
U

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
V

AutoCAD SHX Text
,

AutoCAD SHX Text
J

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
K

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CITY OF MEBANE PLANNING DIRECTOR CERTIFICATION THIS TRACT OF LAND IS WITHIN THE CITY OF MEBANE'S JURISDICTION.  NO APPROVAL IS REQUIRED OF THE PLANNIN BOARD OR CITY COUNCIL. CITY OF MEBANE      DATE DATE PLANNING DIRECTOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
I, RICHARD ELLIS BULLOCK, JR., AS A PROFESSIONAL LAND SURVEYOR IN THE STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA, DO HEREBY CERTIFY RICHARD ELLIS BULLOCK, JR., AS A PROFESSIONAL LAND SURVEYOR IN THE STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA, DO HEREBY CERTIFY , AS A PROFESSIONAL LAND SURVEYOR IN THE STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA, DO HEREBY CERTIFY THAT THIS PLAT WAS DRAWN ME, OR UNDER MY SUPERVISION, FROM AN ACTUAL GROUND (CONVENTIONAL) AND GPS; THAT THE GROUND (CONVENTIONAL) AND GPS; THAT THE GPS SURVEY INFORMATION (METADATA) HAS BEEN REPORTED HEREON UNDER THE "SURVEY CONTROL / GRID TIE NOTES"; THAT  THAT SURVEYED PROPERTY LINES SHOWN HEREON ARE BASED UPON THE DEEDS AND PLATS REPORTED HEREON; THAT THE BOUNDARIES NOT SURVEYED ARE CLEARLY INDICATED AS SUCH AND ARE BASED UPON THE DEEDS AND PLATS REPORTED HEREON; THAT THE POSITIONAL ACCURACY HAS BEEN REPORTED HEREON; THAT THE RATIO OF PRECISION AS CALCULATED IS 1:10000+; THAT THIS  HAS BEEN REPORTED HEREON; THAT THE RATIO OF PRECISION AS CALCULATED IS 1:10000+; THAT THIS MAP WAS PREPARED IN ACCORDANCE WITH NORTH CAROLINA GENERAL STATUTES G.S.47-30, AS AMENDED. THAT THIS PLAT MEETS THE REQUIREMENT OF G.S.47-30 SECTION: (f)(11)(c)(1) THAT THIS SURVEY IS OF AN EXISTING PARCEL OR PARCELS OF LAND OR ONE OR MORE EXISITING EASEMENTS AND THAT THIS SURVEY IS OF AN EXISTING PARCEL OR PARCELS OF LAND OR ONE OR MORE EXISITING EASEMENTS AND DOES NOT CREATE A NEW STREET OR CHANGE AN EXISTING STREET. (j) THE PROVISIONS OF THIS SECTION SHALL NOT APPLY TO BOUNDARY PLATS OF AREAS ANNEXED BY MUNICIPALIATIES NOR TO THE PROVISIONS OF THIS SECTION SHALL NOT APPLY TO BOUNDARY PLATS OF AREAS ANNEXED BY MUNICIPALIATIES NOR TO  NOR TO PLATS OF MUNICIPAL BOUNDARIES, WHETHER OR NOT REQUIRED BY LAW TO BE RECORDED. WITNESS MY ORIGINAL SIGNATURE, REGISTRATION NUMBER AND SEAL THIS 26st DAY OF JUNE, 2023.                   RICHARD ELLIS BULLOCK, JR.,    LICENSE NO.  L-3266    LICENSE NO.  L-32663266

AutoCAD SHX Text
ABBREVIATIONS PB PLAT BOOK PLAT BOOK DB DEED BOOK DEED BOOK PG PAGE PAGE N/F NOW OR FORMERLY NOW OR FORMERLY CMF CONCRETE MONUMENT FOUND CONCRETE MONUMENT FOUND IPF IRON PIPE FOUND IRON PIPE FOUND IPS IRON PIPE SET IRON PIPE SET IRF IRON ROD FOUND IRON ROD FOUND NS NAIL SET NAIL SET R/W RIGHT-OF-WAY RIGHT-OF-WAY SF SQUARE FEET SQUARE FEET AC ACRE ACRE AG ABOVE GROUND ABOVE GROUND BG BELOW GROUNDBELOW GROUND

AutoCAD SHX Text
CEDAR CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
S ELEVENTH ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
E. WASHINGTION ST. EXT

AutoCAD SHX Text
OAKWOOD ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OAKWOOD ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SURVEY CONTROL / GRID TIE NOTES THE CONTROL LINE SHOWN HEREON WAS ESTABLISHED BY GPS SURVEY METHODOLOGIES USING THE NORTH CAROLINA GEODETIC NORTH CAROLINA GEODETIC  CAROLINA GEODETIC SURVEY'S (NCGS) VIRTUAL REFERENCE SYSTEM (VRS), WHICH IS BASED UPON THE CONTINUALLY OPERATING REFERENCE STATIONS NCGS) VIRTUAL REFERENCE SYSTEM (VRS), WHICH IS BASED UPON THE CONTINUALLY OPERATING REFERENCE STATIONS CGS) VIRTUAL REFERENCE SYSTEM (VRS), WHICH IS BASED UPON THE CONTINUALLY OPERATING REFERENCE STATIONS (CORS).  NO NCGS MONUMENT WAS FOUND WITHIN 2,000 FEET OF THE SITE.  SURVEY METADATA IS AS FOLLOWS: NO NCGS MONUMENT WAS FOUND WITHIN 2,000 FEET OF THE SITE.  SURVEY METADATA IS AS FOLLOWS:  NCGS MONUMENT WAS FOUND WITHIN 2,000 FEET OF THE SITE.  SURVEY METADATA IS AS FOLLOWS: NCGS MONUMENT WAS FOUND WITHIN 2,000 FEET OF THE SITE.  SURVEY METADATA IS AS FOLLOWS: CGS MONUMENT WAS FOUND WITHIN 2,000 FEET OF THE SITE.  SURVEY METADATA IS AS FOLLOWS:   SURVEY METADATA IS AS FOLLOWS: I, RICHARD ELLIS BULLOCK, JR., CERTIFY THAT THIS MAP WAS DRAWN UNDER MY SUPERVISION FROM AN ACTUAL GPS SURVEY RICHARD ELLIS BULLOCK, JR., CERTIFY THAT THIS MAP WAS DRAWN UNDER MY SUPERVISION FROM AN ACTUAL GPS SURVEY , CERTIFY THAT THIS MAP WAS DRAWN UNDER MY SUPERVISION FROM AN ACTUAL GPS SURVEY AND CONVENTIONAL SURVEY MADE UNDER MY SUPERVISION AND THE FOLLOWING INFORMATION WAS USED TO PERFORM THE SURVEY: 1) CLASS OF SURVEY: CLASS B CLASS OF SURVEY: CLASS B : CLASS B 2) POSITIONAL ACCURACY: 0.03' HZ, 0.04' VT POSITIONAL ACCURACY: 0.03' HZ, 0.04' VT : 0.03' HZ, 0.04' VT 3) TYPE OF GPS FIELD PROCEDURE: REAL TIME KINEMATIC NETWORKS (VRS) TYPE OF GPS FIELD PROCEDURE: REAL TIME KINEMATIC NETWORKS (VRS) : REAL TIME KINEMATIC NETWORKS (VRS) 4) DATE OF GPS SURVEY: 08.17.2020 DATE OF GPS SURVEY: 08.17.2020 : 08.17.2020 5) HORIZONTAL DATUM/EPOCH: NAD83 (NSRS2011) NC STATE PLANE COORDINATE SYSTEM HORIZONTAL DATUM/EPOCH: NAD83 (NSRS2011) NC STATE PLANE COORDINATE SYSTEM : NAD83 (NSRS2011) NC STATE PLANE COORDINATE SYSTEM NC STATE PLANE COORDINATE SYSTEM  STATE PLANE COORDINATE SYSTEM     VERTICAL DATUM: NAVD88  VERTICAL DATUM: NAVD88  : NAVD88  6) PUBLISHED/FIXED-CONTROL USE: PUBLISHED/FIXED-CONTROL USE: NAME: NCBU PID: DF9213 DATUM: NAD83 PID: DF9213 DATUM: NAD83 DATUM: NAD83 EPOCH: 2010 LATITUDE: 36°05'29.58604"ELLIPSOID HEIGHT: 173.401m LONGITUDE: 79°26'12.17620"GEOID HEIGHT: -30.227m ELEVATION: 668.0ft 7) GEOID MODEL: GEOID 12B GEOID MODEL: GEOID 12B : GEOID 12B B 8) COMBINED FACTOR: 0.99997616634  COMBINED FACTOR: 0.99997616634 COMBINED FACTOR: 0.99997616634 : 0.99997616634 0.99997616634 9) UNITS: LOCALIZED GROUND U.S. SURVEY FEET @ 1"x2" IRON BAR FOUND AS SHOWN HEREON. UNITS: LOCALIZED GROUND U.S. SURVEY FEET @ 1"x2" IRON BAR FOUND AS SHOWN HEREON.  LOCALIZED GROUND U.S. SURVEY FEET @ 1"x2" IRON BAR FOUND AS SHOWN HEREON. GPS ANTENNA: SPECTRA PRECISION EPOCH 50 (SERIAL #5133819279) : SPECTRA PRECISION EPOCH 50 (SERIAL #5133819279) ADJUSTMENT: SURVEY DATA WAS POST PROCESSED WITH TRIMBLE BUSINESS CENTER (TBC) USING A NETWORK LEAST SQUARES : SURVEY DATA WAS POST PROCESSED WITH TRIMBLE BUSINESS CENTER (TBC) USING A NETWORK LEAST SQUARES ADJUSTMENT AT THE 95% CONFIDENCE LEVEL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
S TENTH ST.



AGENDA ITEM #5C 
Ordinance to Extend the Corporate Limits-  
Voluntary Contiguous Annexation-  
Keystone Group Inc.- Mebane Towne Center- 
Ph. A2, A3 and A4 

Meeting Date 
August 7, 2023 

Presenter  
Lawson Brown, City Attorney 

Public Hearing 
Yes   No  

Summary 
The Council will consider the approval of an Ordinance to Extend the Corporate Limits as the next step in 
the annexation process. This is a contiguous annexation of +/- 23.340 acres located in Alamance County. 

Background 
At the July 10, 2023, Council Meeting, Council accepted the petition for annexation and the Clerk’s 
certificate of sufficiency and adopted a Resolution setting a date of Public Hearing for August 7, 2023, to 
consider approval of extending Mebane’s corporate limits. The Public Hearing Notice was properly 
advertised.  

Financial Impact 
The property and improvements will be added to the ad valorem tax base for the City once the property is 
annexed as determined by the state statute. 

Recommendation 
Staff recommends the adoption of an Ordinance to Extend the Corporate Limits of the City of Mebane, 
North Carolina. 

Suggested Motion 
I make a motion to adopt an Ordinance to Extend the Corporate Limits of the City of Mebane, North 
Carolina to include the +/- 23.340 acres. 

Attachments 
1. Ordinance 
2. Map 

 

 

 

 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

AN ORDINANCE TO EXTEND THE CORPORATE LIMITS 
 OF THE CITY OF MEBANE, NORTH CAROLINA 

 
Mail after recording to: City of Mebane, Attn: City Clerk, 106 E. Washington Street, Mebane, NC 27302 

 
Ordinance No. 163 

 
     WHEREAS, the City Council has been petitioned under G.S. 160A-31 to annex the area 
described below; and 
 
     WHEREAS, the City Council has by resolution directed the City Clerk to investigate the 
sufficiency of the petition; and 
 
     WHEREAS, the City Clerk has certified the sufficiency of the petition and a public hearing 
on the question of this annexation was held at the Glendel Stephenson Municipal Building 
at 6:00 p.m. on August 7, 2023, after due notice by the Mebane Enterprise on July 26, 
2023; and 
 
     WHEREAS, the City Council finds that the petition meets the requirements of G.S. 160A-
31; 
 
     NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Mebane, North 
Carolina that: 
 
     Section 1.     By virtue of the authority granted by G.S. 160A-31, the following described 
territory is hereby annexed and made part of the City of Mebane as of August 7, 2023: 
 
BEGINNING at a point running with the right-of-way of Cameron Lane, the following 16 
calls: 

Thence on a curve to the left having a radius of 20.00, a length of 31.99 feet and a chord 
of S13°08’04”E, 28.69 feet to a point, thence on a curve to the left having a radius of 
360.00, a length of 227.57 feet and a chord of S77°04’06”E, 223.80 feet to a point, thence 
N84°49’19”E, 104.01 feet to a point, thence on a curve to the left having a radius of 460.00, 
a length of 172.76 feet and a chord of N74°03’45”E, 171.75 feet to a point, thence on a 
curve to the left having a radius of 50.00, a length of 92.52 feet and a chord of N10°17’34”E, 
79.87 feet to a point, thence N44°56’40”E, 45.04 feet to a point, thence S42°43’02”E, 16.52 
feet to a point, thence on a curve to the left having a radius of 50.00, a length of 33.67 feet 
and a chord of S62°00’24”E, 33.03 feet to a point, thence on a curve to the left having a 
radius of 50.00, a length of 48.76 feet and a chord of N70°45’57”E, 46.85 feet to a point, 
thence on a curve to the left having a radius of 460.00, a length of 60.85 feet and a chord 
of N39°02’17”E, 60.80 feet to a point, thence N35°14’55”E, 10.59 feet to a point, thence 
on a curve to the right having a radius of 540.00, a length of 188.37 feet and a chord of 
N45°14’31”E, 187.42 feet to a point, thence on a curve to the right having a radius of 
540.00, a length of 172.17 feet and a chord of N64°22’09”E, 171.44 feet to a point, thence 
N73°30’11”E, 186.18 feet to an existing iron rod, thence N73°30’11”E, 236.14 feet to a 
point, thence S16°30’29”E, 4.24 feet to an existing iron rod also on the western line of 
Keystone at Mebane Oaks recorded in Book 3326, Page 670, 



Thence S27°38’18”W, 98.60 feet to an existing iron rod, thence S27°38’18”W, 151.34 feet 
to an existing iron rod, thence S24°38’18”W, 223.38 feet to an existing iron pipe, thence 
S19°25’08”W, 196.59 feet to a point, thence S29°41’37”E, 83.13 feet to a point, thence 
S28°44’35”E, 86.87 feet to a point, thence S60°18’23”W, 19.50 feet to a point, thence 
S29°41’37”E, 36.94 feet to an existing iron pipe, thence S29°41’37”E, 224.95 feet to an 
existing iron pipe, thence S71°54’52”W, 251.05 feet to a point, thence on a curve to the 
right having a radius of 3819.72, a length of 687.07 feet and a chord of S76°40’56”W, 
686.17 feet to a point, thence N48°08’45”W, 3.75 feet to a point, thence N46°31’46”W, 
301.91 feet to a point, thence N46°32’51”W, 444.56 feet to a point, thence N32°41’24”E, 
194.85 feet to a point, thence N32°41’24”E, 115.04 feet to a point and the place of 
BEGINNING and being approximately 22.340 +/- acres according to a survey prepared by 
Jeffery Caison, PLS. 

 
     Section 2.     Upon and after August 7, 2023 the above-described territory and its citizens 
and property shall be subject to all debts, laws, ordinances and regulations in force in the 
City of Mebane and shall be entitled to the same privileges and benefits as other parts of 
the City of Mebane.  Said territory shall be subject to municipal taxes according to G.S. 
160A-58.10. 
 
     Section 3.     The Mayor of the City of Mebane shall cause to be recorded in the office 
of the Register of Deeds of Alamance County and in the office of the Secretary of State at 
Raleigh, North Carolina, an accurate map of the annexed territory, described in Section 1 
above, together with duly certified copy of this ordinance.  Such a map shall also be 
delivered to the Alamance County Board of Elections as required by G.S. 163-288.1. 
 
Adopted this 7th day of August, 2023. 
 
       City of Mebane 
 
                                                                                       _____________________________ 

                                                                                      Ed Hooks, Mayor 
ATTEST:                                
                                        
_______________________________                        
Stephanie W. Shaw, City Clerk   
  
                                                                                              Approved as to form: 
 

 ________________________________ 
Lawson Brown, City Attorney 



PHASE T4

ZONING: R-6 PUD w/ SPECIAL USE PERMIT

22.340 ACRES±

TO BE ANNEXED
TOTAL AREA

0.0349053 SQ MILES±

Vicinity Map

N

AutoCAD SHX Text
Exst. 54" RCP under I-40

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTERSTATE 85/40

AutoCAD SHX Text
N76°59'21"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
15.75

AutoCAD SHX Text
S24%%D38'18"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
223.38'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S19%%D25'08"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
224.30'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S29%%D41'37"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
224.95'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S71%%D54'52"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
251.05'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 46%%D 31' 46" W

AutoCAD SHX Text
301.91'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N46%%D32'51"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
444.56'

AutoCAD SHX Text
(OUT)

AutoCAD SHX Text
(IN) NEW CORPORATE LIMITS LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FUTURE CAMERON LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text
75' RIGHT OF WAY 

AutoCAD SHX Text
(IN)

AutoCAD SHX Text
(VARIABLE WIDTH PUBLIC R/W))

AutoCAD SHX Text
(IN) EXISTING CORPORATE LIMITS

AutoCAD SHX Text
(IN)

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING CORPORATE LIMITS LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FUTURE RIGHT OF WAY 

AutoCAD SHX Text
FUTURE RIGHT OF WAY 

AutoCAD SHX Text
EIR

AutoCAD SHX Text
NIR

AutoCAD SHX Text
NIR

AutoCAD SHX Text
NIR

AutoCAD SHX Text
353.66'

AutoCAD SHX Text
NAIL IN

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLAT BAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
TALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
EIR

AutoCAD SHX Text
EIP

AutoCAD SHX Text
EIR

AutoCAD SHX Text
EIP

AutoCAD SHX Text
EIP

AutoCAD SHX Text
EIR

AutoCAD SHX Text
EIR

AutoCAD SHX Text
S27%%D38'18"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
151.34'

AutoCAD SHX Text
196.59'

AutoCAD SHX Text
27.69'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S29%%D41'37"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
83.13'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S28%%D44'35"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
86.87'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S60%%D18'23"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
19.50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S29%%D41'37"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
36.94'

AutoCAD SHX Text
CH B: S76%%D40'56"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
CH D: 686.17'

AutoCAD SHX Text
RAD: 3819.72

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARC L: 687.07'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N32%%D41'24"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
194.85'

AutoCAD SHX Text
(TIE)

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTERSTATE 40

AutoCAD SHX Text
S27%%D38'18"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
98.60'

AutoCAD SHX Text
(OUT)

AutoCAD SHX Text
(IN) NEW CORPORATE LIMITS LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
(IN) NEW CORPORATE LIMITS LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WADE MARTHA L REVOC LIV TRUST C/O LINDA WRIGHT AIRPORT ROAD DB 3056, PG .552 PIN #164151 ZONED: B-2

AutoCAD SHX Text
KEYSTONE AT MEBANE OAKS CAMERON LANE DB 3326, PG 670 PB 78, PG 152 PIN #164336

AutoCAD SHX Text
PUBLIC RIGHT-OF-WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
VARIABLE WIDTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
S 73%%D 30' 11" W

AutoCAD SHX Text
 LOT LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
(IN)

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING CORPORATE LIMITS LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
(IN)

AutoCAD SHX Text
(IN)

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING CORPORATE LIMITS LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
(IN)

AutoCAD SHX Text
AIRPORT RD (NCSR 1978)

AutoCAD SHX Text
50' RIGHT OF WAY 

AutoCAD SHX Text
(IN)

AutoCAD SHX Text
(IN)

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING CORPORATE LIMITS LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
MAP NO. 3710981400J, PANEL EFFECTIVE DATE: 09-06-06.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DETERMINED BY FEMA FLOOD MAP PANEL 9814, CITY OF MEBANE, 

AutoCAD SHX Text
- SITE IS NOT LOCATED IN A SPECIAL FLOOD HAZARD AREA AS 

AutoCAD SHX Text
- SOILS: GaC, HdB, GaB2, GaB, HdB2, HdC2

AutoCAD SHX Text
- DEED REF.: D.B. 3831, PG. 476, DB. 3831, PG. 473

AutoCAD SHX Text
- EXISTING LAND USE: VACANT

AutoCAD SHX Text
- SITE ZONING: R-6 PUD WITH SPECIAL USE PERMIT

AutoCAD SHX Text
- LAND USE CLASS.: CLASS. 4

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%USITE INFORMATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
1"=2000'

AutoCAD SHX Text
CPT ENGINEERING AND SURVEYING, INC.  4400 TYNING STREET  HIGH POINT, NORTH CAROLINA 27265

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC.. . . . .CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text
MON. . . . . .MONUMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
(EIP) . . . . .EXISTING IRON PIPE (ONLINE)

AutoCAD SHX Text
IRS. . . . . . .IRON ROD SET

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%130   . . . . . CENTERLINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
R/W . . . . . RIGHT-OF-WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%uLEGEND:

AutoCAD SHX Text
D.B. . . . . . .DEED BOOK

AutoCAD SHX Text
NIP. . . . . . .NEW IRON PIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
EIP. . . . . . .EXISTING IRON PIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
EIR. . . . . . .EXISTING IRON ROD

AutoCAD SHX Text
TCA . . . . . TREE CONSERVATION AREA

AutoCAD SHX Text
- PLAT REF.: P.B. 81, PG. 412

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
FINAL PLAT

AutoCAD SHX Text
MEBANE TOWNE CENTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAND DEVELOPMENT CONSULTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
CPT ENGINEERING AND SURVEYING, INC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MELVILLE TOWNSHIP ~ ALAMANCE COUNTY

AutoCAD SHX Text
MEBANE ~ NORTH CAROLINA

AutoCAD SHX Text
CORPORATE LICENSE NUMBER C-1375

AutoCAD SHX Text
PHONE: (336) 812-8800  ~  FAX: (336) 812-8780

AutoCAD SHX Text
4400 TYNING STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
HIGH POINT, NORTH CAROLINA 27265

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJECT:  1316-14 AP                       DRAWN BY: DTW

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE:  JUNE 9, 2023

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE:  1" = 100'

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHEET 1 of 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
Planning Director Certification: : This tract of land is within the city of Mebane's jurisdiction. No approval is required of the planning board or City Council.    ______________________________________________ Planning Director                                        Date

AutoCAD SHX Text
: CAMERON LANE ROW: 2.828 ACs.%%P

AutoCAD SHX Text
PHASES A2, A3, AND A4

AutoCAD SHX Text
CITY OF MEBANE CORPORATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 inch =     ft.

AutoCAD SHX Text
( IN FEET )

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAPHIC SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
100

AutoCAD SHX Text
100

AutoCAD SHX Text
200

AutoCAD SHX Text
100

AutoCAD SHX Text
400

AutoCAD SHX Text
50

AutoCAD SHX Text
Certificate of Accuracy.  I, Jeffery L. Caison, certify that this plat was drawn under my supervision from an actual survey made under my supervision (deed description recorded in Book _______, page _____, etc.) (other); that the boundaries not surveyed are clearly indicated as drawn from information found in Book _____, page _____; that the ratio of precision or positional accuracy as calculated is 1:10,000; that this plat was prepared in accordance with NCGS 47-30 as amended.  Witness my original signature, license number and seal this ____ day of _______, A.D., 2023. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
AS          SHOWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
Jeffery L. Caison

AutoCAD SHX Text
L-4403

AutoCAD SHX Text
                                                   Surveyor                                                    License Number 

AutoCAD SHX Text
- AREAS

AutoCAD SHX Text
FC-DTW-06-12-23

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLAT BOOK 81 PG. 412

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
L-4403

AutoCAD SHX Text
GS 47-30 (f)(11)(c)(1) This survey is of an existing parcel or parcels or land and does not create a new street or change an existing street. Per GS 47-30(j) The provisions of this section shall not apply to boundary plats of state lines,  to boundary plats of state lines, o boundary plats of state lines, county lines, areas annexed by Municipalities, Municipalities, unicipalities, nor to plats of municipal boundaries, whether or or r not required by law to be recorded.

AutoCAD SHX Text
POB .. . . . .POINT OF BEGINNING

AutoCAD SHX Text
AS          SHOWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
- PARCEL ID: 164335, 164338, 164152

AutoCAD SHX Text
- GPINS #: 9814752261, 9814648568, 9814742384

AutoCAD SHX Text
TERRELL ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
BATTERY DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
HUDSON DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOGWOOD DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
AIRPORT RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
BEECHCRAFT DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
BONANZA LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
CAMERON

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
S 5TH ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUST RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
HOLLY RIDGE LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
S 5TH ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
FALCON LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
I-40 

AutoCAD SHX Text
HWY 119 

AutoCAD SHX Text
S 5TH ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LIMITS EXTENSION

AutoCAD SHX Text
VOLUNTARY CONTIGUOUS ANNEXATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
CITY LIMITS

AutoCAD SHX Text
(IN)

AutoCAD SHX Text
(OUT)

AutoCAD SHX Text
Line Table

AutoCAD SHX Text
Line #

AutoCAD SHX Text
L1

AutoCAD SHX Text
L2

AutoCAD SHX Text
L3

AutoCAD SHX Text
L4

AutoCAD SHX Text
L5

AutoCAD SHX Text
L6

AutoCAD SHX Text
L7

AutoCAD SHX Text
L8

AutoCAD SHX Text
L9

AutoCAD SHX Text
L10

AutoCAD SHX Text
L11

AutoCAD SHX Text
L12

AutoCAD SHX Text
Direction

AutoCAD SHX Text
N84°49'19"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
N44°56'40"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
S42°43'02"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
N35°14'55"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
N73°30'11"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
N73°30'11"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
S16°30'29"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
S35°14'55"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
S48°54'18"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
S84°49'19"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
N32°41'24"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
N48°08'45"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
DIST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
104.01'

AutoCAD SHX Text
45.04'

AutoCAD SHX Text
16.52'

AutoCAD SHX Text
10.59'

AutoCAD SHX Text
186.18'

AutoCAD SHX Text
236.14'

AutoCAD SHX Text
4.24'

AutoCAD SHX Text
10.59'

AutoCAD SHX Text
82.23'

AutoCAD SHX Text
104.01'

AutoCAD SHX Text
115.04'

AutoCAD SHX Text
3.75'

AutoCAD SHX Text
Curve Table

AutoCAD SHX Text
Curve #

AutoCAD SHX Text
C1

AutoCAD SHX Text
C2

AutoCAD SHX Text
C3

AutoCAD SHX Text
C4

AutoCAD SHX Text
C5

AutoCAD SHX Text
C6

AutoCAD SHX Text
C7

AutoCAD SHX Text
C8

AutoCAD SHX Text
C9

AutoCAD SHX Text
C10

AutoCAD SHX Text
C11

AutoCAD SHX Text
C12

AutoCAD SHX Text
C13

AutoCAD SHX Text
C14

AutoCAD SHX Text
C15

AutoCAD SHX Text
C16

AutoCAD SHX Text
C17

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARC DIST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
31.99'

AutoCAD SHX Text
227.57'

AutoCAD SHX Text
172.76'

AutoCAD SHX Text
92.52'

AutoCAD SHX Text
33.67'

AutoCAD SHX Text
48.76'

AutoCAD SHX Text
60.85'

AutoCAD SHX Text
188.37'

AutoCAD SHX Text
172.17'

AutoCAD SHX Text
144.62'

AutoCAD SHX Text
165.85'

AutoCAD SHX Text
65.57'

AutoCAD SHX Text
55.98'

AutoCAD SHX Text
71.66'

AutoCAD SHX Text
207.34'

AutoCAD SHX Text
278.15'

AutoCAD SHX Text
30.99'

AutoCAD SHX Text
Radius

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
360.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
460.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
50.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
50.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
50.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
460.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
540.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
540.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
465.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
465.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
535.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
70.56'

AutoCAD SHX Text
105.82'

AutoCAD SHX Text
535.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
435.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
Delta

AutoCAD SHX Text
091° 38' 55"

AutoCAD SHX Text
036° 13' 11"

AutoCAD SHX Text
021° 31' 07"

AutoCAD SHX Text
106° 01' 14"

AutoCAD SHX Text
038° 34' 42"

AutoCAD SHX Text
055° 52' 36"

AutoCAD SHX Text
007° 34' 44"

AutoCAD SHX Text
019° 59' 12"

AutoCAD SHX Text
018° 16' 03"

AutoCAD SHX Text
017° 49' 10"

AutoCAD SHX Text
020° 26' 06"

AutoCAD SHX Text
007° 01' 19"

AutoCAD SHX Text
045° 27' 27"

AutoCAD SHX Text
038° 47' 58"

AutoCAD SHX Text
022° 12' 16"

AutoCAD SHX Text
036° 38' 10"

AutoCAD SHX Text
088° 46' 06"

AutoCAD SHX Text
CH. BEARING

AutoCAD SHX Text
S13° 08' 04"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
S77° 04' 06"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
N74° 03' 45"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
N10° 17' 34"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
S62° 00' 24"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
N70° 45' 57"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
N39° 02' 17"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
N45° 14' 31"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
N64° 22' 09"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
S64° 35' 36"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
S45° 27' 58"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
S38° 45' 35"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
S19° 32' 31"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
S82° 01' 01"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
S73° 43' 10"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
N76° 51' 36"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
S77° 04' 26"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
CH. DIST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
28.69'

AutoCAD SHX Text
223.80'

AutoCAD SHX Text
171.75'

AutoCAD SHX Text
79.87'

AutoCAD SHX Text
33.03'

AutoCAD SHX Text
46.85'

AutoCAD SHX Text
60.80'

AutoCAD SHX Text
187.42'

AutoCAD SHX Text
171.44'

AutoCAD SHX Text
144.04'

AutoCAD SHX Text
164.97'

AutoCAD SHX Text
65.53'

AutoCAD SHX Text
54.52'

AutoCAD SHX Text
70.29'

AutoCAD SHX Text
206.04'

AutoCAD SHX Text
273.43'

AutoCAD SHX Text
27.98'

AutoCAD SHX Text
AREA TO BE ANNEXED: 19.512 ACs.%%P

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOTAL AREA TO BE ANNEXED: 22.340 ACs.%%P

AutoCAD SHX Text
- OWNER: KEYSTONE GROUP INC

AutoCAD SHX Text
- ADDRESS: BONANZA LANE, 1032 & 1082 MEBANE AIRPORT ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
CITY LIMITS

AutoCAD SHX Text
(IN)

AutoCAD SHX Text
(OUT)

AutoCAD SHX Text
Date of Survey

AutoCAD SHX Text
05/20/2023



P a g e  | 1 

AGENDA ITEM #5D 
RZ 23-05 
Conditional Rezoning – Evolve at 
Mebane Oaks 

Presenter 
Ashley Ownbey, Development Director 

Applicant 
Mebane Housing, LLC / Evolve Mebane Oaks, LLC 
2918-A / 4918-A Martinsville Road 
Greensboro, NC 27408 

Public Hearing 
Yes  No  

Zoning Map Property 
1413 Mebane Oaks Rd, 
1326 Broadwood Acres Rd, 
1332 Broadwood Acres Rd, 
1333 Broadwood Acres Rd, 
1345 Broadwood Acres Rd, 
0 Broadwood Acres Rd 

Alamance County GPINs: 
9824020553, 9814921385, 
9814920726, 9814824291, 
9814727217, 9814823848 

Proposed Zoning 
R-8 (CD) 

Current Zoning 
R-20 & B-2

Size 
 +/-60.241 acres 

Surrounding Zoning 
B-2 (CD), B-2, R-20, R-12, 
R-8, R-8(CD)

Surrounding Land Uses 
Commercial, Residential, 
Church, Fire Station 

Utilities 
Available 

Floodplain 
No 

Watershed 
No 

City Limits 
No 



A g e n d a  I t e m  c o n t i n u e d P a g e  | 2 

Application Brief 
See Planning Project Report for more details. 

Recommendations 

Technical Review Committee: 
The Technical Review Committee (TRC) has reviewed the site plan six 
times (not including pre submittal meetings) and the applicant has 
revised the plan to reflect the comments.  

Planning Staff: 
The proposed development “Evolve at Mebane Oaks” is consistent 
with the guidance provided within Mebane By Design, the Mebane 
Comprehensive Land Development Plan.  

Planning Board: 
At their July 17 meeting, the Planning Board voted 5-2 to recommend 
denial of the rezoning request. 

Zoning & Land Use Report 

Jurisdiction: Mebane Extraterritorial Jurisdiction (ETJ) 

Proposed Use By-Right (Yes/No): No 

Type of Rezoning Request: Conditional 

Special Use Request (Yes/No): No 

Consistency with Mebane By Design (Yes/No): Yes 

Utilities Report 

Available Utilities (Yes/No): Yes 

Adequate Stormwater Control (Yes/No): Yes 

Innovative Stormwater Control (Yes/No): No 

Consistency with Long-Range Utility Plan (Yes/No): Yes 

Transportation Report 

Traffic Impact Analysis Required (Yes/No): Yes 

Multi-Modal Improvements (Yes/No): Yes 

Consistency with Bike/Ped Transportation Plan (Yes/No): Yes 



A g e n d a  I t e m  c o n t i n u e d P a g e  | 3 

Summary 
Mebane Housing, LLC and Evolve Mebane Oaks, LLC are requesting approval to conditionally rezone six (6) 
properties (GPINs 9824020553, 9814921385, 9814920726, 9814824291, 9814727217, & 9814823848), 
totaling +/- 60.241 acres and located with frontages on Mebane Oaks Road, Broadwood Acres Road, and 
Longleaf Pine Place from R-20 and B-2 to R-8 (CD) to allow for a Planned Unit Development featuring 96 
95 single-family residences, +/- 13,000 square feet of commercial space fronting Mebane Oaks Road, and 
320 294 apartments by Mebane Housing, LLC and Evolve Mebane Oaks, LLC. The properties are located in 
Alamance County in the Extra-Territorial Jurisdiction (ETJ). The applicant must petition for annexation 
before connecting to City water and sewer. 

The site-specific plan includes the following onsite amenities and dedications: 

• A 5’ wide sidewalk will be constructed on Mebane Oaks Road. The applicant has also indicated that
a connection to the Garrett Crossing shopping plaza will be provided.

• All internal roads within the development will include 5’ wide sidewalks. Sidewalk is proposed on
both sides of Broadwood Acres Road and on one side of all other roads. Traffic calming is provided
on Broadwood Acres Road with grassed medians and a traffic circle. A traffic calming device is also
proposed on Longleaf Pine Place near the connection to the existing Arbor Creek subdivision.

• The multi-family portion of the development will include the following amenities:
o Community Clubhouse with Complimentary Wi-fi
o Complementary Starbucks Coffee
o Business Center with complimentary printing
o Game Room with billiard table/games (vary depending on the space—air hockey, ping pong, etc.)
o 24-hour state of the art fitness center with Precor equipment
o 24-hour Yoga Studio
o Resort Style saltwater swimming pool with in-pool loungers
o Pool house with outdoor seating, fireplace, and TV for entertainment
o Grilling Pavilion
o Playground with rubber turf
o 2 Pet Wash stations (one indoor, one outdoor)
o 2 Fenced Bark Parks with artificial turf and agility equipment
o Bike storage
o Luxer Package Room
o Electric Car Charging Stations

• A community recreation area is proposed in the single-family section of the development, which
includes a pickleball court, a shade pavilion, permanent cornhole, a playground, walking trails, a
pedestrian bridge, and a community garden. This community recreation area is proposed to be
accessible to residents of both the single-family and multi-family sections of the development.

• The applicant has committed to dedicating a +/- 7.44-acre lot to the City for future development
at the City’s discretion. Additionally, the applicant is proposing to provide a payment of $255,457
in lieu of the remaining +/- 3.73 acres of required public recreation area. The payment is due before 
the platting of any single-family lots.

 The following conditions are proposed with the conditional rezoning request: 



A g e n d a  I t e m  c o n t i n u e d P a g e  | 4 

Proposed Conditions of Zoning District City of Mebane Requirements 

The applicant has requested a maximum building 
height of 60 feet for the apartment buildings as a 
condition of the zone district. 

Since the Planning Board meeting, the applicant 
has confirmed with their architect and with 
Planning staff that the multi-family buildings will 
not exceed 50’ in building height. 

Section 4-2.A of the Mebane UDO states that the 
maximum building height for multi-family dwellings 
in the R-8 Zone District is 50 feet. 

The applicant has proposed to provide 1.77 acres 
of private recreation and 7.08 acres of open 
space. As a condition of the zone district, they 
have requested that the City accept the 
dedication of a +/- 7.43 acre lot for future 
development in lieu of the required public 
recreation space and remaining private recreation 
and open space requirements. 

With the reduction in density and the addition of 
a community recreation area, the applicant is now 
meeting requirements for open space and private 
recreation area. As allowed by the Mebane UDO, 
the applicant has proposed to dedicate a +/- 7.44-
acre lot to the City of Mebane and provide 
payment in lieu of the remaining +/- 3.73 acres of 
required public recreation area. The payment-in-
lieu totals $255,457. 

Pursuant to Section 6-8 of the Mebane UDO, public 
recreation must be provided at a rate of 1,250 
square feet per dwelling unit. The multi-family 
dwelling area must include private recreation space 
at a rate of 750 square feet per dwelling unit and 
private open space at a rate of 1,000 square feet per 
dwelling unit. This development is required to 
provide 11.83 acres of public recreation space, 
5.51 acres of private recreation space, and 7.34 
acres of open space. 

As a condition of the approval of the apartments, 
buildings 1 and 2 sewer flow will be allocated in 
year 2024 and buildings 3 and 4 in 2025. 

While this exceeds the requirements of the 
Accumulated Paper Flow Policy, staff is agreeable 
to this developer request due to the number of 
units in each building not fitting the policy and the 
timing at which the developer intends to 
construct these buildings (earlier tributary flow at 
a lesser amount than accumulated permitted 
paper flow at a higher amount over several years). 

A Traffic Impact Analysis (TIA) was required for the proposed development. Based on the TIA, the developer 
is responsible for the following improvements: 



A g e n d a  I t e m  c o n t i n u e d P a g e  | 5 

• Coordinate with NCDOT to develop a coordination and timing plan for the signals along Mebane
Oaks Road.

• Install a traffic signal at the site access on Mebane Oaks Road with the first phase of
development.

• Provide an exclusive northbound left-turn lane with a minimum 100 feet of full width storage
with appropriate transitions.

• Provide an exclusive southbound right-turn lane with a minimum of 100 feet of storage with
appropriate deceleration taper.

• Construct the Site Access 1 (from Mebane Oaks Road) with one ingress lane and two egress lanes
striped as one left-turn lane with 180’ of full width storage and one right-turn lane as shown on
the site plan.

• Provide an internal protected system (IPS) of 580’ as shown on the site plan to ensure acceptable
operations with additional traffic growth and potential addition of the 4th leg of the intersection as
shown on the adopted Mebane Oaks Road Small Area Plan.

With the loss of dwelling units and the addition of commercial space, the applicant revised the TIA for the 
development. The updates to the TIA are subject to review and approval by the NCDOT. City staff have 
discussed the changes with the District Engineer and no significant changes to the provided 
recommendations are expected. 

Financial Impact 
The developer will be required to make all of the improvements at his own expense. 

Suggested Motion 
1. Motion to approve the R-8(CD) zoning as presented.

2. Motion to find that the application is consistent with the objectives and goals in the City’s 2017
Comprehensive Land Development Plan Mebane By Design. Specifically, the request:

 Is for a property within the City’s G-4 Secondary Growth Area and is generally residential in nature
(Mebane CLP, p. 66).

 Allows for the integration of a community facility, consistent with Growth Management Goal 1.4
(p. 17 & 83)

OR 

3. Motion to deny the R-8(CD) rezoning as presented due to a lack of

a. Harmony with the surrounding zoning or land use
OR 



A g e n d a  I t e m  c o n t i n u e d P a g e  | 6 

b. Consistency with the objectives and goals in the City’s 2017 Comprehensive Land Development 
Plan Mebane By Design.

Attachments 
1. Preliminary Presentation Slides – click here to download.
2. Zoning Amendment Application
3. Zoning Map
4. Site Plan – click here to download.
5. Planning Project Report
6. Preliminary Water and Sewer System Approval Letter
7. Technical Memorandum – City Engineering Review
8. Traffic Impact Analysis – click here to download.

a. NCDOT Review of TIA
b. VHB Review of TIA

https://cityofmebane.sharefile.com/d-s68554a80aa0d48848469ccf5e484592f
https://cityofmebane.sharefile.com/d-s68554a80aa0d48848469ccf5e484592f
https://cityofmebane.sharefile.com/d-s052adcf1e29d4c0eae774ad496a29706




Alamance County GIS
Alamance County GIS Department

Heavy Industrial Development Applicants

APPLIED FOR PERMIT

PERMIT APPROVED

PERMIT RENEWED

UNDER CONSTRUCTION

July 12, 2023

 
 

Owner Name: EVOLVE MEBANE OAKS LLC
 

10-23-48
9824020553
GREENSBORO, NC 27408
2918 A MARTINSVILLE ROAD

GPIN:
PID:

DISCLAIM ER:
The datasets and m aps available are not survey grade or a legal
 document .  They are a best approxim ation of what is on the
 ground, but do contain errors.  The data com es f rom  various
 sources nat ionally,  the state of  North Carolina, and here in
 Alam ance County.  Al amance County wi ll not  be held responsible
 for the misuse, misrepresentation,  or m isinterpretat ion of the data or
 maps.   T hese maps and data are a service provi ded for the benefit
 for A lam ance County c it izens.   We constantly st rive to improve the
 qualit y and expand the am ount of data and m aps avail able.

ALAMANCE CO UNT Y shall  assum e no liabili ty  for any errors,
 omi ssions, or inaccuracies i n the inform ation provi ded regardl ess of
 how caused; or any decisi on m ade or acti on taken or not taken by
 user in rel iance upon any i nformat ion or data furnished hereunder.
 The user knowingly wai ves any and all cl aims for dam ages against
 any and all of  the ent iti es com pris ing the Al amance County GIS
 System  that may arise f rom the mapping data. Date: 7/12/2023

0 0.05 0.1 mi

µ





The site plan for this project can
be accessed and downloaded
through the following link:
https://cityofmebane.sharefile.com
/d-sd542d54d6e8f4a289a912365fa
7bf387.

https://cityofmebane.sharefile.com/d-sd542d54d6e8f4a289a912365fa7bf387


 

PAGE 1 

PLANNING PROJECT REPORT 
DATE 07/10/2023, edited 08/02/2023 
PROJECT NUMBER RZ 23-05 
PROJECT NAME Evolve at Mebane Oaks  

APPLICANT 
Mebane Housing, LLC / Evolve Mebane Oaks, LLC 
2918-A / 4918-A Martinsville Road 
Greensboro, NC 27408 

 

CONTENTS 
PROJECT NAME & APPLICANT ........................................................................................... PAGE 1 
ZONING REPORT ............................................................................................................... PAGE 2 
LAND USE REPORT ............................................................................................................ PAGE 4 
UTILITIES REPORT .............................................................................................................. PAGE 7 
STAFF ZONING REQUEST RECOMMENDATION .................................................................. PAGE 9



 

PAGE 2 

ZONING REPORT 
EXISTING ZONE R-20, Residential and B-2, General Business 
REQUESTED ACTION R-8 (CD) (Residential Conditional District) 
CONDITIONAL ZONE? YES   NO 
CURRENT LAND USE Single-Family Residential and Vacant Land 
PARCEL SIZE  +/- 60.241 acres 

PROPERTY OWNERS 

Mebane Housing, LLC / Evolve Mebane Oaks, LLC 
2918-A / 4918-A Martinsville Road 
Greensboro, NC 27408 
GPINs: 9824020553, 9814921385, 9814920726, 9814824291, 9814727217, & 
9814823848 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

Request to rezone six (6) properties (GPINs 9824020553, 9814921385, 9814920726, 
9814824291, 9814727217, & 9814823848), totaling +/- 60.241 acres and located 
with frontages on Mebane Oaks Road, Broadwood Acres Road, and Longleaf Pine 
Place, from R-20 and B-2 to R-8 (CD) to allow for a Planned Unit Development 
featuring 96 95 single-family residences, +/- 13,000 square feet of commercial space 
fronting Mebane Oaks Road, and 320 294 apartments by Mebane Housing, LLC and 
Evolve Mebane Oaks, LLC. 

AREA ZONING & DISTRICTS 

The properties to the north are zoned B-2 (CD), B-2, and R-20. The properties to the 
east, across Mebane Oaks Road, are zoned R-20 and R-8. The properties to the south 
are zoned B-2 (CD), R-20, and R-8 (CD). The properties to the west are zoned R-12, R-
8 (CD), and B-2.   

SITE HISTORY 
Five of the lots were previously improved with single-family residences, built 
between 1965 and 1998. The remaining lot has historically been vacant.  

STAFF ANALYSIS 
CITY LIMITS? YES   NO  
PROPOSED USE BY-RIGHT? YES   NO  
SPECIAL USE? YES   NO 
EXISTING UTILITIES?  YES   NO 

POTENTIAL IMPACT OF 
PROPOSED ZONE 

The proposed rezoning is consistent with the R-8 (CD) and R-12 zoning to the west of 
the subject property. The proposed development will increase the residential density 
of this area, but it will also improve road network connections between 
developments on the north side of Old Hillsborough Road and on the west side of 
Mebane Oaks Road.   



 

PAGE 3 
 



 

PAGE 4 

 
LAND USE REPORT 

EXISTING LAND USE Single-Family Residential and Vacant Land 

PROPOSED LAND USE & 
REQUESTED ACTION 

The applicant is requesting to rezone six (6) properties, totaling +/- 60.241 
acres and located with frontages on Mebane Oaks Road, Broadwood Acres 
Road, and Longleaf Pine Place, from R-20 and B-2 to R-8 (CD) to allow for a 
Planned Unit Development featuring 96 95 single-family residences, +/- 
13,000 square feet of commercial space fronting Mebane Oaks Road, and 
320 294 apartments by Mebane Housing, LLC and Evolve Mebane Oaks, 
LLC. 

PROPOSED ZONING R-8 (CD) (Residential Conditional District) 
PARCEL SIZE +/- 60.241 acres 

AREA LAND USE 

The subject property is located just south of the Garrett Crossing shopping 
plaza, which includes a Walmart and a number of restaurants, retail stores, 
and services. There is also a retail store east of the property, across 
Mebane Oaks Road. The other surrounding properties are developed with a 
church and single-family residences. The proposed development includes a 
connection to the existing Arbor Creek neighborhood. 

ONSITE AMENITIES & DEDICATIONS 

The multi-family portion of the development will include the following 
amenities:  

• Community Clubhouse with Complimentary Wi-fi 
• Complementary Starbucks Coffee  
• Business Center with complimentary printing 
• Game Room with billiard table/games (vary depending on the space—air 

hockey, ping pong, etc.) 
• 24-hour state of the art fitness center with Precor equipment 
• 24-hour Yoga Studio 
• Resort Style saltwater swimming pool with in-pool loungers  
• Pool house with outdoor seating, fireplace, and TV for entertainment 
• Grilling Pavilion  
• Playground with rubber turf 
• 2 Pet Wash stations (one indoor, one outdoor) 
• 2 Fenced Bark Parks with artificial turf and agility equipment  
• Bike storage  
• Luxer Package Room 
• Electric Car Charging Stations 

 
A community recreation area is proposed in the single-family section of the 
development, which includes a pickleball court, a shade pavilion, 
permanent cornhole, a playground, walking trails, a pedestrian bridge, and 
a community garden. This community recreation area is proposed to be 
accessible to residents of both the single-family and multi-family sections of 
the development.  
 



 

PAGE 5 

A 5’ wide sidewalk will be constructed on Mebane Oaks Road. The applicant 
has also indicated that a connection to the Garrett Crossing shopping plaza 
will be provided. All internal roads within the development will include 5’ 
wide sidewalks. Sidewalk is proposed on both sides of Broadwood Acres 
Road and on one side of all other roads. Traffic calming is provided on 
Broadwood Acres Road with grassed medians and a traffic circle. A traffic 
calming device is also proposed on Longleaf Pine Place near the connection 
to the existing Arbor Creek subdivision. 
 
The applicant has also committed to dedicating a +/- 7.43 acre lot to the 
City for future development at the City’s discretion.  

CONDITIONAL ZONE? YES   NO 

DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSED 
CONDITIONS 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The applicant has requested as a condition of the zone district that the 
maximum building height of the apartment buildings is 60 feet. The Unified 
Development Ordinance states that the maximum building height for multi-
family dwellings in the R-8 Zone District is 50 feet.  Since the Planning Board 
meeting, the applicant has confirmed with their architect and with Planning 
staff that the multi-family buildings will not exceed 50’ in building height. 
 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Unified Development Ordinance, this 
development is required to provide 11.83 acres of public recreation space, 
5.51 acres of private recreation space, and 7.34 acres of open space. The 
applicant has proposed to provide 1. 77 acres of private recreation and 7.08 
acres of open space. As a condition of the zone district, the applicants have 
requested that the City accept the dedication of a +/- 7.43 acre lot for 
future development in lieu of the required public recreation space and 
remaining private recreation and open space requirements. With the 
reduction in density and the addition of a community recreation area, the 
applicant is now meeting requirements for open space and private 
recreation area. As allowed by the Mebane UDO, the applicant has 
proposed to dedicate a +/- 7.44-acre lot to the City of Mebane and provide 
payment in lieu of the remaining +/- 3.73 acres of required public 
recreation area. The payment-in-lieu totals $255,457. 
 
As a condition of the approval of the apartments, buildings 1 and 2 sewer 
flow will be allocated in year 2024 and buildings 3 and 4 in 2025. While this 
exceeds the requirements of the Accumulated Paper Flow Policy staff is 
agreeable to this developer request due to the number of units in each 
building not fitting the policy and the timing at which the developer intends 
to construct these buildings (earlier tributary flow at a lesser amount than 
accumulated permitted paper flow at a higher amount over several years). 
 



 

PAGE 6 

  

CONSISTENCY WITH MEBANE BY DESIGN STRATEGY 
LAND USE GROWTH STRATEGY 
DESIGNATION(S) 

G-4 Secondary 
 

OTHER LAND USE CONSIDERATIONS Mebane Oaks Road Small Area Plan 

MEBANE BY DESIGN GOALS & 
OBJECTIVES SUPPORTED 

Goal 1.4: Ensure that adequate community facilities are integrated into new 
development to reduce distances to parks, schools, and community 
centers. 

MEBANE BY DESIGN GOALS & 
OBJECTIVES NOT SUPPORTED 

 



 

PAGE 7 
 



 

PAGE 8 

UTILITIES REPORT 
AVAILABLE UTILITIES YES   NO 

PROPOSED UTILITY NEEDS 

Per the memorandum from Franz Holt of AWCK, the anticipated 
water use for the proposed development is 60,000 gallons per 
day. The permitted wastewater use is 83,500 gallons per day 
with the actual use when tributary is closer to 50,000 gallons 
per day. The development will connect to Mebane’s existing 12-
inch water line on Mebane Oaks Road and extend a new 12-inch 
public water line to the existing networks on Broadwood Acres 
Road to the north and Longleaf Pine Place to the west with 8-
inch public water lines elsewhere in public road rights-of-way. 
Water service to the proposed apartments will be through an 8-
inch metered connection with backflow prevention installed at 
the meter and at each building. The project will also extend a 
12-inch public sewer line from the Summit Church property 
through the site ending near the northern property line. 
Additionally, the developer will extend 8-inch public sewer lines 
in new road rights-of-way to serve the proposed single-family 
subdivision and 8-inch private sewer lines to serve the proposed 
apartments. 
 
The revised site plan, which now includes commercial space, is 
anticipated to use less than or equal to the amount of water and 
wastewater as originally reviewed. 

UTILITIES PROVIDED BY APPLICANT Applicant has pledged to provide all on-site utilities, as 
described in AWCK’s Technical Memo. 

MUNICIPAL CAPACITY TO ABSORB 
PROJECT  

The City has adequate water & sewer supply to meet the 
domestic and fire flow demands of the project.  

CONSISTENCY WITH MEBANE LONG 
RANGE UTILITY PLAN? 

YES   NO 

ADEQUATE STORMWATER 
CONTROL? 

YES   NO 
 

INNOVATIVE STORMWATER 
MANAGEMENT? 

YES   NO 

TRANSPORTATION NETWORK STATUS 

CURRENT CONDITIONS 

The subject property is located on the west side of Mebane 
Oaks Road and the primary entrance to the subdivision will be 
from there. The development will extend Broadwood Acres 
Road to connect with Mebane Oaks Road. It will also include 
roadway connections to the Arbor Creek Subdivision to the west 
and the Garrett Crossing shopping plaza to the north.  



 

PAGE 9 

 
This section of Mebane Oaks Road had an average daily traffic 
volume of 26,000 trips in 2021. It has a combined safety score 
of 56. From 2018 to 2022, there were a total of 79 crashes in 
this section, but none with fatal or severe injuries. North of the 
site, the NCDOT is currently improving Mebane Oaks Road. 
South of the site, the NCDOT has recently installed a traffic 
signal at the intersection of Mebane Oaks and Old Hillsborough. 

TRAFFIC IMPACT ANALYSIS 
REQUIRED? 

YES   NO 

DESCRIPTION OF RECOMMENDED 
IMPROVEMENTS 

The developer is required to make the following improvements: 
• Coordinate with NCDOT to develop a coordination and 

timing plan for the signals along Mebane Oaks Road. 
• Install a traffic signal at the site access on Mebane Oaks 

Road with the first phase of development. 
• Provide an exclusive northbound left-turn lane with a 

minimum of 100 feet of full width storage with 
appropriate transitions. 

• Provide an exclusive southbound right-turn lane with a 
minimum of 100 feet of storage with appropriate 
deceleration taper. 

• Construct the Site Access 1 (from Mebane Oaks Road) 
with one ingress lane and two egress lanes striped as 
one left-turn lane with 180’ of full width storage and 
one right-turn lane as shown on the site plan. 

• Provide an internal protected system (IPS) of 580’ as 
shown on the site plan to ensure acceptable operations 
with additional traffic growth and potential addition of 
the 4th leg of the intersection as shown on the adopted 
Mebane Oaks Road Small Area Plan.  
 

With the loss of dwelling units and the addition of commercial 
space, the applicant revised the TIA for the development. The 
updates to the TIA are subject to review and approval by the 
NCDOT. City staff have discussed the changes with the District 
Engineer and no significant changes to the provided 
recommendations are expected. 

CONSISTENCY WITH THE MEBANE 
BICYCLE AND PEDESTRIAN 
TRANSPORTATION PLAN? 

 
YES   NO 
 



 

PAGE 10 

MULTIMODAL IMPROVEMENTS 
PROVIDED BY APPLICANT? 

YES   NO 

DESCRIPTION OF MULTIMODAL 
IMPROVEMENTS 

The applicant is required to construct a sidewalk for the length 
of the property on Mebane Oaks Road and sidewalks will be 
provided throughout the development. Bike racks will also be 
provided in accordance with UDO requirements. 

 
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
STAFF ZONING 
RECOMMENDATION  

 APPROVE    DISAPPROVE 

STAFF SPECIAL USE FINDING 
 CONSISTENT    NOT CONSISTENT………………..WITH MEBANE 
BY DESIGN 

RATIONALE 

The proposed development “Evolve at Mebane Oaks” is 
consistent with the guidance provided within Mebane By Design, 
the Mebane Comprehensive Land Development Plan. The project 
includes an extension of Broadwood Acres Road that is consistent 
with the Mebane Oaks Road Small Area Plan and it is in harmony 
with surrounding uses. 

 



W W W . C I T Y O F M E B A N E . C O M 

 

July 11, 2023 

 
Mr. Aden Stoltzfus, P.E. 
Stoltzfus Engineering Inc. 
683 Gralin Street 
Kernersville, NC 27284 

Subject: Evolve at Mebane Oaks – Water and Sewer System Layout 

Dear Mr. Stoltzfus: 

Regarding the Preliminary Site Plans for Evolve at Mebane Oaks and in accordance with the UDO, this memo 
indicates that I have reviewed the preliminary water and sewer system layout and find it acceptable meeting City 
standards based on the following:   
 
A. Water system – The developer proposes to connect to Mebane’s existing 12-inch water line on Mebane Oaks 

Road and extending a new 12-inch public water line to existing Broadwood Acres Road to the north and 
Longleaf Pine Place to the west with 8-inch public water lines elsewhere in public road rights-of-way. Water 
service to the proposed apartments will be through an 8-inch metered connection with backflow prevention 
installed at the meter and at each building. The anticipated water use is approximately 60,000 gallons per 
day. The City has adequate water capacity available to meet the project’s domestic demand and fire flow 
requirements. 
 

B. Sanitary Sewer system – The developer proposes to extend a 12-inch public sewer line from the Summit 
Church property through the site ending near the northern property line (to allow for further future extension 
by the City when it chooses to eliminate the public Wal-Mart sewer pump station). Additionally, the developer 
will extend 8-inch public sewer lines in new road rights-of-way to serve the proposed single family lot 
subdivision and 8-inch private sewer lines to serve the proposed apartments. Permitted wastewater flows are 
approximately 83,500 gallons per day with actual use when tributary closer to 50,000 gpd). The City has 
adequate wastewater capacity available at the downstream Southeast Regional Pump Station, Arbor Creek 
Pump Station and at the WRRF to meet this demand. 

 

As a condition of the approval of the apartments, buildings 1 and 2 sewer flow will be allocated in year 2024 and 
buildings 3 and 4 in 2025. While this exceeds the requirements of the Accumulated Paper Flow Policy staff is 
agreeable to this developer request due to the number of units in each building not fitting the policy and the 
timing at which the developer intends to construct these buildings (earlier tributary flow at a lesser amount than 
accumulated permitted paper flow at a higher amount over several years). 
   
If there are any questions, please let me know. 
Sincerely, 

 
Franz K. Holt, P.E. City Engineer 
CC: Ashley Ownbey, Dev. Director and Kyle Smith, Utilities Director 

 
CITY OF MEBANE       106 East Washington Street  |  Mebane, NC 27302      919 563 5901          fholt@cityofmebane.com 

http://www/
mailto:fholt@cityofmebane.com


  

CITY OF MEBANE  106 East Washington Street | Mebane, NC 27302   (919) 563 5901   fholt@cityofmebane.com  

WWW . C I T Y OF M E B A N E . COM  

Technical Memorandum              

Date: July 11, 2023 

To: Ashley Ownbey, Development Director  

From: Franz Holt, P.E.  

Subject: Evolve at Mebane Oaks – City Engineering Department review  

  

City Engineering has reviewed Site Plans submitted for Evolve at Mebane Oaks dated July 7, 2023, prepared by 

Aden Stoltzfus, P.E. with Stoltzfus Engineering Inc. Our technical review comments are as follows: 

A. General Summary 

1. The 60.241-acre site is proposed to be developed as single-family (96 lots), multifamily apartments 

(320), and includes a dedication of land to the City of Mebane for future use. 

2. On-site stormwater controls are proposed to meet standard treatment requirements and exceed 

standard storm water detention requirements.  

3. City of Mebane public water and sewer lines are accessible for extension to the proposed single-family 

subdivision and apartments.   

4. Street Access is with a public roadway connection to Mebane Oaks Road (signalized with turn lanes), 

a connection to Broadwood Acres Road and Longleaf Pine Place.  Street stubs are proposed to 

adjoining properties.  The roadway network is in conformance with the small area thoroughfare plan 

with the extension of Broadwood Acres Road to Mebane Oaks Road.  Traffic calming is provided with 

a roundabout centrally located within the proposed development. 

5. Sidewalks are proposed on one side of all public streets within the single-family subdivision.  

Broadwood Acres Road extension will have a sidewalk on each side of the road.  A sidewalk will also 

be extended along the property frontage on Mebane Oaks Road. 

6. NCDOT plan approvals, driveway permits, and encroachment agreements are required for the 

proposed improvements at Mebane Oaks Road (S.R. 1007). 

B. Availability of City Water and Sewer  

Regarding the Preliminary Site Plans for Evolve at Mebane Oaks and in accordance with the UDO, this 

memo indicates that I have reviewed the preliminary water and sewer system layout and find it acceptable 

and meets City standards based on the following:   



  

CITY OF MEBANE  106 East Washington Street | Mebane, NC 27302   (919) 563 5901   fholt@cityofmebane.com  

WWW . C I T Y OF M E B A N E . COM  

1. Water system – The developer proposes to connect to Mebane’s existing 12-inch water line on 

Mebane Oaks Road and extending a new 12-inch public water line to existing Broadwood Acres Road 

to the north and Longleaf Pine Place to the west with 8-inch public water lines elsewhere in public 

road rights-of-way. Water service to the proposed apartments will be through an 8-inch metered 

water connection with backflow prevention installed at the meter and at each building. The 

anticipated water use is approximately 60,000 gallons per day. The City has adequate water capacity 

available to meet the project’s domestic demand and fire flow requirements. 

2. Sanitary Sewer system – The developer proposes to extend a 12-inch public sewer line from the 

Summit Church property through the site ending near the northern property line (to allow for further 

future extension by the City when it chooses to eliminate the public Wal-Mart sewer pump station). 

Additionally, the developer will extend 8-inch public sewer lines in new road rights-of-way to serve 

the proposed single family lot subdivision and 8-inch private sewer lines to serve the proposed 

apartments. Permitted wastewater flows are approximately 83,500 gallons per day with actual use 

when tributary closer to 50,000 gpd). The City has adequate wastewater capacity available at the 

downstream Southeast Regional Pump Station, Arbor Creek Pump Station and at the WRRF to meet 

this demand. 

3. As a condition of the approval of the apartments, buildings 1 and 2 sewer flow will be allocated in year 

2024 and buildings 3 and 4 in 2025. While this exceeds the requirements of the Accumulated Paper 

Flow Policy staff is agreeable to this developer request due to the number of units in each building not 

fitting the policy and the timing at which the developer intends to construct these buildings (earlier 

tributary flow at a lesser amount than accumulated permitted paper flow at a higher amount over 

several years). 

C. Watershed Overlay District and Phase II Stormwater Requirements  

1. UDO Watershed Overlay District requirements.  

These requirements in the UDO include the Back-Creek Watershed and Graham-Mebane Lake. The 

project is tributary to the Little Haw Creek; a Class V watershed and the Watershed Overlay District 



  

CITY OF MEBANE  106 East Washington Street | Mebane, NC 27302   (919) 563 5901   fholt@cityofmebane.com  

WWW . C I T Y OF M E B A N E . COM  

requirements do not apply to this project. This type of watershed classification (Class V) does not have 

density restrictions or built upon restrictions as required for the Graham Mebane Lake watershed.  

2. Phase II Stormwater Post Construction Ordinance  

Sec. 5.1 in the UDO provides standards for Storm Water Management and 5.1.F requires compliance 

with the Mebane Post Construction Runoff Ordinance (which is a stand-alone ordinance titled the 

Phase II Stormwater Post Construction Ordinance (SPCO)). The standards in the UDO are general 

standards as the Ordinance itself provides detailed standards.  The SPCO does apply to this project as 

more than one acre is being disturbed.  Built upon areas of more than 24% require engineered 

stormwater controls.  As this project exceeds the 24% threshold, proposed engineered stormwater 

controls are provided on the site plans and include fenced wet ponds (4) with detention being 

provided for up to a 100 yr. design storm event where post construction stormwater runoff peak 

discharges are no more than predevelopment discharge rates for the designed storm event. 

D. Storm Drainage System  

The UDO provides requirements for storm drainage systems. The site plans include a storm drainage 

system layout that indicates certain pipe locations, inlets, and all being directed to the engineered 

stormwater control devices where the stormwater runoff is treated and detained before release to 

downstream properties. The main drainage way crossing will be designed to carry a 100-year storm event 

without over topping the roadway. 

E. Street Access and TIA  

1. A TIA was required for this project with turn lane and signal improvement beings identified at Mebane 

Oaks Road (S.R. 1007).  Street Access is with a public roadway connection to Mebane Oaks Road, a 

connection to Broadwood Acres Road and Longleaf Pine Place.  Street stubs are proposed to adjoining 

properties.  The roadway network is in conformance with the small area thoroughfare plan with the 

extension of Broadwood Acres Road to Mebane Oaks Road.  Traffic calming is provided with a 

roundabout centrally located within the proposed development. 



  

CITY OF MEBANE  106 East Washington Street | Mebane, NC 27302   (919) 563 5901   fholt@cityofmebane.com  

WWW . C I T Y OF M E B A N E . COM  

2. Sidewalks are proposed on one side of all public streets within the single-family subdivision.  

Broadwood Acres Road extension will have a sidewalk on each side of the road.  A sidewalk will also 

be extended along the property frontage on Mebane Oaks Road. 

3. NCDOT plan approvals, driveway permits, and encroachment agreements are required by NCDOT for 

the proposed improvements at Mebane Oaks Road (S.R. 1007). 

4. The internal public streets will meet City of Mebane standards 31’ b-b curb and gutter with 26’ travel 

lanes and 5’ wide sidewalks. Broadwood Acres extension will have a minimum of 41’ b-b curb and 

gutter to the roundabout from Mebane Oaks Road and will include a divided median to restrict access.  

The divided median also provides additional traffic calming and a boulevard effect with a grass median 

(maintained by the development) with sidewalks on both sides of the roadway. 

F. Construction Plan Submittal  

The UDO requires final site construction plans to be submitted for TRC review and approval.  



The traffic impact analysis (TIA)
materials for this project can be accessed
and downloaded through the following
link:
https://cityofmebane.sharefile.com/d-sd5
42d54d6e8f4a289a912365fa7bf387.

https://cityofmebane.sharefile.com/d-sd542d54d6e8f4a289a912365fa7bf387








 

VHB Engineering NC, P.C. (C-3075) 
Engineers Scientists Planners Designers 
Venture I, 940 Main Campus Drive, Suite 500, Raleigh, North Carolina 27606 
P  919.829.0328 F  919.833.0034 www.vhb.com  

 

To: Ashley Ownbey  
Development Director 
City of Mebane 
 

Date: June 8, 2023 

C. N. Edwards Jr., PE 
District Engineer 
NCDOT Highway Division 7 District 1 Project #: 39160.00, Task 18 

 
 

From: Baohong Wan, PhD, PE Re: Mebane Oaks Mixed Use Traffic Impact Analysis  
Mebane, NC 

A Traffic Impact Analysis (TIA) dated April 20, 2023, was prepared by Ramey Kemp Associates (RKA) for the proposed 
Mebane Oaks Mixed Use development in Mebane, North Carolina.  Per request by the City of Mebane, VHB conducted 
an independent review of the Mebane Oaks Mixed Use TIA.  This memo provides a list of critical findings, following by 
an in-depth summary of study process and analysis results of the TIA. 

List of Mitigation Recommendations 
The following items in red font should be considered in addition to mitigation measures identified within the Mebane 
Oaks Mixed Use TIA (in black font): 
› Site Frontage along Mebane Oaks Road 

o Right-of-way (R/W) dedication and streetscape along site frontage of Mebane Oaks Road should be 
provided based on the City of Mebane Comprehensive Transportation Plan and Bicycle and Pedestrian 
Transportation Plan standards. 

o NCDOT requires sufficient R/W to accommodate required road improvements to mitigate traffic impacts 
attributable to the site based on the TIA.  Additional R/W or infrastructure requirements are subject to local 
regulation and authority by the City of Mebane. 

› Mebane Oaks Road and Site Drive #1 
o Construct Site Drive #1 with one ingress lane and two egress lanes striped as one left-turn lane with at 

least 175 feet of full width storage and one right-turn lane as shown on the site plan. 
o Provide an internal protected stem (IPS) of at least 580 feet for the eastbound approach as shown on the 

site plan to ensure acceptable operations with additional traffic growth and potential addition of the 4th 
leg of the intersection as shown on the Adopted Mebane Oaks Road Small Area Plan. 

o Provide an exclusive northbound left-turn lane with at least 100 feet of storage with appropriate 
deceleration and taper. 

o Provide an exclusive southbound right-turn lane with at least 100 feet of storage with appropriate 
deceleration and taper. 

o Install a traffic signal based on NCDOT and the City of Mebane’s signal design standards. 
› Mebane Oaks Road Corridor 

o Coordinate with NCDOT to develop a coordination and timing plan for signals along Mebane Oaks Road.  



Ref:  39160.00, Task 18 
June 8, 2023 
Page 2 
 
 

Engineers Scientists Planners Designers 
Venture I, 940 Main Campus Drive, Suite 500, Raleigh, North Carolina 27606 
P  919.829.0328 F  919.833.0034 www.vhb.com 

 

General Comments 
Wilson Road Extension 

› The Wilson Road Extension was included in the Synchro analysis files and is shown in the TIA figures; however, 
the TIA report does not project traffic volumes for Wilson Road Extension.  Based on site plan included for 
Tractor Supply, Wilson Road Extension will be made to the existing terminus to serve as a secondary access.  
Trip Distribution 
› Part of site trips to and from Old Hillsborough Road will likely access the site via Sweet Gum Way rather than 

going through to Mebane Oaks Road via the Old Hillsborough Road intersection. 
Synchro Capacity Analysis  
› The NBL movement at the I-40 WB/ I-85 SB Ramps intersection was operating with FYA protected-permitted 

phasing before a second turn lane was provided and phasing was altered to protected only. 
› The intersection of Old Hillsborough Road and Mebane Oaks Road was analyzed with a traffic signal with split 

phasing under the 2023 scenario, although the TIA stated that this intersection is under all-way stop control 
under the existing conditions.   

› The 2023 Existing analysis included some inconsistencies with U-turn movement and right-turn movement 
modeling that did not match field conditions. 

› The 2026 No-Build and 2026 Build scenarios analyze the intersection of Old Hillsborough Road and Mebane 
Oaks Road with a 200 second cycle length. Cycle lengths over 180 seconds are not normally recommended for 
TIA analysis, and the natural cycle length shown in both scenarios is significantly lower.   

› The Lost Time Adjust values at multiple intersections are not set according to the NCDOT guidance (Yellow + 
Red + LTA = 5 seconds).   

Issues with volume calculation and capacity analysis were noted during the TIA review process. Nevertheless, those 
revisions are not expected to materially change anticipated outcomes and required mitigation. 

Summary of TIA Assumptions and Results  

Development Plan 
The proposed Mebane Oaks Mixed Use development will consist of 96 single-family homes, 320 apartment units, and 
1 police station with 35 employees.  Site access will be provided via one (1) full movement driveway along Mebane 
Oaks Road, one (1) connection from Broadwood Acres Road, and one (1) connection via the Manorfield Development.  
The anticipated project build-out year is 2026. 

Study Area and Analysis Scenarios 
The TIA included capacity analyses during the weekday AM and PM peak hours under the following scenarios: 
› 2023 Existing Conditions 
› 2026 No-Build Conditions 
› 2026 Build Conditions 

Through coordination with NCDOT and the City of Mebane, the following intersections were analyzed in the TIA: 
› Mebane Oaks Road and I-40 WB/ I-85 SB Ramps (signalized) 
› Mebane Oaks Road and I-40 EB/ I-85 NB Ramps (signalized) 



Ref:  39160.00, Task 18 
June 8, 2023 
Page 3 
 
 

Engineers Scientists Planners Designers 
Venture I, 940 Main Campus Drive, Suite 500, Raleigh, North Carolina 27606 
P  919.829.0328 F  919.833.0034 www.vhb.com 

 

› Mebane Oaks Road and Brundage Lane/ Forest Oaks Lane (signalized) 
› Mebane Oaks Road and Walmart Driveway (signalized) 
› Mebane Oaks Road and Old Hillsborough Road (signalized) 
› Old Hillsborough Road and Sweet Gum Way (unsignalized) 
› Brundage Lane and Broadwood Acres Road (unsignalized) 

Existing and No-Build Analysis Assumptions 
2023 Existing analysis was conducted based on traffic counts collected in February 2023 during weekday AM (7 to 9 
AM) and PM (4 to 6 PM) peak hours while area schools were in session. 
The 2026 No-Build scenario included an annual growth rate of one percent (1%) between the existing year (2023) and 
the future analysis year (2026).  In addition, site trips due to the following adjacent development were identified and 
included in the future year analyses: 
› Deep River 
› Tractor Supply 
› The Meadows 
› Summit Church 
› Meadowstone Townhomes 
› McKays Book Store 

 
Transportation improvements associated with NCDOT TIP I-5711 (I-85/I-40 at Mebane Oaks Road interchange 
improvements and additional through lanes) and SM-5707B (traffic signal and turn lane improvements at Old 
Hillsborough Road/Mebane Oaks Road) were assumed in the future year (2026) analysis.  

Trip Generation & Distribution 
Trip generation potential was determined based on methodology outlined in the ITE Trip Generation Manual, 11th 
Edition.  ITE Land Use Code (LUC) 210 (Single-Family Detached Housing), LUC 221 (Multifamily Housing (Mid-Rise)), and 
LUC 730 (Government Office Building) were used based on the NCDOT guidance.  Site trips associated with the police 
station were calculated based on employee shifts.  It is expected that 25 employees will work the day shift, and 10 
employees will work the night shift; therefore, trips associated with the 10 night-shift employees were applied to the 
opposite peak hour.  Based on the TIA, the proposed development is expected to generate 2,797 daily site trips with 
247 site trips (78 entering, 169 exiting) occurring in the AM peak hour and 263 site trips (157 entering, 106 exiting) 
occurring in the PM peak hour.  
 
Traffic assignment was conducted based on the following distribution: 
› 35% to/from the east via I-40 EB/ I-85 NB 
› 30% to/from the west via I-40 WB/ I-85 SB 
› 15% to/from the north via Mebane Oaks Road 
› 10% to/from the south via Mebane Oaks Road 
› 10% to/from the west via Old Hillsborough Road 



Ref:  39160.00, Task 18 
June 8, 2023 
Page 4 
 
 

Engineers Scientists Planners Designers 
Venture I, 940 Main Campus Drive, Suite 500, Raleigh, North Carolina 27606 
P  919.829.0328 F  919.833.0034 www.vhb.com 

 

Intersection Capacity Analysis Results 
Capacity analyses in the TIA were conducted following the NCDOT Congestion Management Capacity Analysis 
Guidelines.  The analysis results and mitigation determinations are summarized below for each individual intersection, 
while LOS and delay are reported and summarized for stop-controlled approaches at unsignalized intersections.   

Mebane Oaks Road and I-40 WB/ I-85 SB Ramps (signalized) 

The TIA indicated that with transportation improvements associated with NCDOT TIP I-5711, this intersection is expected 
to operate at LOS C during both peak hours under the 2026 conditions, with or without the proposed development.  No 
mitigation was recommended within the TIA as the intersection is expected to operate acceptably with no delay or 
queueing issues with the addition of site traffic.   

Mebane Oaks Road and I-40 EB/ I-85 NB Ramps (signalized) 

 
The TIA indicated that with transportation improvements associated with NCDOT TIP I-5711, this intersection is expected 
to operate at LOS C during both peak hours under the 2026 conditions, with or without the proposed development.  No 
mitigation was recommended within the TIA as the intersection is expected to operate acceptably with no delay or 
queueing issues with the addition of site traffic.   

Mebane Oaks Road and Brundage Lane/ Forest Oaks Lane (signalized) 

 
The TIA indicated that with transportation improvements associated with NCDOT TIP I-5711, this intersection is expected 
to operate at LOS B or C during both peak hours under the 2026 conditions, with or without the proposed development.  
No mitigation was recommended within the TIA as the intersection is expected to operate acceptably with no delay or 
queueing issues with the addition of site traffic, although there is slight delay reduction under the Build with 
Improvements scenario, likely due to better traffic progression with signal timing re-optimization along Mebane Oaks 
Road.   

AM PM AM PM AM PM AM PM
Mebane Oaks Road and I-40 WB/ I-85 SB 
Ramps

C
(20.3)

C
(27.7)

C
(23.5)

C
(28.9)

C
(24.9)

C
(32.1)

C
(25.0)

C
(31.2)

Westbound D-46.5 D-46.5 D-51.3 D-51.0 D-50.4 E-55.0 D-50.3 D-49.9
Northbound B-13.9 B-18.2 B-15.1 B-15.7 B-17.6 B-19.3 B-17.1 B-17.6
Southbound B-15.4 C-24.5 B-18.9 C-26.5 C-20.3 C-28.2 C-21.0 C-31.4

2026 Build with 
Improvements

1

ID Intersection and Approach 2023 Existing 2026 No-Build 2026 Build

AM PM AM PM AM PM AM PM
Mebane Oaks Road and I-40 EB/ I-85 NB 
Ramps

C
(27.8)

C
(31.4)

C
(26.7)

C
(21.9)

C
(27.0)

C
(20.7)

C
(23.4)

C
(20.2)

Eastbound D-50.7 D-47.3 D-41.8 D-44.3 D-41.8 D-44.1 D-42.8 D-44.4
Northbound B-13.3 B-19.5 C-23.1 B-15.4 C-24.9 B-13.0 B-15.4 B-11.5
Southbound C-21.9 C-34.1 B-16.8 B-15.6 B-15.8 B-14.9 B-16.2 B-15.0

2026 Build with 
ImprovementsID

2

2026 BuildIntersection and Approach 2023 Existing 2026 No-Build

AM PM AM PM AM PM AM PM
Mebane Oaks Road and Brundage Lane/ 
Forest Oaks Lane

C
(31.8)

C
(30.3)

C
(20.0)

B
(19.1)

C
(20.3)

C
(20.4)

C
(20.0)

B
(20.0)

Eastbound E-68.3 E-67.6 D-52.6 D-49.2 D-53.3 D-49.2 D-53.5 D-49.2
Westbound F-80.9 F-82.5 D-50.6 D-47.1 D-50.2 D-48.1 D-50.8 D-48.1
Northbound B-16.6 B-17.3 B-14.4 B-14.1 B-15.0 B-17.3 B-15.6 B-16.4
Southbound C-20.5 C-22.7 A-7.7 B-10.8 A-9.1 B-11.9 A-7.7 B-11.6

2026 Build with 
Improvements2023 Existing 2026 No-Build 2026 Build

ID Intersection and Approach

3



Ref:  39160.00, Task 18 
June 8, 2023 
Page 5 
 
 

Engineers Scientists Planners Designers 
Venture I, 940 Main Campus Drive, Suite 500, Raleigh, North Carolina 27606 
P  919.829.0328 F  919.833.0034 www.vhb.com 

 

Mebane Oaks Road and Walmart Drive (signalized) 

 
The TIA indicated that with transportation improvements associated with NCDOT TIP I-5711, this intersection is expected 
to operate at LOS B or C during both peak hours under the 2026 conditions, with or without the proposed development.  
No mitigation was recommended within the TIA as the intersection is expected to operate acceptably with no delay or 
queueing issues with the addition of site traffic, although there is slight delay changes under the Build with 
Improvements scenario, likely due to signal timing re-optimization along Mebane Oaks Road.   

Mebane Oaks Road and Old Hillsborough Road (signalized) 

 
The TIA indicated that with transportation improvements associated with SM-5707B, this intersection is expected to 
operate at LOS C during both peak hours under the 2026 conditions, with or without the proposed development.  The 
intersection is projected to operate at LOS F during both peak hours under the existing conditions, likely due to the use 
of split phasing along Old Hillsborough Road in the Synchro analysis.  No mitigation was recommended within the TIA 
as the intersection is expected to operate acceptably with no delay or queueing issues with the addition of site traffic.   

Old Hillsborough Road and Sweet Gum Way (unsignalized) 

 
The existing stop-controlled approach is expected to operate at LOS C or better during both peak hours under 2026 
Build conditions.  No mitigation was recommended within the TIA as the intersection is expected to operate acceptably 
with no delay or queueing issues with the addition of site traffic.   
 
Although part of site trips to and from Old Hillsborough Road will likely access the site via Sweet Gum Way rather than 
going through to Mebane Oaks Road via the Old Hillsborough Road intersection, the recommendations will likely remain 
the same as a dedicated left-turn lane along eastbound Old Hillsborough Road is already present at this intersection. 

AM PM AM PM AM PM AM PM
Mebane Oaks Road and Walmart 
Driveway

A
(9.6)

C
(20.9)

B
(13.8)

C
(25.4)

B
(13.2)

C
(23.1)

A
(8.7)

C
(24.3)

Eastbound D-44.0 D-41.5 D-51.1 D-50.6 D-51.1 D-53.8 E-55.6 D-52.9
Westbound --- --- D-39.0 D-39.1 D-39.0 D-47.0 --- D-40.0
Northbound A-2.3 A-5.0 A-8.5 B-12.2 A-8.9 A-9.1 A-2.8 B-10.9
Southbound A-6.9 B-14.1 A-9.0 B-15.6 A-9.0 B-12.7 A-5.1 B-15.2

2026 Build with 
Improvements2026 Build2026 No-Build

ID
2023 Existing

4

Intersection and Approach

AM PM AM PM AM PM AM PM
Mebane Oaks Road and Old Hillsborough 
Road

F
(211.3)

F
(169.2)

C
(22.6)

C
(22.9)

C
(23.9)

C
(24.6)

C
(24.4)

C
(20.9)

Eastbound F-636.2 F-481.4 B-14.4 B-16.1 B-14.8 B-16.8 D-39.6 C-33.0
Westbound C-23.3 C-24.0 C-32.6 C-34.7 D-35.1 D-38.4 D-49.8 D-48.9
Northbound D-39.0 F-114.4 C-32.4 D-35.1 C-34.5 D-38.0 B-16.9 C-22.2
Southbound C-22.6 E-66.9 B-15.3 B-14.7 B-16.7 B-15.8 A-5.0 A-3.6

2026 Build with 
Improvements2023 Existing

5

2026 Build
ID

2026 No-BuildIntersection and Approach

AM PM AM PM AM PM AM PM
Old Hillsborough Road and Sweet Gum 
Way N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Southbound B-12.2 B-13.7 B-13.6 C-15.5 B-13.9 C-15.9 B-13.9 C-15.9

2026 Build with 
Improvements2026 Build

6

ID Intersection and Approach 2023 Existing 2026 No-Build



Ref:  39160.00, Task 18 
June 8, 2023 
Page 6 
 
 

Engineers Scientists Planners Designers 
Venture I, 940 Main Campus Drive, Suite 500, Raleigh, North Carolina 27606 
P  919.829.0328 F  919.833.0034 www.vhb.com 

 

Brundage Lane and Broadwood Acres Road (unsignalized) 

 
The existing stop-controlled approach is expected to operate at LOS A during both peak hours under 2026 Build 
conditions.  No mitigation was recommended within the TIA as the intersection is expected to operate acceptably with 
no delay or queueing issues with the addition of site traffic.   

Mebane Oaks Road and Site Drive #1 (future unsignalized) 

 
The proposed driveway connection is expected to operate at LOS D during the AM peak hour and LOS E during the PM 
peak hour under 2026 Build conditions.  The TIA recommended the following improvements with the construction of 
the site driveway along Mebane Oaks Road: 
› Construct Site Drive #1 with one ingress lane and two egress lanes striped as one left-turn lane and one right-

turn lane with 100 feet of full width storage. 
› Provide an exclusive northbound left-turn lane with at least 100 feet of storage with appropriate deceleration 

and taper. 
› Provide an exclusive southbound right-turn lane with at least 100 feet of storage with appropriate deceleration 

and taper. 
› Monitor the intersection in the future as the development is constructed to determine if a traffic signal is 

warranted at the intersection.  A traffic signal must be approved by NCDOT for installation. 
› Provide an internal protected stem (IPS) of at least 150 feet for the eastbound approach. 

Signal warrant analysis indicates that a traffic signal is likely warranted at this intersection (meeting both Eight-Hour and 
Four-Hour Warrants, not meeting Peak Hour Warrant), and shifting Site Drive #1 to the south at the property boundary 
may be considered to achieve better intersection spacing.  Nevertheless, signalization at this location is consistent with 
the City of Mebane’s long-term vision through Mebane Oaks Road Small Area Plan, and installation of a new traffic 
signal at the planned location has been approved by NCDOT during the preliminary TIA review process. 
 
In addition to improvements associated with the new driveway connection, the TIA recommended to coordinate with 
NCDOT to develop a coordination and timing plan for the traffic signals along Mebane Oaks Road.  

AM PM AM PM AM PM AM PM
Brundage Lane and Broadwood Acres 
Road N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Northbound A-8.5 A-8.5 A-8.5 A-8.5 A-8.5 A-8.5 A-8.5 A-8.5

2026 Build with 
Improvements2026 Build

7

ID Intersection and Approach 2023 Existing 2026 No-Build

AM PM AM PM AM PM AM PM

Mebane Oaks Road and Site Drive #1 - - - - N/A N/A B
(11.8)

A
(7.4)

Eastbound --- --- --- --- D-31.3 E-39.0 D-53.9 D-54.7
Northbound --- --- --- --- --- --- A-3.1 A-2.1
Southbound --- --- --- --- --- --- A-4.1 A-4.8

2026 Build with 
Improvements2026 Build

8

ID Intersection and Approach 2023 Existing 2026 No-Build



 P a g e  | 1 

AGENDA ITEM #5E 
Condemnation of 608 Giles Street 

Meeting Date 
August 7, 2023 

Presenters 
Lawson Brown, City Attorney 
Cliff Ayscue, Chief Building Inspector 

Public Hearing 
Yes   No  

Summary 
The Inspections Department has determined that condemnation of the structure at the above location is  
necessary.  

Photo of Property 
  

 

  



A g e n d a  I t e m  c o n t i n u e d   P a g e  | 2 

Background 
The Inspections Department-Code Enforcement has determined by Order, dated January 12, 2022, that 
the premises located at the above address are unfit for human habitation, the continuation of the dwelling 
in its vacated and closed status would be inimical to the health, safety, morals and welfare of the City in 
that the dwelling will continue to deteriorate, would create a fire and safety hazard, would be a threat to 
children and vagrants, would attract persons intent on criminal activities, would cause  or contribute to 
blight and deterioration of property values in the area and would render unavailable the property and the 
dwelling which would otherwise been available to the public for housing.  The property owner has not 
performed any work on the dwelling in months, if not years.  A prior hearing was held on July 17, 2020, at 
which time no one appeared. On August 7, 2020, Mr. Riley, one of the owners, advised that he as hiring an 
engineer to assess with a structural building plan to follow. As of this date, no submittals of such material 
have been submitted to the City for consideration.  The City utility billings show no water or sewer service 
to the dwelling since 2018, when the city’s current accounting system was implemented.  Copies of 
photographs of the premises are attached.   The repair, alteration and/or improvement of the premises, 
would cost an amount equal to or more that fifty percent (50%) of the present value of the building.  

Financial Impact 
The City may incur demolition and other costs in remedying the situation, which costs are generally 
recoverable from the property owner.   

Recommendation 
Staff recommends that the Council adopt an ordinance directing the Building Inspector to demolish the 
building and charge the costs of such demolition and clean up against the real property upon which costs 
were incurred as a lien as provided by law, which lien shall have the priority and be collected or foreclosed 
upon as provided for assessments as by law allowed.    

Suggested Motion 
I move that the Building Inspector as Code Enforcer demolish the building on the property with the address 
of 608 Giles Street, Mebane, NC; that the costs of such demolition and clean up assessed as a lien on the 
property and collected in accordance with the applicable statutes as provided for assessments; that the 
Inspector post the property with a placard stating “This building is unfit for human habitation and the use 
and occupancy of this building is prohibited and unlawful”; and that a copy of this Ordinance be recorded 
in the Alamance County Registry.  

Attachments 
1. Notice of Hearing dated July 16, 2020 
2. Notice of Hearing dated December 16, 2021 
3. Letter notice Sonya Latta and Keith Riley (Keithriley@gmail.com) dated June 21, 2022 
4. Photographs of premises 
5. Ordinance of Condemnation  

 

mailto:Keithriley@gmail.com






From: Cliff Ayscue
To: Rebecca Knight
Subject: Fwd: 608 Giles Street Status - Structural Engineering Report
Date: Thursday, July 20, 2023 7:57:55 AM

Sent from my iPhone

Begin forwarded message:

From: "Cliff Ayscue" </O=EXCHANGELABS/OU=EXCHANGE
ADMINISTRATIVE GROUP
(FYDIBOHF23SPDLT)/CN=RECIPIENTS/CN=E68AE533E3DE4BDF8036A437C90E1FDA-
CAYSCUE>
Date: May 24, 2022 at 12:00:00 PM EDT
Subject: RE: 608 Giles Street Status - Structural Engineering Report


Mr. Riley,
 
Just checking in on the status of this property.
 
Cliff
 

From: Cliff Ayscue 
Sent: Thursday, March 24, 2022 3:26 PM
To: Keith Riley <keithiriley@gmail.com>
Cc: Laura Crouch <lcrouch@cityofmebane.com>; sonya_latta@yahoo.com; Lawson Brown
<lbrown@cityofmebane.com>
Subject: Re: 608 Giles Street Status - Structural Engineering Report
 
Mr. Riley,
 
Just checking in on the status of this property. 
 
Cliff
 
Sent from my iPhone

On Feb 24, 2022, at 1:15 PM, Keith Riley <keithiriley@gmail.com> wrote:


CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open
attachments unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.
 
Good afternoon, Laura.
 

mailto:cayscue@cityofmebane.com
mailto:rknight@cityofmebane.com
mailto:keithiriley@gmail.com


I hope all is well. I wanted to touch base with you regarding the status of the
report for the Structural Engineering Assessment that was conducted. Due to
inclement weather we had to reschedule the site visit for the property two (2)
separate times. We have recently met with the Engineering firm and conducted
the assessment of the property and have been promised a report. I inquired
about the status of the report this morning and am currently waiting for an
update, at which time I can schedule a call to review the findings with Mr.
Ayscue to establish a plan forward. I am presuming this email for Mr. Ayscue is
the correct one you provided to me during our previous meeting. I hope to have
the updated report to share within one week adhering to the current availability
of the Structural Engineer.
 
Please let me know if you have any questions that I might be able to readily
answer at this time.
 
Regards,
 
Keith I. Riley
Licensed Realtor, The Real Estate Experts
1 Thomas Circle, Suite 700, Washington, DC 20005
240-835-0271
336-512-6462
https://linktr.ee/KeithRiley
keithiriley@gmail.com
 
 
 
 

https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2flinktr.ee%2fKeithRiley&c=E,1,SIgwzoyVymkZD3KvpPvjTHl9ZcXC2JwDF2fhso5koH7Oyd4hl9AAx4tZqqAxej0nN5VDEliencQDZIsKDhXQoqVroazoJcYqkcSPLp1wwEL1&typo=1&ancr_add=1
mailto:keithiriley@gmail.com


6/29/23, 4:00 PM 14552522-Giles street front.jpg (4032×3024)

https://s3.amazonaws.com/iworq-upload/MEBANE/400/14552522-Giles street front.jpg 1/1



6/29/23, 4:01 PM 14552523-Giles street left side .jpg (3024×4032)

https://s3.amazonaws.com/iworq-upload/MEBANE/400/14552523-Giles street left side .jpg 1/1



6/29/23, 4:01 PM 14552525-Giles street rear.jpg (3024×4032)

https://s3.amazonaws.com/iworq-upload/MEBANE/400/14552525-Giles street rear.jpg 1/1



6/29/23, 4:01 PM 14552527-Giles street rght side .jpg (3024×4032)

https://s3.amazonaws.com/iworq-upload/MEBANE/400/14552527-Giles street rght side .jpg 1/1



6/29/23, 4:01 PM 14552530-giles street right side rear.jpg (3024×4032)

https://s3.amazonaws.com/iworq-upload/MEBANE/400/14552530-giles street right side rear.jpg 1/1



ORDINANCE FOR THE CONDEMNATION OF  
608 Giles Street, MEBANE, NC  

WHEREAS, the City Building Inspector cited Sonya Latta the record owner of 608 Giles Street, 
Mebane, NC (herein the “Dwelling” or “Property”) on two separate occasions; and  

WHEREAS, the Building Inspector ordered the property owner to repair and otherwise bring the 
Property in compliance with the Minimum Housing Standards; and  

WHEREAS, the property owner, despite sufficient time to do so, has not brought the Property into 
compliance with the Standards; and 

WHEREAS, the Property is vacated and closed, is deteriorated with no heat, boarded up as to the 
windows but not the entry doors, is inimical to the health, safety, morals and welfare of the City 
in that the dwelling will continue to deteriorate, would create a fire and safety hazard, would be a 
threat to children and vagrants, would attract persons intent on criminal activities, would cause 
or contribute to unfit and deterioration of property value in the area and would render the 
property as a dwelling which would have otherwise been available for affordable housing. 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council as to the Property and Dwelling located 
at 608 Giles Street, Mebane, NC orders that the dwelling shall be removed and demolished; and 
that all power and authority afforded by law, the Building Inspector or designee effectuate the 
purposes of Article 19, Part 6, of the NCGS 160A; and 

THAT, the costs of the demolition and clean up be charged against the Property as a lien and 
collected in accordance with the laws authorizing the collection of assessments; and 

THAT, the Inspector post the Property with a placard stating the following: “This building is unfit 
for human habitation; the use and occupancy of this building for human habitation is prohibited 
and unlawful”; and  

THAT, the Building Inspector record a copy of this Ordinance in the Alamance County Registry. 

THAT, provided however the Owner shall have ninety (90) days from August 7, 2023 to bring the 
property into compliance with the Minimum Housing Standards. 

This the 7th day of August, 2023. 

        ____________________________ 
        Ed Hooks, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

_________________________     (SEAL) 
Stephanie W. Shaw, City Clerk 



 

AGENDA ITEM #6 
Fund Balance Policy Revision 

Meeting Date 
August 7, 2023 

Presenter  
Chris Rollins, City Manager 
Daphna Schwartz, Finance Director 

Public Hearing 
Yes  No  

Summary 
The City Council has requested a revised Fund Balance Policy be presented for consideration. 

Background 
The City of Mebane’s first Fund Balance Policy was adopted by the City Council over six years ago on 
March 6, 2017. A Fund Balance Policy provides guidelines that are intended to achieve the goals of 
using resources wisely while maintaining the safety and liquidity of the City’s assets.   
 
A Fund Balance Policy defines the various designations of fund balance, describes when and how fund 
balance may be used, and provides guidelines for maintaining acceptable levels of fund balance. 
Finally, the policy describes steps to be taken in the event that fund balance falls below the levels 
adopted. The definitions, uses, and remedies are in keeping with generally accepted accounting 
procedures and the City’s past practices, so the key point to be considered in setting the policy is the 
acceptable level of fund balance. 
 
The recommendation is to adopt a target of unrestricted fund balance equal to at least 33% of 
operating expenses and transfers. A balance of 33% provides sufficient funds to meet day-to-day 
obligations, maintain the City’s credit rating, and provide for emergencies and opportunities that may 
arise. The minimum fund balance percentage recommended by the Local Government Commission is 
around eight percent or one month of operating funds. The table below shows the minimum fund 
balance threshold according to the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report of each municipality.  

Municipality Fund Balance % of expenditures minimum 
Holly Springs 20% 
Knightdale 25% 
Graham 30% 
Burlington 33% 
Hillsborough 33% 
Carrboro 35% 
Harrisburg 40% 
Mebane 50% 
Mount Holly N/A 
Hendersonville N/A 



A g e n d a  I t e m  c o n t i n u e d   P a g e  | 2 

The average, not including the City of Mebane, is approximately 31%. The City’s current policy is 50% 
of operating expenditures and transfers, which equates to six months of expenditures. Reducing the 
policy to 33% drops the months of fund balance to four months.  
 
Reducing the fund balance minimum will allow the City to remain financially stable and have more 
budgeting flexibility. 

Financial Impact 
There is no immediate financial impact.   

Recommendation 
Staff recommends the adoption of the revised Fund Balance Policy. 

Suggested Motion 
Motion to adopt the revised Fund Balance Policy. 

Attachments 

1.  Fund Balance Policy (revised) 



 

POLICY STATEMENT 
 

 

SUBJECT: Fund Balance Policy 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

PAGE 1 OF 3 

EFFECTIVE DATE: 
August 7, 2023 
SUPERSEDES:  
March 6, 2017, Policy 

PREPARED BY: 
Daphna Schwartz, Finance 
Director 
ADOPTED BY COUNCIL 
DATE: August 7, 2023 

 
Fund Balance Policy 

 
This Policy establishes a fund balance target for the General Fund and the Utility Fund. Fund 
balance and operating reserves are important to sustain financial stability in the event of 
emergencies, economic downturns, or other unforeseen circumstances.  Fund balance is a major 
factor considered by bond rating agencies and lending institutions when evaluating the City’s 
creditworthiness. 

 
General Fund 

 
Fund balance is the accumulated difference between a fund’s assets and liabilities. 

 
Based on GASB Statement 54, there may be up to five separate categories of fund balance based 
on the extent to which the City is bound to observe constraints imposed upon the use of the 
resources reported in the General Fund. An accounting distinction is made between the portions 
of governmental fund balance that is spendable and non-spendable. The total of the last three 
categories, which only include resources without a constraint on spending or for which the City 
itself imposes the constraint on funding, is termed unrestricted fund balance. The five 
categories are as follows: 

 
Non-spendable fund balance – includes amounts that are not in a spendable form 
or are required to be maintained intact. Examples include inventory and prepaid 
items. 

 
Restricted fund balance – includes amounts that can be spent only for the specific 
purposes stipulated by external resource providers either constitutionally or 
through enabling legislation. Examples include grants and debt 
proceeds.Committed fund balance – includes amounts that can be used only for 
specific purposes determined by a formal action of the City’s highest level of 
decision-making authority, which is the Board of Commissioners. Commitments 



may be changed or lifted only by the Board of Commissioners taking the same 
formal action that imposed the commitment originally. 

 
Assigned fund balance – comprises amounts intended to be used by the City for 
specific purposes. Intent can be expressed by the City Council by the approval of a 
budget appropriation. In governmental funds other than the general fund, assigned 
fund balance represents the amount that is not restricted or committed. This 
indicates that resources in other governmental funds are, at a minimum, intended 
to be used for the purpose of that fund. An example includes funds assigned by the 
City Council for specific capital projects. 

 
Unassigned fund balance – is the residual classification of the general fund and 
includes all amounts not contained in other classifications. The City uses the term 
available fund balance when referring to unassigned fund balance. Available fund 
balance (or unassigned fund balance) is the amount that is available for 
appropriation for public purposes. 

 
Utility Fund 
 
Enterprise funds are used to account for utility operations. Enterprise funds are also known as 
proprietary funds and business-type funds. Enterprise funds have separate terminology for fund 
balance, termed net position in financial reports. The City most commonly uses the term fund 
balance for enterprise funds. The fund balance of all enterprise funds is designated as 
unrestricted fund balance (or unrestricted net position). Restricted fund balance has externally 
imposed limitations on use from creditors, grantors, laws/regulations, or constitutional 
provisions. Generally, enterprise funds are business-type funds that do not have those types of 
restrictions, and therefore, the fund balance is termed unrestricted. However, the fund balance 
of each enterprise fund is used for the operating purpose of the fund. Appropriations for non-
operating purposes and transfers will be clearly indicated in the annual budget, and transfers will 
be subject to applicable statutory restrictions. 

 
Objectives: 

 
The City recognizes that it is essential to maintain an adequate unassigned fund balance to 
mitigate financial risk from unforeseen revenue fluctuations, unanticipated expenditures, and 
similar circumstances. The fund balance also provides cash flow liquidity for the City’s operations. 
Additionally, it can be utilized for one-time expenditures with City Council approval. 

 
Fund balance enhances short-term and long-term financial credit by helping to achieve the 
highest credit and bond ratings possible. 

 
Fund balance promotes long-term financial stability by establishing clear and consistent 
guidelines. 
Fund balance will provide funding flexibility during unanticipated emergencies and natural 
disasters. 

 
Guidelines: 

 



• The City will maintain reserves required by law, ordinance, and/or bond covenants. 
• The North Carolina Local Government Commission prescribes that a minimum of at 

least eight (8) percent of annual budgeted expenditures be maintained for 
unassigned/unreserved fund balance. Higher levels may be set based on the current 
operating needs of the individual fund and future funding needs. 

• The City’s goal is to have an unrestricted fund balance for the General Fund and 
unrestricted net position in the Utility Fund of thirty-three percent (33%) of annual 
budgeted expenditures and transfers for each fund.  

• All expenditures drawn from fund balance will require City Council approval unless 
previously authorized by the Council for expenditure within the City’s annual budget. 

 
Suppose the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report indicates the fund balance percentage fell 
below the threshold. In that case, the City Manager shall inform the City Council of this fact and, 
unless directed otherwise, shall prepare and submit a plan for expenditure reductions and/or 
revenue increases to restore fund balance to this level within three years. The City Council may 
take such action(s) necessary or expedient to restore the unrestricted fund balance to the levels 
set forth herein within three (3) years or within such time as the Council deems prudent under the 
circumstances. 
 

Any fund balance in excess of the lower threshold limits set forth herein shall either be set aside 
for future capital improvements or for such purpose(s) as the City Council deems proper and 
prudent. 

 
This Policy may be modified by action of the City Council. 



 



 

AGENDA ITEM #7 
Financing proposal for Rolling 
Stock 
 

Meeting Date 
August 7, 2023 

Presenter  
Daphna Schwartz, Finance Director 

Public Hearing 
Yes  No  

Summary 
In response to a proposal request, the City has received bids for financing the purchase of rolling stock. 
Staff is making a recommendation based on these proposals, and the attached resolution approving the 
financing terms requires City Council approval. 

Background 
The Council approved the FY23-24 Budget Ordinance on June 5, which included debt financing for rolling 
stock of $2,097,500. This amount includes the Fire Engine ordered in May 2023. The Finance Director 
requested proposals for installment financing to purchase rolling stock. Two institutions responded, as 
shown below. The rates presented are representative of the current rate environment, and the staff 
recommends approval. The financing will result in annual debt payments; no tax rate increase is expected.   

Financial Impact 
Proposals requested were for 5-year bank-qualified (BQ) terms with level principal payments. American 
National Bank & Trust Company offered the lowest rate with no additional fees and therefore is the 
recommended financing institution. 

Lending Institution Term Rate Prepayment Penalty 
American National Bank & Trust 
Company 5 years 4.95% no penalty 
Truist 5 years 5.21% no penalty 

Debt payments would begin in February 2024, with one payment ($262,817) occurring during the current 
FY23-24 budget. Due to declining interest payments, future payments will start at $509,195 per fiscal year 
and become less each year. The final payment in FY28-29 will be 214,998.99. This debt will not cause a tax 
rate increase. 

Recommendation 
Staff recommends the adoption of the resolution approving the issuance and terms of the financing 
agreement. 

Suggested Motion 
Motion to adopt the resolution approving the issuance and financing agreement with American National 
Bank & Trust Company. 



A g e n d a  I t e m  c o n t i n u e d   P a g e  | 2 

Attachments 
1. Resolution approving financing terms. 



 

Resolution  

Resolution Authorizing Installment Purchasing Contract with American 
National Bank & Trust Company for the Purchase of Rolling Stock 

 

WHEREAS: The City of Mebane (the "City") has previously determined to purchase a fire 
engine, seven sport utility vehicles, two pick-up trucks, an all-terrain vehicle, a mini excavator, a 
gator, a sidearm garbage truck, and a dump truck (the "Purchase"), and the Finance Officer has 
now presented a proposal for the financing of such Purchase. 

 
BE IT THEREFORE RESOLVED, as follows: 

 
1. The City hereby determines to finance the Purchase through American National 

Bank & Trust Company ("AMNB") in accordance with the proposal dated July 14, 2023. The 
amount financed shall not exceed $2,097,500, the annual interest rate shall not exceed 4.95%, and 
the financing term shall not exceed five (5) years from closing. 

 
2. All financing contracts and all related documents for the closing of the financing 

(the "Financing Documents") shall be consistent with the foregoing terms. All officers and 
employees of the City are hereby authorized and directed to execute and deliver any Financing 
Documents and to take all such further action as they may consider necessary or desirable to carry 
out the financing of the Purchase as contemplated by the proposal and this resolution. The 
Financing Documents shall include a Financing Agreement and a Project Fund Agreement, as 
AMNB may request. 

 
3. The Finance Officer is hereby authorized and directed to hold executed copies of 

the Financing Documents until the conditions for the delivery of the Financing Documents have 
been completed to such officer's satisfaction. The Finance Officer is authorized to approve changes 
to any Financing Documents previously signed by City officers or employees, provided that such 
changes shall not substantially alter the intent of such documents or certificates from the intent 
expressed in the forms executed by such officers. The Financing Documents shall be in such final 
forms as the Finance Officer shall approve, with the Finance Officer's release of any Financing 
Document for delivery constituting conclusive evidence of such officer's final approval of the 
Document's final form. 

 
4. The City hereby designates its obligations to make principal and interest payments 

under the Financing Documents as tax-exempt obligations for the purpose of Internal Revenue 
Code Section 265(b)(3). 



6.      All prior actions of City officers in furtherance of the purposes of this resolution are 
hereby ratified, approved, and confirmed. All other resolutions (or parts thereof) in conflict with 
this resolution are hereby repealed to the extent of the conflict. This resolution shall take effect 
immediately. 

 

This the 7th day of August 2023. 
 

Motion by:   
 

Second by:   
 

Mayor:   
 
 

ATTEST: 
 
 
 
 
 

City Clerk 



 

AGENDA ITEM #8 
Resolution Supporting an Application 
to the Local Government 
Commission and Selection of a 
Lending Institution for Revenue 
Bonds for the Elevated Water 
Storage Tank 

Meeting Date 
August 7, 2023 

Presenter  
Chris Rollins, City Manager 
Daphna Schwartz, Finance Director 
Ted Cole, Senior VP Davenport & Company LLC 
Bob Jessup, Sandford Holshouser 
 

Public Hearing 
Yes  No  

Summary 
The City has solicited proposals to finance the elevated storage tank project for $4,372,000. The project's 
total cost is estimated to be $7,025,000; however, the City of Mebane was awarded $2,652,990 in grant 
funding, thus reducing the amount of debt required. 

Background 
The City of Mebane currently has a 300,000-gallon elevated storage tank located on Eleventh Street. While 
the current tank meets regulatory requirements, it is too small to equalize projected water demands and 
sustain fire flows. The water plant currently compensates for the lack of elevated storage capacity by taking 
advantage of surplus pumping capacity. The City of Mebane purchased property at 1500 S Third Street after 
preliminary siting. The ground elevation of the site is approximately 660-664 feet. Preliminary estimates 
suggest the new tank will be approximately 185 feet high to match the overflow elevation of the existing 
tank. The new tank will be fed from an existing 12-inch water main in the right of way of S Third Street.  

On August 1, 2022, the City Council awarded Hazen & Sawyer the engineering contract for the project.  

Financial Impact 
The City has solicited proposals from over 50 National, Regional, and Local lending institutions to provide 
this financing. The three responses came from Capital One Public Funding, LLC, Truist Bank, and Webster 
Bank. A summary of rates are provided below: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



A g e n d a  I t e m  c o n t i n u e d   P a g e  | 2 

Lender Rate Lock 15-Year Option 20-Year Option 

Capital One Public Financing, LLC 

The rate is locked through 
closing on October 17, 2023, if 
the proposal is accepted by 
August 8, 2023. 4.42% 4.46% 

Truist Bank1 
The rate is locked through the 
closing of October 17, 2023. 

A. 4.88% 
B. 4.97% 
C. 5.26% 

A. 4.909% 
B. 5.02% 
C. 5.36% 

Webster Bank 

The interest rates quoted are 
valid through August 25, 2023, 
if accepted by August 8, 2023. 
The rates can be locked for a 
maximum of 30 days. For a mid-
October closing, updated rates 
can be provided and locked in 
mid-September. 4.31% 4.55% 

1 Note, Truist provided interest rate options A, B, and C, which are identified by different par amount ranges. Option 
A rates are quoted for a par amount of up to $7,025,000. Option B rates are quoted for a par amount of up to 
$4,372,010, and Option C rates are quoted for a par amount of up to $2,000,000. 

 
 Capital One Public Financing, LLC provided the lowest fixed interest rates that were able to be 

locked in through closing. The 20-year term provides the most flexibility because the yearly payments are 
lower, and the City can prepay the loan after 8/1/2033 at par. Annual debt payments will be, on average, 
$348,195 per year for 20 years, starting in the fiscal year 2024-2025 and ending in the fiscal year 2043-
2044. The interest rate on bonds is 4.46%.  

 
The final issuance of the revenue bonds is subject to the LGC's approval and this Council's 

subsequent approval. Some of the financing proceeds may represent reimbursement to the City for prior 
expenditures on project costs, and the City may also use financing proceeds to pay financing costs. 

Recommendation 
Staff recommends the adoption of the resolution to include the application to the Local Government 
Commission and the financing through Capital One Public Financing, LLC. 

Suggested Motion 
Motion to adopt the attached resolution supporting an application to the Local Government Commission 
and the approval of the Capital One Public Financing, LLC financing for City revenue bonds in an estimated 
amount of up to $4,372,000 at a 4.46% interest rate for 20 years. 

Attachments 
1. Resolution  
2. Davenport Public Finance Report 
3. Elevated Water Storage Tank renderings. 



 
Resolution making a preliminary determination to issue City revenue bonds in an estimated amount of 

$4,372,000 for the new water tank and supporting an application to the Local Government Commission 
 

Introduction –   
 

The City has committed to a plan to acquire and construct a new water storage tank. The City has 
made a tentative determination to issue revenue bonds to finance some of the City’s project costs. Revenue 
bonds are not secured by the City’s taxing power or any physical collateral, but instead by a pledge of the 
net operating revenues of the City’s water and sewer system. 

  
State law requires that the North Carolina Local Government Commission approve the City’s 

issuance of the revenue bonds (the LGC is a division of the State Treasurer’s office). Under the LGC’s 
guidelines, this governing body must make certain findings of fact to support the City’s application for the 
LGC’s approval of the bonds. 

 
THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Mebane, North Carolina, that the 

City makes a preliminary determination to finance a portion of the City’s project costs through by issuing 
water and sewer revenue bonds in an amount estimated as approximately $4,372,000. 
 
 The City has solicited proposals from banks and other financial institutions to provide the financing. 
City staff recommends, and the Council approves, a proposal from Capital One Public Funding, LLC. to 
provide 20-year financing for the project. The final details of the financing, and the financing documents, 
are subject to this Council’s further approval at a later meeting. 
 

The final issuance of the bonds is also subject to the LGC’s approval. Some of the financing proceeds 
may represent reimbursement to the City for prior expenditures on project costs, and the City may also use 
additional financing proceeds to pay financing costs or project costs as necessary. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the City Council makes the following findings of fact: 

 
 1. The project is necessary and appropriate for the City under all the circumstances. The 
project will increase the storage capacity and efficiency of the City’s water system to the benefit of the City, 
its residents and the system’s customers. 
 
 2. The project is feasible. The City believes that the customer utility bills that will be necessary 



to provide for bond payments will be reasonable under all the circumstances. The City has secured over 
$2,500,000 in grants to pay additional project costs. 
 
 3. The City’s debt management procedures and policies are sound and in compliance with 
law, and the City is not in default under any of its debt service obligations. 
 
 4. The City will be able to market the bonds at reasonable rates of interest. The City will 
closely review proposed lending rates against market rates with guidance from the LGC and the City’s 
financial advisor. All amounts financed will reflect either approved contracts, professional estimates or 
previous actual expenditures. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED as follows: 

 
 (a) The Council directs the City Manager, the Finance Director and all other City officers and 
representatives to take all appropriate steps toward the completion of the financing, including completing 
an application to the LGC for its approval of the bonds.  
 
 (b) The City intends that the adoption of this resolution will be a declaration of the City’s 
official intent to reimburse preliminary project expenditures from bond proceeds. The City intends that 
funds that have been advanced for project costs, or which may be so advanced, from the City’s water and 
sewer utility funds, or any other City funds, may be reimbursed from the financing proceeds. 
 

(c) The Council directs all City officers and employees to take all such further action as they 
may consider necessary or desirable in furtherance of the purposes of this resolution. The Council ratifies 
all prior actions of City officers and employees in this regard. 
 
 (d) This resolution takes effect immediately. 
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

I certify as follows: that the foregoing resolution was properly adopted at a meeting of the City 
Council of the City of Mebane, North Carolina; that this meeting was properly called and held on August 7, 
2023; that a quorum was present and acting throughout the meeting; and that this resolution has not been 
modified or amended, and remains in full effect as of today.  
 
 WITNESS my signature and the seal of the City of Mebane, North Carolina, this _______ day of 
__________________, 2023. 
 
[SEAL] 

______________________________   
City Manager 
City of Mebane, North Carolina 



 
 

 

Davenport Public Finance 

Member NYSE | FINRA | SIPC Page 1

To City of Mebane, North Carolina 

From Davenport & Company LLC 

Date August 7, 2023 

Subject 2023 Revenue Bond RFP Summary 
 

Background 
Davenport & Company LLC (“Davenport”), on behalf of the City of Mebane, NC (the “City”), distributed a Request 
for Proposals (“RFP”) to secure a commitment for a Direct Bank Loan evidenced by a Combined Utilities Revenue 
Bond to fund a new Elevated Water Tank and to pay related financing costs.  
 
The RFP was distributed to over 50 National, Regional, and Local lending institutions. After the initial 
distribution, Davenport reached out to the potential bidders to assess their interest in the financing and address 
any questions they had. 
 
As part of the RFP process, responding institutions were asked to provide Tax-Exempt interest rates with both 
15-year and 20-year amortization terms. Based on discussion with City Staff / Bond Counsel, it was determined 
that the 20-year term was the preferred option. 

 

RFP Responses 
Through this process, the City was able to secure three responses to the RFP, including:   
 

1. Capital One Public Funding, LLC (“Capital One”); 
2. Truist Bank (“Truist”); 
3. Webster Bank (“Webster”); 

 

The following pages contain a summary of the key terms and conditions for the responses received.  

Independence Center 
101 N. Tryon Street 
Suite 1220  
Charlotte, NC 28246 
 



 
August 7, 2023 
 

 
Member NYSE | FINRA | SIPC Page 2

Discussion Points 

1. Interest Rate  
 

A summary of the interest rates proposed by the three bidders is outlined in Table 1 below. All interest rates 
are fixed through final maturity, but only Capital One and Truist provided rates that could be locked in through 
closing. The Webster proposal would require a rate refresh 30 days prior to closing (i.e. mid-September). 
 

Table 1: Summary of Interest Rates 
 

 
 
 
The remainder of the memo will focus on the Capital One proposal, which provided the lowest fixed interest 
rates that were able to be locked in through closing.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A B C D

Lender Rate Lock 15-Year Option 20-Year Option

1 Note, Truist provided interest rate options A, B and C, which are identified by different par amount ranges. Option A rates are quoted for a par amount of up to $7,025,000, Option 
B rates are quoted for a par amount of up to $4,372,010, and Option C rates are quoted for a par amount of up to $2,000,000.

The interest rates quoted are valid through 
August 25, 2023, if accepted by 

August 8, 2023. The rates can be locked for a 
maxium of 30 days. For a mid-October closing, 
updated rates can be provided and locked in 

mid-September. 

Rate is locked through a closing of 
October 17, 2023.

1 Capital One Public Funding, LLC 4.42%
Rated is locked through a closing  

October 17, 2023 if proposal is accepted by 
August 8, 2023.

4.46%

2

A.) 4.909% 
B.) 5.02%
C.) 5.36%

3 Webster Bank 4.31% 4.55%

Truist Bank1
A.) 4.88% 
B.) 4.97%
C.) 5.26%



 
August 7, 2023 
 

 
Member NYSE | FINRA | SIPC Page 3

2. Prepayment Provisions – Prepayment provisions offered by Capital One are shown in Table 2 below. 
 
Table 2: Summary of Prepayment Provisions 
 

Lender Prepayment Provisions 

Capital One  

The loan will be prepayable in whole or in part on any date upon thirty (30) days prior written notice to the 
lender. 
 
15-Year Term: Prepayable after 8/1/2031 at par. 
 
20-Year Term: Prepayable after 8/1/2033 at par. 
 
Capital One will allow partial prepayment once per year from any source in an amount not exceeding 
$1,000,000 to be applied in pro-rata or inverse order that can be made prior to the call dates listed above. 

 

 
3. Estimated Debt Service 
 

A summary comparison of the estimated debt service payments (Principal & Interest) for the Capital One 15-
year and 20-year term options, and the current Feasibility Projections, is shown in Table 3 below.  

 
Table 3: Estimated Annual Debt Service (All options assume a $4,548,000 borrowing amount) 

 

 A B C D

1 Lender Capital One Capital One
2 Financing Description 15-Year Option 20-Year Option
3

4 Call Provisions 8-Year Par Call 10-Year Par Call
5 Interest Rate 4.42% 4.46% 5.00%
6

7 Fiscal Year Debt Service* Debt Service* Debt Service*
8 2025 420,306$                                348,339$                          365,477$                               
9 2026 419,756                                  348,593                            365,225                                  

10 2027 420,303                                  348,613                            364,800                                  
11 2028 420,363                                  348,321                            365,000                                  
12 2029 419,938                                  347,717                            364,800                                  
13 2030 420,004                                  347,778                            365,175                                  
14 2031 420,517                                  348,460                            365,100                                  
15 2032 420,456                                  347,763                            364,575                                  
16 2033 419,820                                  348,665                            364,575                                  
17 2034 420,566                                  348,143                            365,050                                  
18 2035 419,670                                  348,197                            364,975                                  
19 2036 420,112                                  347,805                            365,325                                  
20 2037 419,846                                  347,945                            365,075                                  
21 2038 419,852                                  348,572                            365,200                                  
22 2039 420,083                                  347,686                            364,675                                  
23 2040 -                                           348,265                            365,450                                  
24 2041 -                                           348,264                            364,500                                  
25 2042 -                                           347,684                            364,800                                  
26 2043 -                                           348,478                            365,275                                  
27 2044 348,604                            364,900                                  
28 Total 6,301,592$                      6,963,894$                 7,299,952$                      

* Preliminary and subject to change.

Current Feasibility 
Projections



 
August 7, 2023 
 

 
Member NYSE | FINRA | SIPC Page 4

Recommendation  
Based upon our review of the proposals, related analyses, and discussions with City Staff and Bond Counsel, 
Davenport recommends that the City select the Capital One proposal offering the 20-year amortization. The 
Capital One proposal provides the lowest interest rate that was able to be locked through anticipated closing.  
 

 
 
Next Steps 
 
August 7th     City Council Meeting – City Council considers approval of winning lender and 

considers adopting a Preliminary Resolution. 
 
October 2nd   City Council Meeting – City Council considers adopting a Final Approving 

Resolution, considers adopting a Bond Order and considers adopting a Bond 
Resolution. 

 
October 3rd     LGC approves financing. 
 
By October 17th    Deadline to Close on Financing.  

 

  



 
August 7, 2023 
 

 
Member NYSE | FINRA | SIPC Page 5

 

Appendix 
  



Member NYSE|FINRA|SIPC

August 7, 2023

2023 Revenue Bond – Bid Summary

City of Mebane, North Carolina



August 7, 2023

Bank Loan RFP Overview

City of Mebane, NC 2

 An RFP for a Direct Bank Loan financing was distributed on June 28, 2023 to over 50 National, Regional and Local lending 
institutions to fund a new Elevated Water Tank and to pay related financing costs. 

 After the initial distribution, Davenport reached out to the potential bidders to assess their interest in the financing and 
address any questions they had. 

 Responding institutions were asked to provide proposals for a Combined Utilities Revenue Bond, Series 2023 (“2023 
Revenue Bond”) in an amount of up to $7,000,000 with either 15-year or 20-year terms, and the option of a one-year 
interest only period.
– The current estimated project cost for the Elevated Water Tank is $7,025,000. The City has been awarded $2,652,990 of

grant funding to be applied to the project, with the remaining $4,372,010 to be funded through the 2023 Revenue Bond.

 The City received 3 proposals from the following banks:

– Capital One Public Funding (“Capital One”)
– Truist Bank (“Truist”)
– Webster Bank (“Webster”)

 A summary of all proposals received is shown on the following page.  Based upon our review of the interest rates received, 
the Capital One and Webster proposals provided the lowest fixed interest rate associated with each option. The remainder 
of this presentation will focus on these proposals.



August 7, 2023 City of Mebane, NC 3

Summary of Interest Rates
Bank Proposals

15-Year Option 20-Year Option
A B C D E F G

Lender Rate Lock Call Provisions
Option 1

No 
Interest Only

Option 2
One Year 

Interest Only

Option 1
No

 Interest Only

Option 2
One Year 

Interest Only

A.) 4.909% 
B.) 5.02%
C.) 5.36%

A.) 4.909% 
B.) 5.02%
C.) 5.36%

3 Webster Bank

15-Year Term: Prepayable after Year 4 on
any date in whole or in part with a 1%

Penalty in years 5-6 and par thereafter.

20-Year Term: Prepayable after Year 5 on
any date in whole or in part with a 1%

Penalty in years 6-8 and par thereafter.

4.31% 4.31% 4.55% 4.55%

Truist Bank1

The Borrower will pay to the Lender 
prepayment compensation in connection 
with any prepayment of the Loan based 
on the Lender’s standard break-funding 

terms for fixed rate loans.

A.) 4.88% 
B.) 4.97%
C.) 5.26%

1 Note, Truist provided interest rate options A, B and C, which are identified by different par amount ranges. Option A rates are quoted for a par amount of up to $7,025,000, Option B rates are quoted for a par amount of up to $4,372,010, and Option 
C rates are quoted for a par amount of up to $2,000,000.

4.47%

The interest rates quoted are valid through 
August 25, 2023, if accepted by 

August 8, 2023. The rates can be locked for a 
maxium of 30 days. For a mid-October closing, 
updated rates can be provided and locked in 

mid-September. The rates will be indexed to the 
10-year US Treasury Constant Maturity as follows:

15 year: (3.86% + 1.60%) * .79 = 4.31%
20 year: (3.86% + 1.90%) * .79 = 4.55%

Rate is locked through a closing of 
October 17, 2023.

1 Capital One Public Funding, LLC

15-Year Term: Prepayable in whole or in
part on any date after 8/1/31 at par

20-Year Term: Prepayable in whole or in
part on any date after 8/1/33 at par

4.42%
Rated is locked through a closing  

October 17, 2023 if proposal is accepted by 
August 8, 2023.

4.46%

A.) 4.88% 
B.) 4.97%
C.) 5.26%

4.43%

2



August 7, 2023 City of Mebane, NC 4

Summary of Bids
Capital One & Webster



August 7, 2023 City of Mebane, NC 5

Debt Service Comparison
Capital One & Webster

15-Year Options 20-Year Options 20-Year Term
A B C D E F G H I J

1 Lender Capital One Public Funding Webster Bank Capital One Public Funding Webster Bank

2 Financing Description No 
Interest Only

One Year 
Interest Only

No 
Interest Only

One Year 
Interest Only

No 
Interest Only

One Year 
Interest Only

No 
Interest Only

One Year 
Interest Only

3 Call Provisions 8-Year Par Call
Noncallable Years 1-4; 101% Years 5-6; Par 

thereafter.
10-Year Par Call

Noncallable Years 1-5; 101% Years 6-8; Par 
thereafter.

4

5 Interest Rate 4.42% 4.43% 4.31% 4.31% 4.46% 4.47% 4.55% 4.55% 5.00%
6 Interest Rate Lock 7/26/2023 7/26/2023 Refer to Summary Refer to Summary 7/26/2023 7/26/2023 Refer to Summary Refer to Summary
7

8 Sources of Funds
9 Par Amount* 4,548,000$      4,548,000$       4,548,000$    4,548,000$    4,548,000$      4,548,000$       4,548,000$      4,548,000$       4,548,000$    

10 Grant Funding* 2,652,990  2,652,990  2,652,990   2,652,990   2,652,990   2,652,990    2,652,990  2,652,990  2,652,990   
11 Total 7,200,990$ 7,200,990$        7,200,990$            7,200,990$        7,200,990$ 7,200,990$        7,200,990$  7,200,990$        7,200,990$     
12

13 Uses of Funds
14 Project Fund* 7,025,000$      7,025,000$       7,025,000$    7,025,000$    7,025,000$      7,025,000$       7,025,000$      7,025,000$       7,025,000$    
15 Cost of Issuance* 175,000  175,000  175,000   175,000   175,000    175,000  175,000  175,000  175,000    
16 Bank Fees* -   -   -    -  -  -   -   -    -  
17 Additional Proceeds* 990  990  990   990   990    990  990  990   990   
18 Total 7,200,990$ 7,200,990$        7,200,990$            7,200,990$        7,200,990$ 7,200,990$        7,200,990$  7,200,990$        7,200,990$     
19

20 Closing Date* 10/12/2023 10/12/2023 10/12/2023 10/12/2023 10/12/2023 10/12/2023 10/12/2023 10/12/2023 10/12/2023
21 First Interest Payment 8/1/2024 8/1/2024 8/1/2024 8/1/2024 8/1/2024 8/1/2024 8/1/2024 8/1/2024 8/1/2024
22 First Principal Payment 8/1/2024 8/1/2025 8/1/2024 8/1/2025 8/1/2024 8/1/2025 8/1/2024 8/1/2025 8/1/2025
23 Final Maturity 8/1/2038 8/1/2038 8/1/2038 8/1/2038 8/1/2043 8/1/2043 8/1/2043 8/1/2043 8/1/2043
24

25 Debt Service*
26 Fiscal Year
27 2025 420,306$       262,479$       416,813$    255,369$    348,339$       264,849$       350,701$       269,589$     365,477$     
28 2026 419,756  436,160  416,886   432,804   348,593    354,831  350,722  357,431  365,225    
29 2027 420,303  436,285  416,628   433,136   348,613    355,724  350,693  357,264  364,800    
30 2028 420,363  435,922  416,918   432,995   348,321    355,282  351,322  357,757  365,000    
31 2029 419,938  436,049  416,734   432,380   347,717    355,504  350,609  357,885  364,800    
32 2030 420,004  435,645  417,053   432,269   347,778    355,368  351,533  357,650  365,175    
33 2031 420,517  435,688  416,856   432,619   348,460    354,875  351,070  358,028  365,100    
34 2032 420,456  436,132  417,120   432,409   347,763    355,002  351,220  357,019  364,575    
35 2033 419,820  435,956  416,824   432,617   348,665    354,727  350,961  357,600  364,575    
36 2034 420,566  436,138  416,946   432,221   348,143    355,027  351,270  357,727  365,050    
37 2035 419,670  435,655  417,442   432,201   348,197    354,880  351,123  357,398  364,975    
38 2036 420,112  435,485  417,293   432,512   347,805    355,264  351,499  357,592  365,325    
39 2037 419,846  435,585  416,497   433,113   347,945    355,156  351,374  357,285  365,075    
40 2038 419,852  435,909  417,011   432,981   348,572    355,534  350,749  357,455  365,200    
41 2039 420,083  435,436  416,792   432,116   347,686    355,376  350,600  357,079  364,675    
42 2040 -   -   -    -  348,265    355,659  350,883  357,134  365,450    
43 2041 -   -   -    -  348,264    355,360  350,574  357,575  364,500    
44 2042 -   -   -    -  347,684    355,459  350,651  357,379  364,800    
45 2043 -   -   -    -  348,478    354,931  351,069  357,524  365,275    
46 2044 348,604    354,755  350,803  357,963  364,900    
47 Total 6,301,592$ 6,364,523$        6,253,813$            6,311,740$        6,963,894$ 7,013,564$        7,019,425$  7,062,332$        7,299,952$     

* Preliminary and subject to change.

Current Feasibility 
Projections



Date Task

July 31st at 2:00pm Conference Call to discuss bids and determine a recommended winning bidder

August 7th at 6:00pm City Council Meeting

 City Council considers approval of winning lender

 City Council considers adopting a Preliminary Resolution

By August 18th Submit Joint Legislative Committee Letter

By August 29th Construction Bids in Hand

By September 5th Deadline to Submit LGC Application

October 2nd at 6:00pm City Council Meeting

 City Council considers adopting a Final Approving Resolution

 City Council considers adopting a Bond Order and Bond Resolution

October 3rd LGC Considers approving the financing

By October 17th Close on Direct Bank Loan

December 7th Deadline to begin construction under EDA Grant terms

August 7, 2023 City of Mebane, NC 6

Recommendation and Next Steps

Recommendation

 To Be Discussed

Next Steps



Municipal Advisor Disclosure

The enclosed information relates to an existing or potential municipal advisor engagement.

The U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) has clarified that a broker, dealer or municipal securities dealer engaging in municipal advisory activities outside the scope of underwriting a particular issuance of
municipal securities should be subject to municipal advisor registration. Davenport & Company LLC (“Davenport”) has registered as a municipal advisor with the SEC. As a registered municipal advisor Davenport may
provide advice to a municipal entity or obligated person. An obligated person is an entity other than a municipal entity, such as a not for profit corporation, that has commenced an application or negotiation with an entity to
issue municipal securities on its behalf and for which it will provide support. If and when an issuer engages Davenport to provide financial advisory or consultant services with respect to the issuance of municipal securities,
Davenport is obligated to evidence such a financial advisory relationship with a written agreement.

When acting as a registered municipal advisor Davenport is a fiduciary required by federal law to act in the best interest of a municipal entity without regard to its own financial or other interests. Davenport is not a fiduciary
when it acts as a registered investment advisor, when advising an obligated person, or when acting as an underwriter, though it is required to deal fairly with such persons.

This material was prepared by public finance, or other non-research personnel of Davenport. This material was not produced by a research analyst, although it may refer to a Davenport research analyst or research report.
Unless otherwise indicated, these views (if any) are the author’s and may differ from those of the Davenport fixed income or research department or others in the firm. Davenport may perform or seek to perform financial
advisory services for the issuers of the securities and instruments mentioned herein.

This material has been prepared for information purposes only and is not a solicitation of any offer to buy or sell any security/instrument or to participate in any trading strategy. Any such offer would be made only after a
prospective participant had completed its own independent investigation of the securities, instruments or transactions and received all information it required to make its own investment decision, including, where
applicable, a review of any offering circular or memorandum describing such security or instrument. That information would contain material information not contained herein and to which prospective participants are
referred. This material is based on public information as of the specified date, and may be stale thereafter. We have no obligation to tell you when information herein may change. We make no representation or warranty
with respect to the completeness of this material. Davenport has no obligation to continue to publish information on the securities/instruments mentioned herein. Recipients are required to comply with any legal or
contractual restrictions on their purchase, holding, sale, exercise of rights or performance of obligations under any securities/instruments transaction.

The securities/instruments discussed in this material may not be suitable for all investors or issuers. Recipients should seek independent financial advice prior to making any investment decision based on this material.
This material does not provide individually tailored investment advice or offer tax, regulatory, accounting or legal advice. Prior to entering into any proposed transaction, recipients should determine, in consultation with
their own investment, legal, tax, regulatory and accounting advisors, the economic risks and merits, as well as the legal, tax, regulatory and accounting characteristics and consequences, of the transaction. You should
consider this material as only a single factor in making an investment decision.

The value of and income from investments and the cost of borrowing may vary because of changes in interest rates, foreign exchange rates, default rates, prepayment rates, securities/instruments prices, market indexes,
operational or financial conditions or companies or other factors. There may be time limitations on the exercise of options or other rights in securities/instruments transactions. Past performance is not necessarily a guide
to future performance and estimates of future performance are based on assumptions that may not be realized. Actual events may differ from those assumed and changes to any assumptions may have a material impact
on any projections or estimates. Other events not taken into account may occur and may significantly affect the projections or estimates. Certain assumptions may have been made for modeling purposes or to simplify the
presentation and/or calculation of any projections or estimates, and Davenport does not represent that any such assumptions will reflect actual future events. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that estimated
returns or projections will be realized or that actual returns or performance results will not materially differ from those estimated herein. This material may not be sold or redistributed without the prior written consent of
Davenport.

Version 1.1.23 TS | MB | TC

August 7, 2023 City of Mebane, NC 7



August 7, 2023 

Member NYSE | FINRA | SIPC Page 13

The U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) has clarified that a broker, dealer or municipal securities dealer engaging in municipal 
advisory activities outside the scope of underwriting a particular issuance of municipal securities should be subject to municipal advisor 
registration. Davenport & Company LLC (“Davenport”) has registered as a municipal advisor with the SEC. As a registered municipal advisor 
Davenport may provide advice to a municipal entity or obligated person. An obligated person is an entity other than a municipal entity, such as 
a not for profit corporation, that has commenced an application or negotiation with an entity to issue municipal securities on its behalf and for 
which it will provide support. If and when an issuer engages Davenport to provide financial advisory or consultant services with respect to the 
issuance of municipal securities, Davenport is obligated to evidence such a financial advisory relationship with a written agreement. 

When acting as a registered municipal advisor Davenport is a fiduciary required by federal law to act in the best interest of a municipal entity 
without regard to its own financial or other interests. Davenport is not a fiduciary when it acts as a registered investment advisor, when advising 
an obligated person, or when acting as an underwriter, though it is required to deal fairly with such persons.  

This material was prepared by public finance, or other non-research personnel of Davenport.  This material was not produced by a research 
analyst, although it may refer to a Davenport research analyst or research report.  Unless otherwise indicated, these views (if any) are the author’s 
and may differ from those of the Davenport fixed income or research department or others in the firm. Davenport may perform or seek to perform 
financial advisory services for the issuers of the securities and instruments mentioned herein. 

This material has been prepared for information purposes only and is not a solicitation of any offer to buy or sell any security/instrument or to 
participate in any trading strategy.  Any such offer would be made only after a prospective participant had completed its own independent 
investigation of the securities, instruments or transactions and received all information it required to make its own investment decision, including, 
where applicable, a review of any offering circular or memorandum describing such security or instrument.  That information would contain 
material information not contained herein and to which prospective participants are referred.  This material is based on public information as of 
the specified date, and may be stale thereafter.  We have no obligation to tell you when information herein may change.  We make no 
representation or warranty with respect to the completeness of this material.  Davenport has no obligation to continue to publish information on 
the securities/instruments mentioned herein. Recipients are required to comply with any legal or contractual restrictions on their purchase, 
holding, sale, exercise of rights or performance of obligations under any securities/instruments transaction.   

The securities/instruments discussed in this material may not be suitable for all investors or issuers.  Recipients should seek independent 
financial advice prior to making any investment decision based on this material.  This material does not provide individually tailored investment 
advice or offer tax, regulatory, accounting or legal advice.  Prior to entering into any proposed transaction, recipients should determine, in 
consultation with their own investment, legal, tax, regulatory and accounting advisors, the economic risks and merits, as well as the legal, tax, 
regulatory and accounting characteristics and consequences, of the transaction.  You should consider this material as only a single factor in 
making an investment decision.   

The value of and income from investments and the cost of borrowing may vary because of changes in interest rates, foreign exchange rates, 
default rates, prepayment rates, securities/instruments prices, market indexes, operational or financial conditions or companies or other factors. 
There may be time limitations on the exercise of options or other rights in securities/instruments transactions.  Past performance is not 
necessarily a guide to future performance and estimates of future performance are based on assumptions that may not be realized.  Actual 
events may differ from those assumed and changes to any assumptions may have a material impact on any projections or estimates.  Other 
events not taken into account may occur and may significantly affect the projections or estimates.  Certain assumptions may have been made 
for modeling purposes or to simplify the presentation and/or calculation of any projections or estimates, and Davenport does not represent that 
any such assumptions will reflect actual future events.  Accordingly, there can be no assurance that estimated returns or projections will be 
realized or that actual returns or performance results will not materially differ from those estimated herein.  This material may not be sold or 
redistributed without the prior written consent of Davenport. Version 01.1.23 | TS MB TC 









 

AGENDA ITEM #9 
Voluntary Annexation Agreement- 
319 Tate Avenue 

Meeting Date 
August 7, 2023 

Presenter  
Lawson Brown, City Attorney 

Public Hearing 
Yes  No  

Summary 
BEC Enterprises, Inc., owner of 319 Tate Avenue, has requested annexation into the City for the foregoing 
property and, by City policy have signed an annexation agreement and a petition for annexation.   

Background 
The individual property at 319 Tate Avenue is in the historic West End (where fewer than fifty percent of 
the immediate neighborhood have requested annexation) and is currently served by City sewer services 
and water services on certain streets.   The individual property does not have access to City general fund 
services, being located outside the City’s corporate limits. The owner desires to build a house on the 
individual property at that address and to avail the property of City water and sewer services.  Per the City, 
Voluntary Annexation Policy, adopted June 6, 2022, (Section E, subsection 3; Section F, subsection 2) 
property owners desiring to avail themselves of utility service may apply for annexation which the City will 
consider on a case-by-case basis.  In order to be considered for annexation under the policy, the applicants 
must sign an annexation application or petition and an agreement to be annexed in the future if the City 
desires.  Generally, the City would request the individual property to be annexed if City utility services were 
available to the property; however, the City has the flexibility to defer the annexation of individual 
properties.  Furthermore, the City may request annexation of the individual property, in the future, if the 
City determines that it is in the best interest of the City to do so.  The purpose of the policy is for the City 
to be able to extend its corporate limits and provide municipal services on a consistent basis.  In the event 
that the City does not desire immediate annexation of an individual property, the policy provides that the 
annexation agreement be recorded in the public registry to provide notice to all persons who may purchase 
the property in the future. If an individual property is not annexed into the City, City policy provides for the 
individual property owner to pay the outside-the-City rate for utility services.              

Financial Impact 
N/A 

Recommendation 
Staff recommends that the Council accept the petition but defer annexation provided that the owners of 
the property record the City’s signed standard Annexation Agreement per the June 6, 2022, policy. Staff 
further recommends that City utility services be made available to the individual property. 



A g e n d a  I t e m  c o n t i n u e d   P a g e  | 2 

Suggested Motion 
I move that the City accept the petition for annexation and the Annexation Agreement for the property at 
319 Tate Avenue but defer annexation until the future per the City’s policy and upon recordation of the 
signed Annexation Agreement. I further move that the City allow access to the City utility services per the 
Voluntary Annexation Policy. 

Attachments 
1. Petition for Annexation and Annexation Agreement 
2. Annexation Policy adopted by Council June 6, 2022 

 

 



















CITY of MEBANE 
 

POLICY STATEMENT 

 
 

 

 PAGE 1 OF 5 
 

SUBJECT:  Voluntary Annexation Policy  EFFECTIVE: 
   June 6, 2022 

 SUPERSEDES: 
     Previous Annexation Policies  

 PREPARED BY: 
  Chris Rollins, City Manager 

 ADOPTED BY COUNCIL: 
DATE: June 6, 2022 

 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION:  The City regularly receives requests from developers and 
individual property owners requesting voluntary annexation into the City of Mebane corporate 
limits.  This general policy addresses voluntary annexation only and the statutory authority is 
defined within North Carolina General Statues 160A (Article 4 Corporate Limits and Article 4A, 
Extension of Corporate Limits). 
 
GENERAL POLICY STATEMENT: 
 
The intent of the policy is to provide a mechanism by which the City can plan and extend its 
corporate limits and municipal services provided to citizens residing within said corporate limits in 
an efficient and effective matter via voluntary annexation.  This will allow long range planning via 
various other municipal mechanisms and policies to allow an orderly extension of City services.  To 
the extent that this policy conflicts with any other related policies of the City, this policy shall be 
controlling as it supersedes existing policies.  It also complies with statutory and judicial opinions 
for municipal service requirements.     
 
Typically, voluntary annexation occurs when a party desires to obtain access to City general 
services and/or utility service(s).  For the purpose of this policy, and per NC General Statutes 
related to voluntary annexation, it is assumed that the party is either requesting some level of the 
referenced City services and is submitting a voluntary annexation petition to obtain access to 
general fund services (for example – garbage collection, but not use of parks & recreation services) 
and/or utility service(s) as defined via the City Water and Wastewater System Extension and 
Connection Policies.  Similar to the City Water and Wastewater System Extension and Connection 
Policies – General Policy Statement C – “The City Council has the right to approve or deny proposed 



connection or extension to its water or wastewater system based on the City’s best interest”, this 
policy details further that the City Council has the right to accept or deny voluntary annexation 
and/or require property owners to enter into a written agreement with the City for voluntary 
annexation at such future date as the City Council determines that it is in the best interest of the 
City and the City can provide a majority of consistent city services to the property.  The petition 
for annexation of property to the City is attached hereto as Exhibit A.        
 
A.     CONTIGUOUS AND/OR INFILL VOLUNTARY ANNEXATION WITH PROPERTY SUBDIVISION: 
 

1.  It is the intent of the City of Mebane to require voluntary annexation for contiguous and 
infill properties seeking the referenced City services.  Contiguous is defined as sharing a 
common boundary composed of more than just a survey stake connection.  Infill is defined 
as sharing a common boundary composed of two or more common boundaries.   
 

2. City staff must determine that a majority of consistent city services can be provided.   
 

3. Building permits can be issued once City Council votes to receive the annexation petition 
and other City requirements have been fulfilled. 

 
B.   CONTIGUOUS AND/OR INFILL VOLUNTARY ANNEXATION WITHOUT PROPERTY 
SUBDIVISION: 
 

1. It is the intent of the City of Mebane to require voluntary annexation for contiguous and 
infill properties seeking the referenced City services.  Contiguous is defined as sharing a 
common boundary composed of more than just a survey stake connection.  Infill is defined 
as sharing a common boundary composed of two or more common boundaries.   
 

2. City staff must determine that a majority of consistent city services can be provided.   
 

3. Building permits can be issued once City Council votes to receive the annexation petition 
and other City requirements have been fulfilled. 
 

4. If determined acceptable for voluntary annexation recording via County Register of Deeds 
Office, the presently recorded metes & bounds are acceptable to meet voluntary 
annexation petition requirements in lieu of updated surveys for same said properties 
(without property subdivision).  Annexation plats are required to be submitted as dictated 
in North Carolina General Statute 47-30 

 
 
C.  NONCONTIGUOUS VOLUNTARY ANNEXATION WITH PROPERTY SUBDIVISON: 
 

1. It is the intent of the City of Mebane to require voluntary annexation for noncontiguous 
properties that will be subdivided seeking the referenced city services.  Noncontiguous is 
defined as not sharing a common boundary composed of more than just a survey stake 



connection.  Subdivision or subdivided is defined as a property that has been or will be 
subdivided into one or more properties consistent with the City’s Unified Development 
Ordinance.   
 

2. City staff must determine that a majority of consistent city services can be provided.   
 

3. Building permits can be issued once City Council votes to receive the annexation petition 
and other City requirements have been fulfilled.  

   
 
D. NONCONTIGUOUS VOLUNTARY ANNEXATION WITHOUT PROPERTY SUBDIVISION: 
 

1. It is the intent of the City to require voluntary annexation for noncontiguous properties 
that will not be subdivided if a majority of consistent city services can be provided 
efficiently and effectively. Noncontiguous is defined as not sharing a common boundary 
composed of more than just a survey stake connection.  Subdivision or subdivided is 
defined as a property that has been or will be subdivided into one or more properties 
consistent with the City’s Unified Development Ordinance.   
 

2. City staff must determine that a majority of consistent city services can be provided. 
 

3. If determined a majority of consistent City services cannot be provided and the definitions 
of D(1) are met, the City Manager will recommend if any City services should be offered 
without immediate voluntary annexation and require the property owner(s) to enter into 
a written agreement with the City for annexation as such future date as the City Council 
determines that it is in the best interest of the City and the City can provide a majority of 
consistent city services to the property.   
 

a. This written agreement will be required to be added as a property deed restriction 
to ensure it is binding for future action.  
 

i. See Section F of this policy.   
 

b. Building permits can be issued once City Council votes to receive the referenced 
written agreement regarding future voluntary annexation is recorded in general 
and included as a property deed restriction.  
 

4. If determined acceptable for voluntary annexation recording via County Register of Deeds 
Office, the presently recorded metes and bounds are acceptable to meet voluntary 
annexation petition requirements in lieu of updated surveys for same said properties 
(without property subdivision).  Annexation plats are required to be submitted as allowed 
in North Carolina General Statue 47-30 

 



E. NON-CITY APPROVED/HISTORICALLY SUBDIVIED NEIGHBORHOODS VOLUNTARY ANNEXATION 
WITHOUT PROPERTY SUBDIVISION: 
 

1. It is the intent of the City to only require voluntary annexation for existing neighborhoods 
not previously approved by the City or those where the neighborhood creation pre-dates 
their inclusion within the City jurisdiction when either the majority of the total properties 
located within the neighborhood or the majority of the residents within the neighborhood 
submit documented requests/interests in voluntary annexation.  Majority is defined as 
50% plus to ensure city services can be efficiently and effectively provided.   
 

2. This section does not apply to throughfare (US/NC routes and major City collector routes) 
frontage properties/sites.  
 

3. Properties within neighborhoods not meeting the majority definition for voluntary 
annexation and desiring connection to utility municipal service are referred to Section F of 
this policy.    

 
F.  REQUIREMENT OF PROPETY OWNERS TO ENTER INTO A WRITTEN AGREEMENT WITH THE CITY 
FOR ANNEXATION AS SUCH FUTURE DATE AS THE CITY COUNCIL DETERMINES THAT IS IN THE BEST 
INTEREST OF THE CITY AND THE CITY CAN PROVIDE A MAJORITY OF CONSISTENT CITY SERVICES 
TO THE PROPERTY.  
 

1. It is the intent of the City of Mebane to require property owners connecting to water 
and/or sewer connection services to request either immediate voluntary annexation or 
enter into a written agreement with the City for annexation as such future dates as the 
City Council determines that is in the best interest of the City. 
 

2. The City Manager will make a recommendation to City Council to not require immediate 
voluntary annexation in situations where it is determined a majority of consistent City 
services cannot be provided to the property(s), neighborhood, and recommends 
immediate connection to City water and/or sewer after said written agreement is recorded 
(in general and as property deed restriction). 
 

3. The written agreement with the City for annexation as such future date as the City Council 
determines shall be recorded in general and as a property deed restriction upon said 
and/or all property deeds to ensure it is binding for future action. 
 

4. The property and customers will be charged outside City utility rates until annexed into the 
City corporate limits. 
 

5. Building permits can be issued once the written agreement has been recorded in the 
Registry and as a property deed restriction and other City requirements have been fulfilled.  



a. Exhibit B attached to this policy provides a template for the written agreement.  
The City Attorney is authorized to adjust this template as it is recognized it will 
require updates and changes.  

 
G.  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS  
 

1. Similar to the City Water and Wastewater System Extension and Connection Policies – 
General Policy Statement F (1) – regarding “Certain community development projects are 
exempt from assessment provisions”, this policy details further to the City Council the right 
to not require voluntary annexation related to certain community development projects. 
 

2. The City Manager will provide a recommendation to City Council regarding community 
development project exemptions.  

 



 

AGENDA ITEM #10 
Resolution Supporting the 
Creation of the Eastern 
Piedmont NC HOME Consortium 

Meeting Date 
August 7, 2023 

Presenters  
Ashley Ownbey, Development Director 

Public Hearing 
Yes  No  

Summary 
The Piedmont Triad Regional Council (PTRC) is forming a new HOME consortium to be known as the Eastern 
Piedmont NC HOME Consortium. The consortium will include five counties – Alamance, Caswell, Davidson, 
Randolph, and Rockingham – and will provide the opportunity for federal block grant funding to be used 
toward the development of affordable housing opportunities in these counties, effective July 1, 2024. By 
participating, the City of Mebane will have access to direct formula allocations of HOME funds to support 
housing activities and programs in the City limits. 

Background 
The HOME Investment Partnerships Program (HOME) provides formula grants to states and localities to 
fund a wide range of activities including building, buying, and/or rehabilitating affordable housing for rent 
or homeownership, or providing direct rental assistance to low-income households. HOME is the largest 
federal block grant to state and local governments, designed exclusively to create affordable housing for 
low-income households. 

By becoming a member of the new HOME consortium, the City will allow activities to take place within its 
jurisdiction and contribute to the demographics and funding calculations of the consortium. The City of 
Burlington is the grantee and lead entity of the consortium. All five counties have agreed to participate. 
The PTRC is now collecting resolutions from municipalities within the counties.  

Financial Impact 
The creation of the consortium has no immediate financial impact for the City of Mebane. The only time a 
funding commitment may be required of the City is if it pursues any grant funding. 

Recommendation 
Staff recommends the City Council support joining the Eastern Piedmont NC Home Consortium. 

Suggested Motion 
Motion to authorize the City of Mebane to enter into an agreement to join the Eastern Piedmont NC HOME 
Consortium. 

Attachments 
1. Resolution Supporting the Creation of the Eastern Piedmont NC HOME Consortium 



NORTH CAROLINA 

CITY OF MEBANE 

RESOLUTION 
SUPPORTING THE CREATION OF 

THE EASTERN PIEDMONT NC HOME CONSORTIUM 
 
WHEREAS, if approved, this resolution would offer support for the creation of the Eastern 
Piedmont NC Home Consortium and further authorizes the City Manager to negotiate and enter 
into an agreement with other units of local government in the five (5) counties in creating the 
consortium, and further authorizes the City Manager to sign all contracts, grant agreements, 
certifications with the US Department of Housing and Urban Development, the State of North 
Carolina, or other agencies as may be required to carry out the activities of the consortium. 

WHEREAS, the creation of the HOME Consortium provides an opportunity for federal block 
grant funding to be used toward the development of affordable housing opportunities within the 
Eastern Piedmont Consortium, which covers Alamance, Caswell, Davidson, Randolph and 
Rockingham Counties. This action does not commit the City to provide any funding, as the only 
time a funding commitment may be required is if the City were to pursue grant funding through the 
consortium for an affordable housing initiative. 

WHEREAS, the HOME Investment Partnerships Program (HOME) provides formula grants to States 
and localities that communities use, often in partnership with local nonprofit groups, to fund a wide 
range of activities including building, buying, and/or rehabilitating affordable housing for rent or 
homeownership, or providing direct rental assistance to low-income households. HOME is the largest 
Federal block grant to state and local governments, designed exclusively to create affordable housing 
for low-income households, with HOME funds awarded annually as formula grants to participating 
jurisdictions. 

WHEREAS, generally, units of local government form consortia to access direct formula 
allocations of HOME funds to support housing activities and programs, for which States are 
automatically eligible for HOME funds and receive their formula allocation or $3 million, 
whichever is greater. Local jurisdictions eligible for at least $750,000 under the formula also can 
receive a direct allocation. Communities that do not qualify for an individual allocation under the 
formula can join with one or more neighboring localities in a legally binding consortium whose 
members' combined allocation would meet the threshold for direct funding. Under current funding 
levels, if all eligible counties, and municipalities, join this consortium, the proposed consortium 
would have funding of approximately $2,172,070 annually. The net funding level after deducting 
administrative fees used to run the program would be approximately $1,960,000. 

WHEREAS, there is a 25% on-going match requirement on all funds drawn from the consortium's 
HOME Investment Trust Fund treasury account in that fiscal year. The 25% non-federal match 
can be in the form of cash, assets, labor or other services valuable to the HOME program. The 
25% match will be the responsibility of the recipient accessing the funds on a project by project 



 
 
 
 
 

basis. In the current regional consortium, funds from private and non-profit partners have produced 
far more match funds than would be required and no local funds have been required for match. No 
money is required from local governments to join the consortium. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL, that the Council is in 
support of participation in an Agreement to join the Eastern Piedmont NC HOME Consortium, 
which will provide an opportunity for Low Income Residents of the City to receive benefit from 
grant funds to be used toward the development of affordable housing. 

 
Adopted this 7th day of August 2023. 
 

                              

_______________________________      

Ed Hooks, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

_______________________________      

City Clerk 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2 



Planning Board 
Minutes to the Meeting 

July 17, 2023, 6:30 p.m. 

 
The Planning Board meeting was held at the Glendel Stephenson Municipal Building located at 106 E. 
Washington Street, Mebane, NC 27302 and livestreamed via YouTube. The video can be accessed 
through the following link: https://www.youtube.com/@cityofmebane1881/streams.  
 

Members Present:   Members Absent: 
Edward Tulauskas, Chair   Susan Semonite 
Judy Taylor, Vice Chair  Gale Pettiford 
William Chapman   
Keith Hoover   
Kurt Pearson   
David Scott   
Colin Cannell   

 
City Staff Present:   
Ashley Ownbey, Development Director 
Rachel Gaffney, City Planner 
Kirk Montgomery, IT Director 
 
1. Call to Order 

At 6:33 p.m. Chair Tulauskas called the meeting to order. 
 
2. Introduction of newly appointed Planning Board member Mr. Colin Cannell 

 
3. Planning Board Member Elections 

William Chapman made a mo�on to re-elect the current officers Judy Taylor as vice chair and Ed 
Tulauskas as chair. Kurt Pearson seconded the mo�on, which passed unanimously. 

4. Approval of June 12, 2023, Meeting Minutes 
Kurt Pearson made a motion to approve the meeting minutes. David Scott seconded the motion, 
which passed unanimously. 

 
5. City Council Actions Update 

Ashley Ownbey informed the Board that the general rezoning of St. Lukes Church Road was 
unanimously approved by the Mebane City Council. 

 
6. Request to rezone a +/- 15,246 square foot parcel located at 600 E. Brown Street (GPIN 9825342675), 

from R-12 to B-3 (CD) by Terry Hedgspeth. 
 
Terry Hedgspeth is reques�ng approval to rezone a +/- 15,246 square foot lot located at 600 E. 
Brown Street (GPIN 9825342675) from R-12 to B-3(CD) to allow for a small retail store. The property 
is in the Mebane City limits in Orange County and within the General Watershed Area Overlay 
District. City water and sewer are already provided to the site. Currently the site is a vacant 
storefront, and the surrounding uses include single-family residen�al and a church.  According to the 

https://www.youtube.com/@cityofmebane1881/streams


Planning Board 
Minutes to the Meeting 

July 17, 2023, 6:30 p.m. 

 
City of Mebane’s Comprehensive Land Development Plan, Mebane by Design, the property is in the 
secondary growth area, which supports both residen�al and commercial uses. The property has 
historically been used for commercial purposes, with the last known occupancy by a bait and tackle 
store da�ng back to the 1970s. The applicant is reques�ng condi�ons that include no expansion to 
exis�ng structures, no new structures, and three striped parking stalls instead of the required five 
stalls required by the Mebane UDO. The applicant has also proposed a restric�on of uses.  
 
The site-specific plan and staff report are provided in the meeting agenda packet available here. 
 
Ashley Ownbey provided a more detailed overview and PowerPoint presenta�on of the request. 
 
Terry Hedgspeth, owner and applicant for 600 East Brown Street, presented that she was interested 
in opera�ng an an�que or vintage thri� store from the loca�on. 
 
Judy Taylor asked if the applicant would be open regular business hours or by appointment. Terry 
Hedgspeth replied that she would be open limited hours during the week. Judy Taylor asked Terry 
Hedgspeth to confirm there would be no addi�onal outdoor ligh�ng. Terry Hedgspeth responded 
that she would only add ligh�ng over the doorway. Judy Taylor then asked if there would be anything 
stored outside of the building. Terry Hedgspeth replied that everything would be stored inside the 
building with no outside storage. 
 
Colin Cannell ques�oned if the building had always had a storefront or if it was once a home. David 
Scot responded that as far as he knew it always had a storefront. 
 
Chair Tulauskas opened the floor for public comment. 
 
Valery Cohen, 603 E. Brown Street, presented that her first concern was about traffic in the area 
with the property being located a house down from the intersection of N. Ninth Street and E. Brown 
Street. She provided a police report of accidents with two in 2021, three in 2022, and most recently 
one on June 23, 2023. Valery Cohen shared that another concern was vehicles exiting the parking 
lot. She stated that there was a hill and curve that limits the visibility. Her second concern was the 
noise of the patrons going in and out of their vehicles and dogs from neighbors barking at the 
patrons. She stated that when the building was being used previously for yard sales, there were 
outdoor drop-offs accepted at any time, which also contributed to noise at odd hours. 
 
Kurt Pearson asked how staff felt about putting the B-3 (CD) zoning in the middle of residential 
zoning. Ashley Ownbey stated that staff considered the historical use of the property for commercial 
purposes and that the applicant was not proposing any changes to the existing structures. Kurt 
Pearson asked about the intended use of the property. Ashley Ownbey replied that it would be a 

https://cityofmebane-my.sharepoint.com/personal/avogel_cityofmebane_com/Documents/Planning%20Board/2023%20Planning%20Board%20Meetings/07%20July/July%202023%20Planning%20Board%20Agenda%20Packet.pdf


Planning Board 
Minutes to the Meeting 

July 17, 2023, 6:30 p.m. 

 
small retail shop with antiques or thrift items. Kurt Pearson commented that he views the rezoning 
as spot zoning and did not view the request to be in harmony with the surrounding zoning. 
 
David Scott asked the applicant to clarify that she was not intending to operate a yard sale or flea 
market type business where people drop off items. Terry Hedgspeth replied that when she first 
purchased the property, she used it for yard sales without the intention for people to drop off items 
outdoors. She said that as a formal business the antiques and thrift items would be inside the 
building. 

David Scott made a motion to approve the request as follows: 
Motion to approve the B-3(CD) zoning as presented. 
Motion to find that the application is consistent with the objectives and goals in the City’s 2017 
Comprehensive Land Development Plan Mebane by Design. The request: 

• Is for a property within the City’s G-4 Secondary Growth Area and is generally residential 
and commercial in nature (Mebane CLP, p.66). 

 
William Chapman seconded the motion, which passed with a 6-1 vote. Kurt Pearson did not vote in  
favor of the request, over his previously expressed concerns. 
 

7. Request to rezone six (6) proper�es (GPINs 9824020553, 9814921385, 9814920726, 9814824291, 
9814727217, & 9814823848), totaling +/- 60.2 acres and located with frontages on Mebane Oaks 
Road, Broadwood Acres Road, and Longleaf Pine Place, from R-20 and B-2 to R-8 (CD) to allow for a 
Planned Unit Development featuring 96 single-family residences and 320 apartments by Mebane 
Housing, LLC and Evolve Mebane Oaks, LLC. 
 
Mebane Housing, LLC and Evolve Mebane Oaks, LLC is reques�ng to rezone six (6) proper�es (GPINs 
9824020553, 9814921385, 9814920726, 9814824291, 9814727217, & 9814823848), totaling +/- 
60.2 acres and located with frontages on Mebane Oaks Road, Broadwood Acres Road, and Longleaf 
Pine Place, from R-20 and B-2 to R-8 (CD) to allow for a Planned Unit Development featuring 96 
single-family residences and 320 apartments. The property is in Alamance County in Mebane’s Extra-
Territorial Jurisdic�on (ETJ) and requires a pe��on for annexa�on before connec�ng to City u�li�es.  
The current use of the property is single-family residen�al, and the surrounding uses include large 
retail stores, restaurants, other commercial uses, church, fire sta�on, and single-family residen�al. 
According to the City of Mebane’s Comprehensive Land Development Plan, Mebane by Design, the 
property is in the secondary growth area, which supports both residen�al and commercial uses. The 
applicant proposes the following condi�ons as part of the condi�onal rezoning request:  
 
 
 
 
 



Planning Board 
Minutes to the Meeting 

July 17, 2023, 6:30 p.m. 

 
Requested Condi�ons 
• The UDO requires a maximum building height of mul�-family dwellings in the R-8 zoning district 

of 50 feet, and the applicant is reques�ng a maximum height of 60 feet. 
 

• The UDO requires public recrea�on at a rate of 1,250 square feet per dwelling unit with the 
mul�-family private recrea�on of 750 square feet per dwelling unit and private open space of 
1,000 per dwelling unit. The proposed development would require 11.83 acres of public 
recrea�on, 5.51 acres of private recrea�on, and 7.34 acres of open space. The applicant 
proposed providing 1.77 acres of private recrea�on and 7.08 acres of open space. As a condi�on 
of the zoned district, they also proposed a 7.43-acre lot be dedicated to the City for future 
development in lieu of the remaining required public recrea�on space, private recrea�on space, 
and open space. 

• The applicant proposes the condi�on that sewer flow for mul�-family buildings 1 and 2 be 
allocated in 2024 and sewer flow for buildings 3 and 4 be allocated in 2025. This request exceeds 
requirements of the City’s Accumulated Paper Flow Policy, but staff agrees to the request due to 
the number of units in each building not fi�ng the policy and the �ming of when the buildings 
would be constructed. 
 

The Technical Review Commitee (TRC) reviewed the site plan six �mes and the applicant revised the 
plan to reflect the comments. 

The site-specific plan and staff report are provided in the meeting agenda packet available here. 

 
Rachel Gaffney provided a more detailed overview and PowerPoint presenta�on of the request. 
 
Amanda Hodierne, spoke on behalf of the applicants, sta�ng that although there are two LLCs listed 
with the request, they are the same developer and builder team who purchased the proper�es 
about a year ago. The proper�es along Mebane Oaks Road were purchased in November of 2021 
and the interior proper�es were purchased in April of 2022. She provided that although the project 
was considered by the Planning Board in 2020, the project before them now has new developers for 
the project. She introduced the team of Frank Forde and John McDonald from Evolve, Aden Stoltzfus 
as Civil Engineer, and Chase Smith as Traffic Engineer.   
 
The applicant report is provided in the meeting agenda packet available here. 
 
Amanda Hodierne con�nued to provide a more detailed overview and PowerPoint presenta�on of 
the request. 
 

https://cityofmebane-my.sharepoint.com/personal/avogel_cityofmebane_com/Documents/Planning%20Board/2023%20Planning%20Board%20Meetings/07%20July/July%202023%20Planning%20Board%20Agenda%20Packet.pdf
https://cityofmebane-my.sharepoint.com/personal/avogel_cityofmebane_com/Documents/Planning%20Board/2023%20Planning%20Board%20Meetings/07%20July/July%202023%20Planning%20Board%20Agenda%20Packet.pdf


Planning Board 
Minutes to the Meeting 

July 17, 2023, 6:30 p.m. 

 
Aden Stoltzfus, with Stoltzfus Engineering, explained that the Finished Floor Eleva�on of the 
apartments would be at or sit below Mebane Oaks Road due to the slope of the property. He 
explained that the apartments were placed on the east side of the development to allow closer 
access to Mebane Oaks Road and the retail businesses along it. Aden Stoltzfus also provided that on 
the west side, the single-family homes would be standard R-8-zoned lot sizes overseen by a 
Homeowners Associa�on (HOA) for maintaining the common areas. He said that a neighborhood 
mee�ng had been held and concerns with traffic going onto Longleaf Pine Pace were addressed by 
providing a stop condi�on before entering the Arbor Creek Subdivision. He also stated that the 
project was phased in a way to start at Mebane Oaks Road and work back to the single-family 
por�on that connects to Longleaf Pine Place to reduce traffic flow. 
 
Chase Smith, from Ramey Kemp Associates, reviewed the process for initiating the traffic impact 
analysis. He indicated his firm collected information from the City and NCDOT regarding current and 
future developments including NCDOT projects in the area. Mr. Smith stated that the traffic report 
showed some necessary improvements such as the addition of a traffic light and turn lanes on 
Mebane Oaks Road. 
 
Amanda Hodierne provided an overview of the architecture for the apartments and single-family 
homes. She stated that one of the concerns brought up in the neighborhood meeting was the lack of 
a recreation area for the single-family homes, which has since been updated to include a 
playground.  
 
Judy Taylor asked if the traffic analysis had also looked at the impact to Old Hillsborough Road as 
well as access to the elementary school. Chase Smith responded that the City and NCDOT did not 
require the traffic study to go farther west on Old Hillsborough Road and determined that for the 
school, most of the traffic would be centered around Mebane Oaks Road with the traffic light. Judy 
Taylor commented that she saw more people going through the connected neighborhoods out to 
Old Hillsborough since Mebane Oaks was very congested during peak hours of the day. She also 
mentioned that another light on Mebane Oaks would almost put a signal at every quarter of a mile, 
and that the number of lights should be looked at in further discussions.  
 
Amanda Hodierne commented that Chase Smith explained the traffic analysis process included the 
City and NCDOT, so it was not just the developers looking at the area. She said that together they 
determine the study area and consider current and future developments and consider the 
recommended improvements, including the traffic signal and signal synchronization.  
 
Judy Taylor also voiced her concern about the lack of open space provided. She said that the 
development was required to provide 11.83 acres of public recreation space, 5.51 acres of private 
recreation space, and 7.34 acres of open space, but was only providing 1.77 acres of private 



Planning Board 
Minutes to the Meeting 

July 17, 2023, 6:30 p.m. 

 
recreation and asking to use the 7.43 acres dedicated to the City to meet the remainder of the 
requirements. 
 
Amanda Hodierne replied that the plan was the best way to harmonize and meet the City’s goals 
and objectives. She stated that the multi-family community had an amenity package that was more 
condensed. She provided that the amenity package included a courtyard pool area, two dog-parks, 
and grilling stations. She also said that with only 96 single-family homes, HOA funds would best 
support a smaller community gathering space. Amanda Hodierne indicated that the dedicated lot 
would have been just undeveloped open space, leading to a dedication of the land to the City for a 
better use for the community as a whole.  
 
Judy Taylor commented that it was her concern that there was not enough recreation space for the 
children in the single-family area and that a police station, if developed, would take away the open 
green space. She provided that the open space requirement was part of the Comprehensive Plan to 
provide large spaces for recreation.  Amanda Hodierne replied that she understood the concern but 
noted land dedication to the City is for future development including, but not limited to a police 
station, meaning it might be utilized for public recreation by the City. 
 
Ashley Ownbey clarified that the applicant was providing 1.77 acres for private recreation and 7.08 
acres of private open space. 
 
Chair Tulauskas asked to talk about the variances and why the development could not adhere to the 
ordinance. Amana Hodierne replied that the first variance regarding building height for the 
apartments was asked early on. She stated that with the final project style selected, they no longer 
require the variance since the buildings would fit within the fi�y-foot height requirement. The 
variance was le� in the request for a cushion. She explained that the roofs of the buildings would be 
flat but would require a parapet wall to screen HVAC equipment possibly exceeding fi�y feet with 
the varying roofline.  
 
Aden Stoltzfus provided that the ini�al designs were looking at A-frame roofs, which was later 
changed to flat roofs. He stated that the architect said the buildings with the parapet walls would be 
within fi�y feet. Mr. Stoltzfus then asked Ashley Ownbey if the parapet would count as the roof line. 
Ms. Ownbey responded she would have to look at exact wording of the ordinance and requested 
condi�on.  
 
David Scot asked if there would be elevators in the apartment buildings. Amanda Hodierne 
responded that all buildings would all have elevators. 
 
Frank Forde, with Evolve, said that the development was a great transi�on from busy Mebane Oaks 
Road back to the other residen�al developments. He said that although Mebane Oaks was 



Planning Board 
Minutes to the Meeting 

July 17, 2023, 6:30 p.m. 

 
congested now due to construc�on, that eventually it looked like it would be a beau�ful road that 
would run more smoothly. He also men�oned that he understood the traffic concerns between the 
developments, but that there were several points to slow down traffic, deterring people from cu�ng 
through the development to get to Old Hillsborough Road.  
 
Judy Taylor commented that her concern on Old Hillsborough was for the intersec�on at NC 119, 
which gets very congested with school traffic. Frank Forde replied that Chase Smith may provide 
addi�onal informa�on but he did know that NCDOT was planning to adjust the signal �ming of all 
the lights including at the intersec�on of Old Hillsborough Road and Mebane Oaks Road. Judy Taylor 
asked if the traffic study included the intersec�on of Old Hillsborough Road and NC 119. Frank Forde 
replied that they were not required to do include that intersec�on in the traffic study. 
 
Chair Tulauskas opened the floor for public comment. 
 
Louise Bryan, 1301 Yellow Wood Drive, asked the applicants what the price point of the apartments 
were, who would maintain the entrance from the development into the adjoining neighborhood, 
what recourses existed if new development was not maintained, how the traffic would be mi�gated 
to maintain the 25-mph speed limit with the new development, informa�on on Mebane Housing, 
LLC, who the developer was, would changes be allowed a�er construc�on of the development 
started, and if connec�on to water and sewer would bring more construc�on to Longleaf Pine Place. 
She also commented that there were no public parks located on the south side of Mebane. 
 
Ashley Abashian, 975 Sugar Tree Drive, expressed concern with the density of the development and 
commented that a regular R-12 zoned single-family home development would alleviate some of the 
density concerns. 
 
Ray Oliver, 909 Sugar Tree Drive, who is also president of the HOA in the Arbor Creek neighborhood, 
shared concerns that the single-family homes in phase four would be under a separate developer 
and the rezoning of the property would allow the new developer to add more mul�-family. He also 
stated that the single-family area would be more likely to use Arbor Creek’s ameni�es than walking 
up to the development common area near the main boulevard.  
 
Brenda Buchannon, 1143 Dartmouth Drive, spoke of traffic concerns mostly on Old Hillsborough 
Road. 
 
David Scot asked if the NCDOT funded improvements con�nued to Old Hillsborough Road. Ashley 
Ownbey replied that NCDOT did not have funded improvements on Mebane Oaks Road to Old 
Hillsborough Road. David Scot also asked if the improvements went down to the proposed site. 
Ashley Ownbey replied that they only go down to the area of Duke Medical and Modwash. 
 



Planning Board 
Minutes to the Meeting 

July 17, 2023, 6:30 p.m. 

 
Preethi White, 965 Sweet Gum Way, shared concerns with addi�onal traffic and City ameni�es with 
development and schools south of the interstate. 
 
Charles Stanca�, 1034 Longleaf Pine Place, described concerns with addi�onal traffic through the 
neighborhoods. 
 
Susan Huey, 3914 Longmeadow Drive, spoke of school capacity concerns, lack of open green space, 
more development, water resources, and traffic. 
 
Stan Kesler, 912 Palm Court, indicated concerns about Summit Church traffic on the corner of Old 
Hillsborough Road, the lack of recrea�onal space, and density. 
 
Don Windsor, 4253 Old Hillsborough Road, spoke of concerns with traffic and more development 
along Old Hillsborough Road. He asked about the current popula�on of Mebane. Ashley Ownbey 
replied that it was at or above 20,000 residents. She stated the North Carolina Census Bureau 
reported close to 18,000 residents in 2020. Considering residen�al permit data, the popula�on is 
now expected to be closer to 20,000. 
 
Brian Dixon, 3905 Longmeadow Drive, shared concerns with development in the proposed loca�on 
and the ability of current infrastructure to support the development. 
 
Tom Boney Jr., Alamance News, asked the origin of dedica�ng the 7.43-acre lot to the City, if it was 
voluntarily provided or if the City asked for it.   
 
Ashley Ownbey responded on behalf of staff to items men�oned during the public comment period, 
beginning with the first applicant’s ques�on of who would maintain the connec�on between Arbor 
Creek and the new development. She replied both streets would be City-maintained. Judy Taylor 
commented that she understood that the resident was more concerned with any signs or 
landscaping maintenance, which was outlined in the plans as being HOA maintained.  
 
Ashley Ownbey replied to the ques�on of changes to the plan, reviewing that with the rezoning 
being site-specific, only minor changes could be approved by staff. She stated that any major 
changes to the street network, number of homes, open space, or more would have to go back 
through the Planning Board and City Council for approval. Ashley Ownbey also provided in response 
to comments on ameni�es, that the developer was providing a playground for the single-family 
sec�on and other ameni�es for the mul�-family sec�on. 
 
Ashley Ownbey addressed the concern with the scoping process for the traffic analysis by reviewing 
that the City partners with NCDOT who are the experts and help determine which intersec�ons are 
too far out of the scope of a traffic study. She said that the City and the State had to be careful about 



Planning Board 
Minutes to the Meeting 

July 17, 2023, 6:30 p.m. 

 
the burden of improvements placed on developments and that the developer was already making 
significant improvements around the immediate area of their development. Ashley Ownbey also 
stated that regarding the school capacity comments, the school systems are invited to par�cipate in 
the Technical Review Commitee and are aware of incoming developments.  
 
Ashley Ownbey clarified the concern of people not being no�fied, with the fact that only those 
located within 300 feet of the property being rezoned receive no�fica�on leters. She then clarified 
again that the developer was providing 1.77 acres of private recrea�on and is required to provide 
just over 5-acres, 7.08 acres of open space and is required to provide 7.34 acres of open space and is 
required to provide more than 11 acres of public recrea�on but is proposing dedica�on of a 7.43-
acre lot. She said that, in response to Mr. Boney’s ques�on, the original plans brought to the 
Planning Board in November of 2020 were recommended by the Board for the denial par�ally due to 
the proposed density.  She said the City received a resubmital a�er the Planning Board mee�ng with 
the plans showing decreased density and the dedicated land as an undeveloped park. Ashley 
Ownbey then said that when the development changed hands, that she was not part of the 
conversa�ons at that �me about the City poten�ally loca�ng a police sta�on on that lot. Tom Boney 
Jr. asked if the police sta�on was not originally intended for Mebane Oaks Road. Ashley Ownbey 
replied that she could not respond to that ques�on since she was not in those original mee�ngs and 
said that the developer might be able to answer the ques�on. 
 
Frank Forde responded that Evolve had taken over the project from the previous developer who had 
already proposed to dedicate that land to the City. Evolve did not want to remove the dedica�on 
when taking over the project. He also clarified again that the land could be used as a public park, but 
it was up to the City. Frank Forde answered the comments about changing development a�er plans 
have gone through review by saying that the plans presented were what would be followed. He next 
addressed the concerns of the traffic study by again saying that the study was within the rules laid 
out by the City and NCDOT, with the NCDOT determining what happens on Mebane Oaks Road. He 
addressed the density concern by sta�ng that they could have fit about 129 single-family homes on 
the property but were proposing 96 single-family homes. 
 
Amanda Hodierne replied to comments about why the development was not all single-family homes 
by saying the por�on where the apartments were located was currently zoned commercial not 
residen�al. Kurt Pearson commented that what was said earlier was “that B-2 allows for some 
density”, but what the public commented on was that some density was not 500 plus units. Amanda 
Hodierne replied that she was just making the point of having single-family along Mebane Oaks Road 
was too much of a jump in harmony. Kurt Pearson responded that the applicant was making a jump 
to think with the current B-2 zoning the City’s support of an intense use means 500 plus units. 
 
Amanda Hodierne then addressed the comments that the R-8 zoning was taken into considera�on 
by looking at the adjoining neighbors who were R-12 with a Special Use Permit that allowed for 



Planning Board 
Minutes to the Meeting 

July 17, 2023, 6:30 p.m. 

 
7,700 square foot lots. Evolve is proposing to develop 96 lots with a standard 8,000 square foot lot 
without a Special Use Permit. Amanda Hodierne clarified that the development would be held to the 
buffers required. She clarified that they would keep as much exis�ng vegeta�on as possible and 
would replace what was required for the buffers.  
 
Amanda Hodierne clarified the open space again by saying that the open space requirement was 
7.34 acres, and they were providing 7.08 which was less than one acre difference. She said the 
development is required to provide 5.01 acres of private recrea�on space and is proposing 1.77 
acres. She clarified that the ameni�es for the apartments were condensed and not taking up as 
much acreage. Ms. Hodierne stated that the 7.43 acres proposed to be dedicated to the City was 
ini�ally proposed as a City park per the previous developer. The dedica�on now allows the City more 
flexibility to decide what goes on the lot. Judy Taylor commented that even with the land dedica�on, 
there were s�ll 8 acres missing from the required recrea�on space. Amanda Hodierne replied that 
they were applying for a waiver of those 8 acres and said she was just providing context as to why 
the development did not meet the 11.83-acre requirement. 
 
Judy Taylor asked if Amanda Hodierne could speak about the price points of the apartments in 
response to a ques�on presented by the public. Amanda Hodierne replied that although it was not a 
factor of the rezoning case, she could present that the apartments would be at market rate and not 
low-income. She men�oned that the rental rate in Mebane was currently around 96%, and the price 
rates could change within the two years before the apartments were completed. 
 
Tom Boney, Jr. asked if the applicant could provide a more detailed price point for the apartments 
and single-family homes even though it was not a requirement to provide for the rezoning. Frank 
Forde answered that he could not provide exact rates since the development would not be done 
un�l 2024, but provided that the apartments would be at market price not low-income. He said the 
apartments might be anywhere between $1,500-$1,600 and $2,200-$2,400. He said for the single-
family they would s�ll be around market price possibly using $200 per square foot for 2,200-2,400 
square foot homes, which would be built in 2026 or later. 
 
Amanda Hodierne responded to another comment about construc�on traffic into the adjoining 
property. She said that the connec�on was in phase four being last built with the inten�on that 
construc�on traffic would not be able to cut through exis�ng neighborhoods. 
 
Kurt Pearson commented he was concerned about the ra�o of apartments to single-family homes 
being too high and ques�oned staff’s response to an email he had sent for data. He said a study 
should be done on the ra�o of apartments to single-family homes in a city of Mebane’s size. Kurt 
Pearson commented that it was inappropriate to move forward with adding more apartments 
without a study being done. He said that the Board and Council needed to know that there wouldn’t 
be too high of a ra�o that would be unhealthy for the City. His first argument was the fact that the 



Planning Board 
Minutes to the Meeting 

July 17, 2023, 6:30 p.m. 

 
Planning Board had the authority to decide how they wanted Mebane to grow.  He made the point 
that he understood the hardship of the developer going through the TRC review process six �mes, 
but that the Commitee was looking at the technicali�es of the plan whereas the Planning Board was 
looking at if the development worked or fit. He said that waivers should not be necessary since the 
Mebane UDO had reasonable minimum requirements. Kurt Pearson expressed concern about an 
addi�onal 320 apartment units being provided without the City comple�ng a study of the share of 
mul�-family in Mebane. He reported on his own research of current apartment units available or 
coming available in Mebane. He found that 119 South had 18 units available, Deerfield Crossing 3 
units, Spring Forest 10 units, Alexandre Pointe 8 units, Fieldstone 7 units, Stoneybrook 35 units, 
Keystone 40 units, Carden Place 27 units, Arrowhead 2 units, McPherson (Mebane Downs) 1 unit, 
Elmwood 1 unit, and Ashbury 11 units. He also found available apartments in Graham, which added 
to available apartments in Mebane totaled 235 available units. 
 
Ashley Ownbey responded that research was provided prior to the mee�ng with the updated census 
data added to the previous informa�on shared at the October City Council mee�ng. She said she had 
gone over the informa�on when the Kingsdown development was considered with data showing the 
current share of apartments at 33 percent and ten years in the future down to 30 percent with 
projects approved. Kurt Pearson asked if the 33 percent included Evolve. Ashley Ownbey replied that 
the current rate was 68 percent single-family and 32 percent mul�-family. She stated that adding the 
approved single-family and mul�-family projects, the rate was 70 percent and 30 percent including 
Evolve. Kurt Pearson commented that he thought 30 percent was s�ll too many apartments. Ashley 
Ownbey pointed out that Staff had provided the Board with current occupancy rates prior to the 
mee�ng showing a total of 111 units available at a 96 percent occupancy rate.  
 
Ashley Ownbey provided a response to Kurt Pearson’s comment about the TRC only reviewing for 
technicali�es. She stated that staff also review all of Mebane’s long-range plans when reviewing the 
projects and ensure goals from the Comprehensive Plan are considered. She also stated that updates 
to the Comprehensive Plan would occur soon, and a housing study could be a component of those 
updates. Kurt Pearson replied that he did not see the development being harmonious with R-12 and 
R-20 zoned proper�es abu�ng it.  
 
Colin Cannell asked the developers if the cut through to the Arbor Creek Subdivision was cri�cal to 
the development. Amanda Hodierne replied that it was required by the City for connec�vity. Colin 
Cannell also commented that as a ci�zen, he had observed that the City did not typically buy land 
due to high costs but was looking for land to support a police sta�on for administra�ve services. He 
said that the City was looking at several proper�es, but most were deemed too expensive for the 
City. He said he was concerned that since there was land dedicated to the City on the site plan, the 
City Council would feel compelled to approve the rezoning based on that alone. Kurt Pearson replied 
that would be inappropriate, and the City Council would never consider approval just for dedicated 
land. 



Planning Board 
Minutes to the Meeting 

July 17, 2023, 6:30 p.m. 

 
 
David Scot asked the developer why the front por�on already zoned for commercial was proposed 
instead for mul�-family residen�al. He men�oned that he had developed some of the first 
apartments in Mebane on Deerfield Trace and was not against apartments. He also commented that 
Mebane needs more retail and Mebane Oaks already had retail along it. Frank Forde responded that 
the ini�al developer had plans to leave the front por�on as commercial, but his company did not 
deal with commercial proper�es which was why the apartments were considered. He also 
commented that the styling of the apartments created connec�vity with the surrounding retail.  
 
Frank Forde also responded to Kurt Pearson’s comments, repor�ng that looking online at single-
family homes available in Mebane, there were about 500 lis�ngs from four websites. He said the 
number of units currently available for apartments does not cons�tute whether apartments are 
needed in Mebane. Kurt Pearson responded that the ques�on was not if the apartments would be 
filled, but whether the City wanted the apartments filled. 
 
Amanda Hodierne addressed David Scot’s ques�on about the commercial component by saying 
within the last two years of planning, there was a shi� for more housing over small space retail. She 
also stated that the developer does rely on the informa�on provided in Mebane’s long-range plans 
to determine the need for different types of housing. She also commented that as Ashley Ownbey 
said, the housing aspect could be considered in the Comprehensive Plan updates for developers to 
beter understand what the City desires. Kurt Pearson replied that Mebane could say they had good 
diversity in housing but thought there was an over-diversity in apartments. 

Kurt Pearson made a motion to deny the R-8(CD) zoning request for the proposed Evolve at Mebane 
Oaks as follows: 

 
Motion to deny the R-8(CD) zoning as presented due to the lack of: 
a) Harmony with the surrounding zoning or land use; and, 
b) Concerns expressed earlier about the number of apartments in Mebane. 

 
After making the motion, Mr. Pearson stated “if you go against my motion then what you’re telling 
the Council is you are for the project.” 

 
Judy Taylor seconded the mo�on, with a 5-2 vote in support of recommending denial. Colin Cannell 
and David Scot opposed the denial.  

Chairman Tulauskas noted that the request will go to City Council on August 7 at 6 p.m.  

8. New Business 
Ashley Ownbey alerted the Planning Board that they would be receiving emails from staff to set up 
and activate City email accounts. She said Staff would be resetting all passwords and would be 
sending out new instructions and procedures. 



Planning Board 
Minutes to the Meeting 

July 17, 2023, 6:30 p.m. 

 
 
Ashley Ownbey also stated that the Board would receive an email about updating the Planning 
Board Rules and Procedures. She said that it was last updated in 1999. Review and discussion will 
occur at a future meeting. 
 

9. Adjournment 
Chairman Tulauskas adjourned the meeting at approximately 9:24 p.m. 

  


	Agenda- August 7, 2023 final
	Item 4a- Approval of Minutes- July 10, 2023 Draft
	Item 4b- Summary Sheet- Voluntary Contiguous Annexation- Hawfields Presbyterian Church, Inc
	Petition- Hawfields Presbyterian Church, Inc
	Certificate of Sufficiency- Hawfields Presbyterian Church 
	Annex. Plat- Hawfields Presbyterian Church
	Resolution Fixing Date of PH- Hawfields Presbyterian Chuch

	Item 4c- Summary - FY22-23 Bi-Annual  Asset Disposals
	Disposed Asset Listing Report 010123-063023

	Item 5a- Summary Sheet - Conditional Rezoning - Terry Hedgspeth
	Preliminary Presentation Slides
	Zoning Amendment Application - 600 E Brown
	 Zoning Map - 600 E Brown St
	Site Plan - 600 E Brown St
	 Planning Project Report - 600 E Brown St

	Item 5b- Summary Sheet- Ord. to Extend Corp. Limits- Elizabeth S. Woody- Montclair
	 Ord. to Extend the Corporate Limits- Elizabeth S. Woody- Montclair
	Annexation Plat - E. Woody

	Item 5c- Summary Sheet- Ord. to Ext. Corp. Limits- Keystone Group- Mebane Towne Center, Ph. A2, A3 and A4
	Ord. to Ext Corp Limits-Keystone Grp-Mebane Towne Center, Ph. A2, A3, A4
	Annexation Plat - Mebane Towne Center - Ph. A2, A3, and A4

	Item 5d- Summary Sheet - Conditional Rezoning - Evolve
	Zoning Amendment Application
	Zoning Map - Evolve
	Planning Project Report - Evolve
	Preliminary water and sewer approval - Evolve
	Technical Memo - Evolve
	Mebane Oaks Mixed Use TIA NCDOT Review FINAL
	Mebane Oaks Mixed Use TIA VHB Review - Final 2023.06.08

	Item 5e- Summary Sheet- Condemnation of 608 Giles Street (2)
	 Notice of Hearing dated July 16, 2020
	Notice of Hearing dated December 16, 2021
	Email- K. Riley 608 Giles St. Status - Structural Engineering Report
	Photographs 608 Giles Street reduced
	Ordinance for the Condemnation- 608 Giles Street

	Item 6- Summary Sheet- Fund Balance Policy Revision
	 Fund Balance Policy revision

	Item 7- Summary Sheet- Rolling Stock Financing
	Resolution to approve Financing Proposal American National Bank & Trust Company

	Item 8 - Summary Sheet- Revenue Bond Resolution
	Preliminary Resolution
	Davenport Public Finance Report
	Elevated Storage Tank Renderings

	Item 9- Summary Sheet- Voluntary Annexation Agreement- 319 Tate Avenue
	Petition and Agreement
	 Voluntary Annexation Policy

	Item 10- Summary Sheet- New HOME Consortium Resolution
	Resolution - Eastern Piedmont HOME Consortium

	Planning Board Minutes- July 2023



